
Please ask for  Democratic Services: Telephone (01362) 656295 
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk 

Website: www.breckland.gov.uk 
 
 

 

 
AGENDA 

 

NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only 

 

Committee - CABINET 

Date & Time - MONDAY, 9TH JANUARY, 2023 AT 
10.00AM 

Venue - THE BRECKLAND CONFERENCE 
CENTRE, ANGLIA ROOM, ELIZABETH 
HOUSE, WALPOLE LOKE, DEREHAM, 
NR19 1EE 
 

PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
There will be an opportunity for members of the public to ask  

questions of the Cabinet from 9.30 to 10.00am 
 

THIS MEETING WILL BE STREAMED LIVE VIA THE LINK BELOW AND WILL BE ACTIVATED AT 
THE START OF THE MEETING 

 
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Streaming-of-committee-meetings 

 

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee. 

 

The Cabinet 
Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen (Chairman) 
Cllr Paul Claussen (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr Gordon Bambridge 
Cllr Philip Cowen 
Cllr Helen Crane 
 

Cllr Paul Hewett 
Cllr Jane James 
Cllr Sarah Suggitt 
Cllr Alison Webb 
 

Democratic Services  
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 

 

Date: Thursday, 22 December 2022  

Public Document Pack

mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Streaming-of-committee-meetings


 
Cabinet 

09 January 2023 

 

 

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

1. MINUTES  4 - 15 

 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 21 November 2022. 
 

 

2. APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence.   
 

 

3. URGENT BUSINESS   

 To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972. 
 

 

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

 The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council. 
 

 

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   

 To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting. 
 

 

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)   

7. BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING 
ITEM)  

 

 To consider the grants put forward (if any).   
 

 

8. LOCAL PLAN: FULL UPDATE & OPTIONS  16 - 93 

 Report of Councillor Sarah Suggitt, Executive Member for Strategic and 
Operational Planning. 
 

 

9. DRAFT BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL STRATEGY 
2023-24  

94 - 148 

 Report of Councillor Philip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance, Revenue 
and Benefits. 
 

 

10. NEXT MEETING   

 To note that the date of the next meeting of Cabinet will be held on Monday 
6 February 2023, at Watton Town Council, Middle Street, Watton, Thetford 
IP25 6AG. 
 
There will be an opportunity for the public to ask questions of the Cabinet 
from 9.30am, the main meeting will follow at 10.00am. 

 



Cabinet 
09 January 2023 

 
 
 Page(s) 

herewith 

 

11. EXCLUSION OF PRESS & PUBLIC   

 To consider passing the following resolution: 
 
“That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Act”. 
 

PART B – ITEM FROM WHICH THE PRESS AND THE PUBLIC ARE 
EXCLUDED   

 

 

12. RESTRICTED MINUTE - 21 NOVEMBER 2022  149 - 151 

 To confirm the restricted minute from the meeting held on 21 November 
2022. 
 

 

 



 
 
 

 

1 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

CABINET 
 

Held on Monday, 21 November 2022 at 10.00 am in 
Swaffham Town Hall, 4 London Street, Swaffham, PE37 7DQ 

 
 

PRESENT  
Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman) 
Cllr Paul Claussen (Vice-
Chairman) 
Cllr Gordon Bambridge 
Cllr Philip Cowen 
 

Cllr Jane James 
Cllr Ian Sherwood 
Cllr Sarah Suggitt 
Cllr Alison Webb 
 

 
In Attendance  
Ralph Burton - Assistant Director Property and Infrastructure 
Alison Chubbock - Section 151 Officer & Assistant Director Finance 
Jason Cole - Executive Director 
Andrew Holdsworth - Assistant Director Economy and Growth 
Michael Horn - Solicitor to the Council 
Maxine O'Mahony - Chief Executive & Head of Paid Service 
Ryan Pack - Innovation and Change Business Partner 
Greg Pearson - Head of Strategic Policy 
Rory Ringer - Democratic Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring 

Officer) 
Rob Walker - Deputy Chief Executive & Monitoring Officer 
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy - Legal Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring 

Officer) 
Simon Wood - Director of Planning & Building Control 
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader 

 
 
 Action By 

 

  
87/22 MINUTES   
  
 The minutes of the meeting held on 26 September 2022 were confirmed as a 

correct record and signed by the Chairman.  
 

  
88/22 APOLOGIES   
  
 An apology was received from Councillor Hewett.  
  
89/22 URGENT BUSINESS   
  
 None.  
  
90/22 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   
  
 Councillor Cowen declared an interest under Agenda Item 9 - Breckland  

4

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet 
21 November 2022 

 
 

2 

 Action By 

 
Local Plan Partial Update of the agenda, as he operated an architectural 
practice. 

  
91/22 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   
  
 The Chairman welcomed non-members to the meeting.  
  
92/22 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)   
  
 None.  
  
93/22 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM)   
  
 Councillor Alison Webb, Executive Member for Health and Communities 

reminded Members that applications for the next round of funding would need 
to be submitted to the Norfolk Community Foundation by 9 December 2022. 

 

  
94/22 Q2 PERFORMANCE REPORT   
  
 Councillor Jane James presented the report of the Council’s performance for 

the period 1 July to 30 September 2022. 
 
A positive improvement had been made with the customer call targets, and 
initial data from Quarter 3 had shown that this had continued to improve.  
Projects were underway to restore the performance on the response times for 
complaints and Freedom of Information (FOI) requests to ensure they were 
answered within the timescales.  In addition, 272 disabled facility grants had 
been successfully completed but it was noted that there were more applicants 
that required work to be completed. 
 
Councillor Jermy felt that the current key performance indicator provided 
limited insight to the disabled facilities grant information and wanted to see 
how many residents were waiting for assessment, how many had been 
assessed and how many were waiting for implementation so that an average 
wait time could be tracked. 
 
Councillor Bambridge added that the information was available and he would 
ensure it would be included within future reports. 
 
Councillor Birt asked what internal corrections were being considered to 
make changes to the complaints and FOI process and how would this resolve 
the issues.  Members heard that areas where hold ups occurred had been 
identified and whilst there would be an overall drop again next quarter, the 
quarterly performance report would highlight the improvements that were now 
in place. 
 
Councillor Morton noted there had been a dramatic reduction in the gas 
usage figures and asked what the reason was for this reduction.  He also 
asked why the usage did not include the Leisure Centres.  The Change and 
Innovation Partner said that the information on Leisure Centres would be third 
party data and therefore this information could not be included.; however, it 
was reported within the annual carbon footprint figures. 
 
Members noted the contents of the report. 

 

  

5



Cabinet 
21 November 2022 

 
 

3 

 Action By 

 
95/22 BRECKLAND LOCAL PLAN PARTIAL UPDATE: SUBMISSION TO THE 

SECRETARY OF STATE FOR EXAMINATION  
 

  
 Councillor Sarah Suggitt, Executive Member for Strategic and Operational 

Planning presented the report to Members. 
 
Breckland were undertaking a Partial Update to Policy INF03 of the Local 
Plan. The report had been prepared in line with statutory regulations and 
informed by two separate rounds of public consultation, and if agreed would 
be submitted to the Secretary of State by the end of November. 
 
Councillor Birt said that the Planning Inspector had asked for the INF03 to be 
reviewed, but now there was insufficient time to complete the work.  He felt 
there had been no mechanism for Members to have a ‘minuted’ discussion 
and wanted to be disassociated from the approach that had been taken.  He 
went on to say that the consultation process had been confused and the 
website link had not worked and wanted to understand what lessons had 
been learnt to ensure a full review could be undertaken that would be robust 
and accurate. 
 
In response, Councillor Suggitt explained that the website was working and 
that whilst technical issues had been raised regarding consultations 18 and 
19, legal advice had been sought and she had been comfortable with what 
had been done. 
 
Options: 

1) To approve the recommendations within the report, 
2) To not approve the recommendations within the report. 

 
Reasons for Recommendation: 
The Preparation of a Local Plan was a statutory requirement and must follow a 
statutory procedure, including public consultation and examination. 

 
RESOLVED that: 
 

1) the Breckland Local Plan: Partial Update (and associated documents) 
be submitted to the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government in accordance with the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) as amended.  
 

2) delegated authority be given to the Deputy Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member with Portfolio for Planning to 
make any necessary typographical or other minor changes to the Plan 
prior to its submission and for changes to the Plan, as necessary 
during the Examination process arising from matters including national 
or other policy changes, additional relevant evidence and matters 
arising from the independent examination, prior to the receipt of the 
final Inspector's Report. 

 

  
96/22 LOCAL COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME (LCTRS) FOR 2023-24   
  
 Councillor Philip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance, Revenue and 

Benefits presented the report that asked Members to review the Local 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) for 2023-24. 
 

 

6



Cabinet 
21 November 2022 

 
 

4 

 Action By 

 
It was the tenth year of the scheme and taking into consideration all factors 
within the report it was recommended to approve the LCTRS scheme for the 
year 2023-24 with no changes. 
 
Councillor Land was pleased to hear of the scheme but asked how it was 
administered, what the criteria was and how it could be accessed so he could 
help and support his residents. 
 
Councillor Cowen would ask his colleagues at the Anglia Revenues 
Partnership to provide Councillor Land with the details to support him. 
 
Options: 

1) To consider and approve the annual review of the LCTRS scheme for 
the 2023-24 year with no changes. 

2) Do nothing. 
Reasons for Recommendation: 

 To ensure that the principle of everyone making at least a small 
contribution towards their Council Tax charge was maintained. 

 To maintain a level of Council Tax income to continue to provide 
funding for services at district and county level. 

 There was other support available for those on low incomes and 
impacted by the cost-of-living crisis within the Housing Team and 
those affected should also be signposted to maximise benefit take-up, 
reviewing discounts and exemptions and providing Exceptional 
Hardship Payments where there was a need.  

 
RESOLVED that the annual review of the Local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme (LCTRS) for 2023-24 be approved, with no changes.  

  
97/22 QUARTER 2 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022-23   
  
 Councillor Philip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance, Revenue and 

Benefits presented the report on the forecast full year financial position of the 
Council as at 30 September 2022. 
 
The report outlined the impact of external factors were having on the 
Council’s finances and identified the areas of greatest variance.  It was 
highlighted that housing costs and waste collection services increases were 
only partly offset by efficiencies and reduced council costs leaving a budget 
gap at the end of quarter 2 of £407,000.  
 
Whilst the figure was substantial, this time last year the Council had 
forecasted a deficit of £398,000 without the pressures being felt this year.  
The cost pressures in the housing areas were being managed through 
investment in new premises such as that provided at Elm House in Thetford 
and other programmes that were being addressed elsewhere in the district, 
so that the Council can reduce its costs for temporary accommodation. 
 
Councillor Jermy said there had been an unprecedented housing demand 
and a further increase was expected and he was concerned that the Council 
was still overspending on this issue.  He asked what modelling could be done 
to inform the future budget.  He also asked that as the budget for proactive 
maintenance on footpaths had been pushed back if the budget would be 
increased in 2023/24. 
 

 

7



Cabinet 
21 November 2022 

 
 

5 

 Action By 

 
In response, Councillor Bambridge explained that with a decrease in private 
landlords this had put increased pressure on the Housing team for alternative 
accommodation to be sought.  There was no single solution but the Council 
was seeking help through Housing Associations, landlords and social 
housing.   
 
Ralph Burton, the Assistant Director for Property & Infrastructure said that the 
footpaths had regular inspections which was very reactive, and it was a 
challenge to judge what proactive work would be included in the budget each 
year. 
 
Councillor Birt queried the longer term and asked what the prospect would be 
to achieve the savings within the evolve programme.  Councillor Cowen said 
that when the efficiencies were set the team did their best to mitigate 
challenges that could come along, but assured Councillor Birt that the 
programme was constantly monitored to reflect the constant changing 
financial issues seen locally and nationally.  The Section 151 Officer added 
that the report included 50% achievement of next year’s efficiencies saved 
from the targets set already. 
 
Members noted the contents of the report. 

  
98/22 FUTURE BRECKLAND   
  
 Councillor Paul Claussen, Deputy Leader and Executive Member for 

Economic Development and Growth presented the report that asked 
Members to adopt the five Town Delivery Plans as part of the Future 
Breckland programme.  
 
The Chairman thanked those involved in preparing the plans for the market 
towns and was pleased to see partnerships developed between the town 
councils, county council and businesses.  He added that not everything in the 
plans were for Breckland Council to deliver but it would work collaboratively 
with partners to deliver what residents and communities wanted. 
 
Councillor Cowen said that he had been a councillor for nearly 20-years and 
that there was a significant challenge to the district due to the geographic 
position and the rural area.  The pandemic had demonstrated a change and 
he was pleased to see that the prospectus had set the pace and framework 
to re-examine how the infrastructure within the district would change.  He 
added that the documents were a testament to all those that had been 
involved.  
 
Councillor Webb added that Dereham was the first to be involved in the 
project and was pleased to report that some of the quick wins identified had 
already been delivered by working in partnership with Dereham Town Council 
 
Councillor Harvey was pleased to see the Thetford Town Plan, and said it 
was a good overall assessment.  Whilst he understood that there was a need 
to look ahead, he felt that the Council must not overlook the current position 
and would like to see Breckland a lead player in examples such as street 
cleaning and litter picking.   
 
Councillor Birt felt that the report concentrated on the market towns and with 
50% of the residents living outside those market towns with no direct access 

 

8



Cabinet 
21 November 2022 

 
 

6 

 Action By 

 
to the towns, he asked if more could be done in the rural areas.  He also 
highlighted that the report had mentioned that there would be no implications 
to the carbon footprint and asked if this was correct. 
 
Councillor Claussen felt that the full report had been built through 
engagement with what businesses and residents wanted for the district. 
 
Rob Walker, the Monitoring Officer added that when signing of the report he 
was comfortable that this did not have an impact on the carbon footprint.  
However, when delivery of those future projects would be considered the 
environmental impact would also be reviewed.   
 
Councillor Jermy asked what success looked like, how it would be measured 
and how often.  Members heard that the documentation and data was now 
available to respond to what the Government may ask. 
 
Councillor Bambridge added that whilst the report was focussed on the 
market towns, it would also affect those who lived in the rural areas as 
everyone would benefit as they visited the market towns. 
 
Options 
Option 1 - Agree and adopt all Future Breckland outputs and 
delivery/governance approach 
Option 2 – Amend and agree an alternative approach.  
Option 3 – Do nothing.  
 
 
Reasons for Recommendation(s): 
 
The adoption of the Future Breckland outputs would allow the Council to 
focus efforts on areas that would have the most positive impact for residents 
and businesses, and drive partners to do the same. Adopting the documents 
would also provide a guide for future funding applications, therefore enabling 
further delivery. 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
1) the five Town Delivery Plans underpinning the Future Breckland 

Programme be adopted, 
  

2) the new draft District Wide Prospectus be noted and a public consultation 
on the draft be agreed, with delegation to the Deputy Leader to make any 
changes required to adopt.  

 
3) the plans for ongoing mobilisation of the work be noted. 

  
99/22 CARBON FOOTPRINTS 2020-21 AND 2021-22   
  
 Councillor Ian Sherwood, Executive Member for Environmental Health, 

Licensing and Sustainability provided an update to Members on the latest 
figures for the council’s carbon footprint. 
 
Councillor Sherwood said it was important to acknowledge that the 
2020/2021 figures had been impacted by the pandemic which was why a 
decision had been made to delay and publish with the 2021/ 2022 

 

9



Cabinet 
21 November 2022 

 
 

7 

 Action By 

 
documentation. 
 
Councillor Morton thanked the Executive Member for presenting an honest 
and accurate report.  However, he felt slightly disappointed that it had not 
achieved the main objective of meeting zero carbon by 2035.  He would like 
to see options of the waste vehicles going forward and a strategy for how the 
leisure centres would deal with Carbon emissions.  
 
Councillor Sherwood agreed that further work was required but was confident 
that the NetZero target would still be achieved by 2035.  
 
Councillor Birt noted that the report referenced Hydrogen and recognised that 
there was still a way to go before this would be accessed but asked where 
the Hydrogen would come from and if it would be the correct solution.  He 
also said that the report had noted a decrease in the carbon impact at 
Elizabeth House due to flexible working but asked if there had been an 
increase in where those individuals were working. 
 
In response, Councillor Sherwood explained that the report could only 
acknowledge what it could measure and it would be impossible to know of the 
carbon impact on where everyone worked.  As the Chairman of the Norfolk 
Climate Change Partnership, he informed Members that all Norfolk councils, 
including Norfolk County Council were looking at Hydrogen but was aware 
that this would not be emission free.  He was proud that Breckland Council 
had declared a climate emergency and had invested in Officers time in taking 
all climate issues seriously, whilst continuing to deliver key services. 
 
Members noted the content of the report. 

  
100/22 CHARGING POLICY   
  
 Councillor Philip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance, Revenue and 

Benefits presented the report that asked Members to agree a corporate policy 
to guide all decisions on setting fees and charges. 
 
Councillor Birt noted that the report mentioned that there would be instances 
where charging beyond the full cost was identified would occur and asked 
when this would be appropriate. 
 
Councillor Cowen said that typically it would be when the council would re-
invest but further examples would be sent to Councillor Birt. 
 
Options: 

1) To approve the policy, 
2) To not approve the policy. 

 
Reasons for recommendation: 
The policy was expected to ensure consistency in the setting of fees and 
charges across the authority. It is further anticipated to protect the Council 
from financial loss through the effects of inflation. 
 
RESOLVED that the charging policy report be approved. 

 

 
 
 

 

10



Cabinet 
21 November 2022 

 
 

8 

 Action By 

 
101/22 PROSPERITY FUNDING   
  
 Councillor Paul Claussen, Deputy Leader and Executive Member for 

Economic Development and Growth presented the report that asked approval 
to take the steps necessary to submit an investment plan for Rural England 
Prosperity Funding. 
 
An expected allocation of £1m capital funding would be received from 
DEFRA. 25% would be required to be spent by end of March 2023, and the 
remaining 75% in the 2023/24 financial year.  
 
Options 

1) To approve the recommendations, accept the funding and follow the 
outline approach set out in section 2 of the report.   

2) To seek a different investment approach to the one proposed 
3) Do nothing.  As a result, Breckland will be unable to finalise and 

submit the necessary information before the deadline. 
 
Reasons for Recommendation: 
Accepting the investment will enable significant benefit to be delivered for 
people, businesses, and visitors to Breckland.  
 
The proposed investment approach blends flexibility with practical focus and 
enables specific interventions to be developed around defined priority areas 
for the Council through its Thriving Places and Inspiring Communities 
programmes – and builds upon the investment activities highlighted via the 
Future Breckland Programme. As such it is evidence led and enables benefit 
to be felt across the District.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
4) all of the Rural England Prosperity Funding (REPF) available to Breckland 

District Council be accepted, and the operation of the fund be delegated 
to the Assistant Director for Economy & Growth in consultation with the 
Deputy Leader.   
 

5) the outline approach set out in the report for completing Breckland’s 
addendum to its UK Shared Prosperity (UKSPF) Investment Plan be 
approved, noting that detailed project proposals would be brought forward 
in due course. 

 

  
102/22 CORPORATE PEER CHALLENGE AND ACTION PLAN   
  
 The Chairman presented the report that asked Members to sign-off the action 

plan that had been produced following the Local Government Association 
(LGA) Corporate Peer Challenge Review Team. 
 
Options: 

1) To do nothing. 
2) To receive and sign-off the Action Plan following the LGA Corporate 

Peer Challenge Review Team.  
 
Reasons for Recommendations: 
To meet the LGAs requirements for an Action Plan to be produced following a 
Corporate Peer Challenge Review and to set-out the key actions to be 

 

11



Cabinet 
21 November 2022 

 
 

9 

 Action By 

 
completed to deliver against the recommendations successfully. 
 
RESOLVED that the Action Plan produced following the LGA Corporate Peer 
Challenge Review Team be approved and signed-off. 

  
103/22 ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP   
  
 Councillor Philip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance, Revenues and 

Benefits asked members to note the minutes from the meeting of the Anglia 
Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee held on the 20 
September 2022. 
 
Councillor Birt said the minutes made reference to an ‘Appendix A’ but asked 
where this could be found within the minutes.  He also asked what was meant 
by the comment ‘ARP needed to ensure staff do exactly what they were 
meant to do’. 
 
Councillor Cowen said that as Councillor Birt was aware the Anglia Revenues 
Partnership (ARP) consisted of five other Local Authorities, all of which have 
different terms of conditions.  ARP was undergoing a significant period of 
change and that it needed to continue to do what it had been doing to ensure 
that the right staff were in the right place. 
 
Members noted the minutes. 

 

  
104/22 BARNHAM BROOM GOLF & COUNTRY CLUB INVESTMENT ASSET   
  
 As Councillor Hewett, Executive Member for Property, Projects and 

Procurement had presented his apologies, the Chairman read a statement on 
his behalf. 
 
The Council was in receipt of an unsolicited offer for the purchase of its 
freehold interest in the property asset known as Barnham Broom Golf & 
Country Club.  The offer had been considered by the Council’s specialist 
advisers against the context of the current economic and market conditions, 
as well as the presently known future scenarios.  Whilst members had three 
options to consider, the conclusion was that the offer was worthy of serious 
consideration for the reasons outlined in the report and that Option 1 was the 
preferred recommendation. 
 
Councillor Jermy said that because the recommendation was in the public 
domain, the proposed delegation for an allowance of 3.5% flexibility to amend 
the price could significantly lessen the value of the deal.  He also stated that 
the Rule 12 Notice that accompanied the report should be revoked, as no 
length of time to complete the deal had been included within the report.   He 
went on to say that the report stated that the Council had acquired the 
property in 2006 for £7m plus costs, but it had not said what those costs 
were.  He made reference to the fact that subsequent Council papers had 
earmarked a further £2.8m for investment.  In addition, he wanted to know 
whether the percentage yield stated in the report was based on the £7m or a 
different figure. 
 
The Assistant Director for Projects and Infrastructure stated that the Council 
was required to ensure that the figure paid for the property was best value 
and to ensure flexibility during the next stage, an appropriate tolerance figure 

 

12



Cabinet 
21 November 2022 

 
 

10 

 Action By 

 
is suggested . 
 
The Solicitor to the Council stated that in his opinion, the process of making 
the decision in accordance with the Rule 12 Notice was lawful. 
 
Councillor Jermy went on to say that when Breckland Council decided to 
purchase Barnham Broom, members were not told what the Council was 
actually purchasing.  He felt that overview and scrutiny was an important 
function and that he had not seen or heard anything that made him feel that 
the Rule 12 Notice should have been actioned.  He went on to say that this 
deal did not provide best value for the residents.  He felt that the purchase of 
Barnham Broom had been a disaster and further felt that a full and external 
audit of what had happened should take place. 
 
The Solicitor confirmed that Rule 12.4 expressly stated that a decision taken 
under Rule 12 could not be called into Overview & Scrutiny Commission, and 
that the requirement to proceed under a Rule 12 Notice had been explained 
at length. 
 
The Chairman added that if it had not been for its capital assets, the Council 
would have had to find income from elsewhere.  He felt that the challenge on 
this matter had been unfair and that all members had full access to all the 
information.  Whilst he understood that residents would want to know the 
figures, the information could not yet be made available publicly. However, if 
the Council agreed to dispose of the asset, information would subsequently 
be available at the Land Registry. 
 
Councillor Birt said he had personally undertaken a consultation with a 
Barrister who also shared his concern on the process undertaken.  Whilst the 
Rule 12 Notice had removed the normal opportunity for scrutiny of the 
decision, there had not been anything within the report that had set out why it 
could not follow the usual Rule 11 process.  As far as he understood, the sale 
was still subject to contract and therefore was not binding at this stage.  He 
asked therefore why a decision was so urgent, and what the justification was 
for the Rule 12 Notice.  He urged Cabinet members to make a decision that 
further detailed information was required, such as an up-to-date valuation.  
He asked if it would come back to Council for a decision once a detailed 
survey had been carried out, in which case why could the decision today not 
be made under Rule 11.  An unsolicited offer suggested that other people 
were interested.  He felt that as all the relevant information was not 
forthcoming, he reserved the right for a judicial review of this matter. 
Furthermore, Counsel had advised that proceeding on the present basis 
could potentially be deemed as misconduct in public office. 
 
The Solicitor to the Council advised that he had written at length to Councillor 
Birt last week to set out the rationale for why the Rule 12 Notice had been 
published and why (in his opinion) it was a lawful and acceptable way of 
proceeding in this proposed transaction.  He was disappointed both that this 
email had not been acknowledged by Councillor Birt, and that he had not 
been informed what counsel had said, if it was indeed the case that counsel’s 
advice had been obtained by Councillor Birt.  He stated that he was satisfied 
that the Rule 12 notice was sound, and that the Council’s constitution had 
been properly followed in this instance.  He added that no member should 
ever make a decision at any committee meeting unless that member was 
completely satisfied that he/she was in full possession of all relevant and 

13



Cabinet 
21 November 2022 

 
 

11 

 Action By 

 
material facts before making that decision. 
 
Options 

1) Agree disposal of the property asset against the received offer. 
2) Agree disposal of the property asset and seek alternative offers. 
3) Do nothing and retain the property asset. 

 
Reasons for Recommendation 
The following outlines the reasons for the recommendation: 
 

 The asset has served its original purpose as an investment.   
 

 This asset’s size (it accounts for 34% by building footprint of the 
Council’s total commercial property portfolio) and specialist 
nature makes this asset a risk to continue to hold given the 
wider economic outlook and the Council’s financial position. 

 

 The proposed disposal would enable the Council to invest the 
future receipts in initiatives that would continue to deliver its 
corporate plan, which would either be alternative commercial 
property, alternative commercial investments or projects that 
enable a wider social return on investment.   

 

 In the volatility of the current market, it was considered a good 
offer, and was deliverable.  If the terms of the proposed sale 
were agreed by Cabinet, Officers would endeavour to deliver the 
sale at pace, in order to try and avoid intervening economic (or 
other) events defeating the proposed deal. 

 

 The terms agreed (subject to contract) provided for safeguards 
for future changes to the property asset.   

 
It should be noted that before a resolution was made, Members RESOLVED 
to exclude the Press and Public (Item 20 of the Agenda) and consider the 
Appendices in Agenda Item 21, before making the final resolution. 
 
RESOLVED that disposal of the property asset known as Barnham Broom 
Golf & Country Club on terms outlined in Appendix A of the report be agreed, 
and delegate any amendment to the terms as outlined to the Executive 
Director in consultation with the Executive Member except for the principal 
term of price, unless the amendment of the price is within 3.5% of the original 
price. 

  
105/22 NEXT MEETING   
  
 The arrangements for the next meeting on Monday 9 January 2023 in the 

Anglia Room of the Breckland Conference Centre, Elizabeth House, Walpole 
Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE were noted.  
 
There would be an opportunity for members of the public to ask questions of 
Cabinet from 9.30am and the main meeting would follow at 10.00am. 

 

  
106/22 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC   
  
 RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972  

14



Cabinet 
21 November 2022 

 
 

12 

 Action By 

 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act. 

  
107/22 BARNHAM BROOM GOLF & COUNTRY CLUB INVESTMENT ASSET   
  
 Members held a discussion regarding the information held in Appendix A and 

B from the report. 
 

 
 
The meeting closed at 12.31 pm 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

15



Breckland District Council 

Report of:  Sarah Suggitt: Executive Member for Strategic & Operational 

Planning  

To:  Cabinet: 9th January 2022 

Author: Andrew D’Arcy: Planning Policy Manager 

Subject: Breckland Local Plan: Full Update Issues and Options Report 

Purpose: Breckland is undertaking a Full Update of the Local Plan. In preparing 

this, the Council must consult with local residents to seek their views 

on the proposed contents of the Plan. We also need to engage with 

local and regional partners, such as neighbouring local authorities and 

government agencies. The Local Plan Issues and Options document 

sets out the Councils proposals and must be published for consultation 

under Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.   

 

1.0 Context/Background 

1.1 Breckland District Council is preparing an update to the current Plan that once 

complete will replace the various documents which together form the existing 

Development Plan for Breckland adopted November 2019. 

1.2 The preparation of the Local Plan is governed by legislation (The Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990, the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

and the Localism Act 2011) and also Regulations (The Town and Country 

Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012). 

 

 

 

Recommendation(s): 

THAT CABINET: 

1. Endorses the Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options documents for public 

consultation under Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, for a period of 8 weeks, as set out in 

Appendix A to this Report.  

2. Grants delegated authority to the Deputy Chief Executive, in consultation with 

the Cabinet Member with Portfolio for Planning to make any necessary 

typographical or other minor changes to the Report prior to its publication for 

consultation.  

16

Agenda Item 8



2.0 Breckland’s Local Plan Draft Issues and Options Document 

2.1 The new Breckland Local Plan will plan for the period to 2046 and the Issues 

and Options Local Plan consultation is the first of several rounds of public 

consultation in the local plan preparation process.  

2.2 The document provides an introduction and some background information 

about Breckland with the following 9 topic chapters: 

 

 Vision and Objectives 

 Housing Development Amount and Location 

 Providing the Right Type of Housing 

 The Economy 

 The Built Environment 

 The Natural Environment 

 Climate Change 

 Transport 

 Infrastructure 

 

2.3 For each topic, there is a commentary on the background and some of the key 

issues followed by a question or set of questions allowing people to express 

their views and suggestions. 

2.4 The Issues and Options Local Plan Document was prepared using 

Breckland’s current adopted Local Plan 2019, the Issues and Options 

Consultation Document 2014 as a base line as well as taking into account 

similar work prepared by neighbouring local authorities and other similar rural 

district local authorities throughout the UK. Any other relevant evidence is 

referenced throughout the document. 

2.5 The document was drafted with reference to the requirement to address the 

issue of climate change, the impact of Covid-19, the fall out of the Ukraine 

invasion and its impact on energy, food supplies and the cost-of-living crisis 

as well as the possible implications arising from the Levelling Up Bill that may 

radically change the nature and process of preparing Local Plans in the future. 

Going forward the preparation of a new Local Plan for Breckland will seek to 

continue to respond to these and other changing circumstances. 

Relationship to Sustainability Appraisal 

2.6 The Local Plan seeks to achieve each of the economic, social and 

environmental dimensions of sustainable development and net gains across 

all three. The NPPF states in paragraph 32 that ‘ Local plans and spatial 

development strategies should be informed throughout their preparation by a 

sustainability appraisal that meets the relevant legal requirements. This 

should demonstrate how the plan has addressed relevant economic, social 

and environmental objectives (including opportunities for net gains). 

Significant adverse impacts on these objectives should be avoided and, 

17



wherever possible, alternative options which reduce or eliminate such impacts 

should be pursued. Where significant adverse impacts are unavoidable, 

suitable mitigation measures should be proposed (or, where this is not 

possible, compensatory measures should be considered)’. The council has a 

statutory obligation to carry out a sustainability appraisal of all plans and 

policies.  

2.7 For the Full Update of the Breckland Local Plan, an Integrated Assessment is 

being undertaken. The Integrated Assessment includes elements of an 

Equality Impact Assessment and Health Impact Assessment as well as a 

Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment. This 

integrated approach assesses the impact of the Plan on social, economic, 

environmental, health and equality objectives. The Integrated Assessment 

explains how the preferred sites and policies will be chosen and will report the 

outcome of the assessment of all of the options considered. 

2.8 The Integrated Assessment (IA) is therefore a key component of the 

development of a Local Plan. The Local Plan will be the subject of ongoing 

appraisal during this process. The IA sustainability appraisal includes 

assessment of social, economic and environmental impacts. An interim IA 

report will be prepared, and consulted upon, that will consider emerging 

options  from the consultation on this Issues and Options report, setting out 

the findings to-date. Comments received at consultation stage will help to 

inform a detailed IA to accompany the preferred options. The purpose of this 

is to ensure that as the policies are developed in the Local Plan, they are in 

keeping with the principles and aims of sustainable development.  

Priorities and Development Viability  

2.9 In setting the priorities and objectives underpinning the Local Plan, the 

Council must consider the potential impacts these may have in terms of the 

financial costs placed on new development. There is a risk if expectations and 

policy requirements are too high, that development may not be viable. The 

Local Plan policies should be clear so that developers do not pay too much for 

a piece of land and then calculate that they cannot afford to meet policy 

requirements. If the value generated by a development is less than the cost of 

developing it, then it is likely that development will not take place. A careful 

balance needs to be struck in this respect to ensure requirements are at a 

level that is viable for development to go ahead. The Local Plan will therefore 

be subject to a Viability Appraisal which measures the costs of the various 

policy requirements for planned growth balanced against essential costs and 

the factors of value of development.  

2.10 Planning policy requirements can relate to essential infrastructure to support 

development, e.g. education, transport, health; contributions towards open 

space/recreation; affordable housing; addressing climate change crisis such 

as zero carbon aims, energy efficiency; requirements to deliver high quality 

design – materials and features; accessible and adaptable Homes as well as 

supporting nature recovery – net gains for biodiversity. The local plan must be 

18



deliverable and viable to be found “sound” by the Planning Inspector. The 

conclusions of the Viability Appraisal may, therefore, effect the ability of the 

council to include higher standards and requirements set out in this Issues 

and Options paper. 

3.0 Consultation and Engagement 

3.1 Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 

Regulations 2012, which requires that: 

(1) A local planning authority must— 

(a) notify each of the bodies or persons specified in paragraph (2) of the 

subject of a 

local plan which the local planning authority propose to prepare, and 

(b) invite each of them to make representations to the local planning authority 

about 

what a local plan with that subject ought to contain. 

(2) The bodies or persons referred to in paragraph (1) are— 

(a) such of the specific consultation bodies as the local planning authority 

consider 

may have an interest in the subject of the proposed local plan; 

(b) such of the general consultation bodies as the local planning authority 

consider 

appropriate; and 

(c) such residents or other persons carrying on business in the local planning 

authority’s area from which the local planning authority consider it appropriate 

to 

invite representations. 

(3) In preparing the local plan, the local planning authority must take into 

account 

any representation made to them in response to invitations under paragraph 

(1). 

3.2 The Council has updated its Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) in 

June 2022 as a result legislative changes relating to data protection in how 

data is collected, processed and disposed of, as well as improved digital 

consultation methods which arose during the pandemic. The SCI sets out how 

Breckland Council intends to liaise with the public on planning matters, such 

as the development of the Local Plan.  

3.3 It is proposed to consult on the Issues and Options Document for 8 weeks  

19



3.4 It is important to note this first consultation is just the beginning of an 

extended period of community engagement that will evolve as more 

information becomes available, including for example the Integrated 

Assessment and greater evidence base. This will culminate in the preparation 

of the Preferred Options document which will be subject to consultation, 

programmed for October 2023 

4.0 Alternative Options 

4.1 The alternative option would be to not progress a new Local Plan or delay 

preparation and consultation. This would leave the Council at risk of 

unplanned, speculative development. This would be reputationally damaging 

and lead to Government intervention to produce a Local Plan for the District 

Council.  

4.2 In preparing the Issues and Options document, an all member briefing, as well 

as a separate briefing for Parish and Town Councils, was held together with a 

meeting of the Local Plan Executive Group. Comments were invited from all 

members. These briefings explored issues and options for the content of the 

Report and fed into the final document.  

4.3 The Issues and Options Local Plan document itself considers reasonable 

alternatives and options to accommodate growth and plan for the future of 

Breckland. The consultation also asks if there are alternative issues and 

options that the Council should consider. 

5.0 Risks Associated with the Proposals 

5.1 Failure to proceed in a timely manner with the preparation of the new Local 

Plan through to adoption will leave the Authority with a dated Local Plan, 

leading to less control over development across the district. Breckland would 

be at high risk of speculative, unsuitable, uncontrolled development. 

Development and infrastructure needs would be determined on a case by 

case basis rather than a strategically planned approach. The option not to 

progress a new Local Plan would also leave the Council open to reputational 

damage and likely Government intervention to produce a Local Plan for the 

District Council. 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS 

6.1      In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely 
implications of the decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / 
Environmental Issues; Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; 
Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; 
Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; Safeguarding; 
Staffing; Stakeholders /Consultation, Timescales; Other. Where the report 
author considers that there may be implications under one or more of these 
headings, these are identified below. 

 
Corporate Priorities 

 

20



6.2 The Local Plan Review aligns with the following corporate priorities in the 
Breckland Corporate Plan 2020–2023. 

 

 To deliver substantial and continued growth as proposed through our Local 
Plan, in conjunction with our key partners. 

 Enable the effective planning and delivery of housing solutions to meet 
local needs and aspirations to ensure that our residents including veterans 
have access to a range of housing options in the district. 

 
Financial 

6.3 It is considered that the preparation of the Breckland Local Plan can be 

delivered through to adoption within the Council’s budget. 

Staffing and Financial 
 
6.4 The consultation will need to be balanced with the available resource 

available to the Council. The appointment of consultants will assist in this 
process.  

 

8.0  WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

8.1  All 

 

Background Papers:- 

None 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Simon Wood: Director of Planning and Building Control 

Andrew D’Arcy: Planning Policy Manager 

Telephone Number: 07775036582 

Email: Simon.wood@breckland.gov.uk 

Andrew.darcy@breckland.gov.uk 

Key Decision: Yes 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service. 

Appendix 1 – Breckland Local Plan Full Update Issues and Options Report and 

Summary 

 

21



  

1 
 

  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Breckland Local Plan Full Update 

 
 

Issues and Options Report for 
Consultation 

 
 
 

 
January 2023 
 
 

22



  

2 
 

RESPONDING TO THIS CONSULTATION 
 
Details of the consultation and an online response Form can be found at 
ADD WEBLINK 
 
Wherever possible, submissions should be completed online or emailed 
to us at: planning.policyteam@breckland.gov.uk.  
 
Alternatively, responses can be returned to us by post using the address 
below:  
 
Breckland Council: Local Plan: Full Update Regulation 18 Issues and 
Options 
Planning Department  
Breckland Council  
Elizabeth House,  
Walpole Loke,  
Dereham,  
Norfolk, NR19 1EE  
 
Consultation will start on INSERT DATE and any representations should 
be submitted to the Council by 16:59pm on INSERT DATE.  
 
Any submissions received after this date may not be accepted and 
consequently not considered.  
 
Copies of the consultation material can also be found in all Council 
libraries in Breckland and at the main Council offices in Dereham 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

23



  

3 
 

 
1 INTRODUCTION: THE FULL UPDATE OF THE BRECKLAND LOCAL PLAN 
 
1.1 This consultation document is the first stage of public consultation for 

the update of the Breckland Local Plan. It seeks views on a range of 
planning issues and proposed options for the future development of 
the district. The Local Plan will set out the strategy for the amount, 
location, and design of new development as well as strategies to 
protect our environment, contribute to a net zero carbon emissions and 
protect and enhance the districts heritage, character and natural 
capital. This consultation asks how you would choose to tackle some 
important planning issues and possible options for future development 
in Breckland over the next 25 years to 2046. It covers everything from 
climate change and affordable housing needs to supporting jobs and 
promoting biodiversity. 
 

1.2 The document is drafted with full awareness of the ongoing impact of 
Covid-19, the fall out of the Ukraine invasion and its impact on energy, 
food supplies and the cost-of-living crisis as well as the possible 
implications arising from the Government's Levelling Up and 
Regeneration Bill, which may radically change the nature and process 
of preparing Local Plans in the future. Going forward the preparation of 
a new Local Plan for Breckland will seek to continue to respond to 
these and other changing circumstances.  
 

 1.3 The document provides an introduction and some background 
information about Breckland followed by 9 topic chapters: Introduction  

1. About Breckland 
2. Vision and Objectives 
3. Housing Development Amount and Location 
4. Providing the Right Types of Housing 
5. The Economy 
6. The Built Environment 
7. The Natural Environment 
8. Climate Change 
9. Transport 
10. Infrastructure 

 
1.4 For each key identified topic, there is a commentary on the background 

and some of the key issues followed by a question or set of questions 
allowing you to express your views and suggestions. Some of the 
questions are specifically open ended to allow you to do this and will 
help inform the Council on its approach to the local plan and its policies 
 

 Norfolk Strategic Planning Member Forum 
 

1.5 The Norfolk Strategic Planning Member Forum oversees the production 
of the Norfolk Strategic Planning Framework (NSPF) document on 

24



  

4 
 

behalf of all the local planning authorities in Norfolk. Local planning 
authorities, county councils and public bodies have a legal 
responsibility to work together on strategic matters when preparing 
Local Plans. This is called the Duty to Cooperate. The NSPF provides 
a structure for tackling these planning issues across the county, 
especially those which have a strategic impact across local authority 
boundaries. It includes guidance relating to housing, economic growth, 
infrastructure and the environment. The NSPF informs the Local Plans 
produced by all the authorities. The NSPF has been updated in parts to 
meet the new requirements and the forum considered the document at 
the January 2021 meeting. The latest version of the document was 
endorsed by all stakeholder authorities in 2021.  

 
1.6 As part of the wider effort to foster a closer collaboration between local 

planning authorities, and other health service organisations to plan for 
future growth and to promote health, an engagement protocol has been 
produced between local planning authorities, the Norfolk and Waveney 
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership, Clinical Commissioning 
Groups, Health Partners and Public Health Norfolk and Public Health 
Suffolk.  
 

 National Planning Policy and Guidance 
 

1.7 The Local Plan must also take account of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) (2021) and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). In 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) all 
local plans are expected to be reviewed every 5 years and the new 
Local Plan will run from 2021 to 2046 and once adopted will replace the 
current Breckland Local Plan (2011-2036). 
 

1.8 The adopted Local Plan was examined against the 2012 NPPF which 
was current at the time it was submitted for Examination. Much of the 
adopted Local Plan meets the current 2021 NPPF requirements, 
including in relation to the protection of the Brecks Special Protection 
Area, communications and historic environment. However, some 
aspects of the 2021 NPPF are not fully reflected including in respect of 
updated housing need, town centre uses, biodiversity and design 
requirements.  
 

1.9 The 2021 NPPF sets out that Local Plans should include strategic 
policies to address key strategic issues, as well as policies which help 
inform decision making on planning applications. It requires Local 
Plans to set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale, and quality of 
development, and make sufficient provision for:  

 Housing (including affordable housing and that required to meet 
the needs of gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople), 
employment, retail, leisure and other commercial development; 

25



  

5 
 

 Infrastructure for transport, telecommunications, security, waste 
management, water supply, wastewater, flood risk and the 
provision of materials and energy (including heat); 

 Community facilities (such as health, education, and cultural 
infrastructure); and 

 Conservation and enhancement of the natural, built, and historic 
environment, including landscapes and green infrastructure, and 
planning measures to address climate change mitigation and 
adaptation. 

 
1.10 The role of the Local Plan is to reflect the NPPF and set policies to 

bring forward sustainable development in the local context. The Local 
Plan will be revised to ensure that it is fully compliant with the latest 
NPPF. 
 

1.11 The Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill currently being considered by 
Parliament proposes changes to the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), which will be subject to consultation. In December 
2022 the Government set out some further measures under 
consideration. These include new measures to to strengthen 
commitment to building enough of the right homes in the right places, 
reflecting local circumstances with the right infrastructure whilst 
ensuring the environment is protected and giving local people a greater 
say on where and where not to place new development; new penalties 
for slow developers failing to build already-approved homes and new 
powers to promote brownfield development and wider review to 
promote brownfield development. 

 
1.12 The Bill introduces some major changes to the suite of documents that 

make up development plan documents and adds a new layer of 
national planning policy in the form of the National Development 
Management Policies (NDMP).  
 

1.13 Introduction of the standard method for assessing local housing 
need : The Government has introduced a national standard method for 
assessing local housing need to help deliver a target of 300,000 new 
homes per year across England. The standard method uses a formula 
to identify the minimum number of homes expected to be planned for, 
using projected household growth and historic under-supply. It 
identifies a minimum annual housing need figure (currently 672 
dwellings per year), but not a housing requirement figure for the Local 
Plan, which we will determine through a Housing Needs Assessment.   
 

1.14 Then the Council will also need to consider addressing the identified 
housing needs of specific groups in our area. This includes whether a 
higher level of need than identified by the Government’s standard 
method ought to be considered, whether the overall housing need can 
be translated into a housing requirement figure for the plan period, and 
the anticipated deliverability of different forms of provision, having 
regard to viability. This need may be higher than the housing need 

26



  

6 
 

figure calculated using the national standard method. This is because 
the needs of particular groups will often be calculated from the whole 
population of an area rather than the projected new households used 
for the standard method.  
 

1.15 Environment Act –The 2021 Environment Act sets out the 
Government’s expectations for environmental improvement through a 
legal framework of governance and regulation, including key targets for 
Biodiversity Net Gain and the introduction of Nature Recovery 
Networks. This will introduce new regulations during 2022/3 so new 
requirements need to be reflected in plan policies. The Government 
has committed to reducing greenhouse gas emissions by 78% by 2035 
(from 1990 levels) and achieving net zero by 2050, as recommended 
by the Climate Change Committee.  
 

1.16 First Homes - First Homes are a specific kind of discounted market 
sale housing, introduced in 2021, which national planning policy states 
should account for a minimum 25% of affordable housing secured 
through planning obligations.  
 

1.17 Future Homes Standard - This is a set of standards that will be 
enshrined in Building Regulations to ensure new homes built from 2025 
will produce 75-80% less carbon emissions than homes delivered 
under current regulations. Existing homes and certain home 
improvements will also be subject to higher standards.  
 

1.18 Use Class Order – The use of buildings and land is classified into 
different categories or ‘use classes’. Which category uses fall within 
depends on whether a change of use planning application is required, 
or whether that use can take place without it. The Use Class Order was 
significantly amended in 2020 and the Local Plan policies will need to 
be updated to reflect these.  
 

1.19 10% small sites – Paragraph 69 of the NPPF requires the Plan to 
identify land to accommodate at least 10% of the housing requirement 
on sites no larger than one hectare, unless it can be demonstrated that 
there are strong reasons why this cannot be achieved. The adopted 
Local Plan did not need to meet this requirement as it was adopted 
before the latest NPPF was published. This will be addressed in the 
review unless there is strong evidence to justify why this cannot be 
achieved.  
 

1.20 National Design Guide/Codes – Since the adoption of the Local Plan, 
the National Design Guide and National Model Design Code have been 
published. The NPPF requires Local Plans to provide maximum clarity 
about design expectations through the preparation of design codes or 
guides consistent with the National Design Guide and National Model 
Design Code, and which reflect local character and design preferences. 
Design codes and guides can either form part of a plan or be 
supplementary planning documents.  

27



  

7 
 

 
 Timetable for the production of the new Local Plan 

 
1.21 The key stages for the production of the Full Update of the Local Plan 

are as follows: 
 

Regulation 18 consultations 
 

 Call for Sites and June 2022 – December 2022 

 First Conversation Consultation (Issues and Options) 
January – April 2023 

 Preferred Options and draft Plan Consultation October 
2023 – January 2024 

 
Regulation 19 consultation 
 

 Publication Draft Plan consultation July 2024 –September 
2024 

 
Submission for examination December 2024 
 
Examination: Q2 2025 – Q3 2026 
Adoption Q4 2026 

 
 Relationship to Sustainability Appraisal 

 
1.22 The Local Plan seeks to achieve each of the economic, social and 

environmental dimensions of sustainable development and net gains 
across all three. The NPPF states in paragraph 32 that ‘ Local plans 
and spatial development strategies should be informed throughout their 
preparation by a sustainability appraisal that meets the relevant legal 
requirements. This should demonstrate how the plan has addressed 
relevant economic, social and environmental objectives (including 
opportunities for net gains). Significant adverse impacts on these 
objectives should be avoided and, wherever possible, alternative 
options which reduce or eliminate such impacts should be pursued. 
Where significant adverse impacts are unavoidable, suitable mitigation 
measures should be proposed (or, where this is not possible, 
compensatory measures should be considered)’. The council has a 
statutory obligation to carry out a sustainability appraisal of all plans 
and policies. For the Full Update of the Breckland Local Plan, an 
Integrated Assessment is being undertaken. The Integrated 
Assessment includes elements of an Equality Impact Assessment and 
Health Impact Assessment as well as a Sustainability Appraisal and 
Strategic Environmental Assessment. This integrated approach 
assesses the impact of the Plan on social, economic, environmental, 
health and equality objectives. The Integrated Assessment explains 
how the preferred sites and policies will be chosen and will report the 
outcome of the assessment of all of the options considered. 
 

28



  

8 
 

1.23 The Integrated Assessment (IA) is therefore a key component of the 
development of a Local Plan. The Local Plan will be the subject of 
ongoing appraisal during this process. The IA sustainability appraisal 
includes assessment of social, economic and environmental impacts. 
An interim IA report will be prepared, and consulted upon, that will 
consider emerging options emerging from the consultation on this 
Issues and Options report, setting out the findings to-date. Comments 
received at consultation stage will help to inform a detailed IA to 
accompany the preferred options. The purpose of this is to ensure that 
as the policies are developed in the Local Plan, they are in keeping 
with the principles and aims of sustainable development. We would 
encourage you to comment on this document when it is published in 
the Spring of 2023. 
 

 Priorities and Development Viability  

1.24 In setting the priorities and objectives underpinning the Local Plan, the 
Council must consider the potential impacts these may have in terms of 
the financial costs placed on new development. There is a risk if 
expectations and policy requirements are too high, that development 
may not be viable. The Local Plan policies should be clear so that 
developers do not pay too much for a piece of land and then calculate 
that they cannot afford to meet policy requirements. If the value 
generated by a development is less than the cost of developing it, then 
it is likely that development will not take place. A careful balance needs 
to be struck in this respect to ensure requirements are at a level that is 
viable for development to go ahead. The Local Plan will therefore be 
subject to a Viability Appraisal which measures the costs of the various 
policy requirements for planned growth balanced against essential 
costs and the factors of value of development.  
 

1.25 Planning policy requirements can relate to essential infrastructure to 
support development, e.g. education, transport, health; contributions 
towards open space/recreation; affordable housing; addressing climate 
change crisis such as zero carbon aims, energy efficiency; 
requirements to deliver high quality design – materials and features; 
accessible and adaptable Homes as well as supporting nature recovery 
– net gains for biodiversity.  
 

1.26 The local plan must be deliverable and viable to be found “sound” by 
the Planning Inspector. The conclusions of the Viability Appraisal may, 
therefore, affect the ability of the council to include higher standards 
and requirements set out in this Issues and Options paper. 
 

 What is sustainable development? 

 "Sustainable development is development that meets the needs 
of the present, without compromising the ability of future 

generations to meet their own needs." 

29



  

9 
 

 
1.27 Sustainable Development touches on every aspect of Local Plans from 

where housing is located and its design, to encouraging modes of 
transport such as public transport, cycling and walking and 
infrastructure to support it, to the environment with biodiversity, 
enhanced green infrastructure and protecting habitat sites, to 
supporting the long-term economic growth of the area without 
impacting environmental goals through to protecting and sourcing new 
energy and water resources.  
 

2 ABOUT BRECKLAND 
 

2.1 Breckland District is the largest rural district in England extending over 
an area of 1,300 sqkm (500 square miles). It is one of seven districts in 
Norfolk and is located centrally in the county and includes the five 
market towns of Attleborough, Dereham, Swaffham, Thetford and 
Watton, together with 114 villages. The district is served by the A11 
and A47 trunk roads, and the towns of Attleborough and Thetford have 
direct and frequent rail links into Norwich and Cambridge. It is also 
home to one of the largest lowland forests in England- Thetford Forest 
and ancient heathland- the Brecks, which it shares with its 
neighbouring district of West Suffolk extending to over 1000 sqkm (393 
square miles). 
 

 The Population in Breckland 
 

2.2 The total population of Breckland is 141,500, which is an increase of 
8.4% since 2011 (ONS 2021 Census) and by 2046 the number of 
households age 65+ is predicted to increase by 55%1   However, the 
number of young people aged 0-15 is estimated to increase by only 
2.2% and those people of working age between 16-64 it is estimated 
there will be a 2.3% increase2. 
 

 Deprivation Information 
 

2.3 Breckland ranks 142 out of 317 local authorities in England in the Index 
of Multiple Deprivation with 1 being most deprived and 317 being the 
least. Breckland is the least deprived district in Norfolk after South 
Norfolk and Broadland. Breckland scores poorly on Education at 35 
and Housing at 64, however, scores well for Crime at 250, Employment 
at 163 and Living Environment at 167. 3 
 

 Housing  
 

2.4 There are 60,400 households in Breckland ,15% of which is affordable 
housing (2020 figures)4. Over the last five years 6,018 houses have 

                                                           
1 (Study of demand for specialist retirement housing and accessible housing for older people in Norfolk March 2022.) 
2 Breckland Housing and Homeless Strategy 2017-2021 
3 Norfolk Insight JSNA Briefing Paper on Deprivation 2019 
4 Breckland Monitoring report 2020 

30



  

10 
 

been built in Breckland4. The average house price in Breckland in 2021 
was £300,000, which is a 30.7% increase in a year compared to the 
average price of £252,500 in 2020 (based on ONS figures on the 
average price of a home in Hockering, Mattishall & Cranworth in 
Breckland.)5 The median house price to median salary ratio is 9.3 
compared to 8.92 across England and Wales i.e., a Breckland resident 
with a middle size income needs 9.3 X their gross annual salary to buy 
a medium sized property in Breckland6  
 

 Economy  
 

2.5 Breckland is the main economic gateway to Norfolk, the A11 
technology corridor runs through the district to the major university 
research and developments centres in Cambridge and Norwich. The 
Cambridge - Norwich Tech Corridor will create over £500 million of 
innovation-led growth, investment in infrastructure, housing, and skills.7 
The other major road is the A47 which is the main East/West link from 
Great Yarmouth and Lowestoft to Kings Lynn and Peterborough to the 
A1 leading to the Midlands and beyond. The district also benefits from 
railway links from Norwich to Ely and on to Cambridge and the 
Midlands.   

 Employment Sectors 
 

2.6 The main employment sectors in the district are manufacturing, retail, 
health, business administration, construction, education with 
manufacturing being the highest at 16.1% compared with 10.7% for the 
rest of the county. The agricultural sector is also an important 
employee in the region, employing 4.6% across the district compared 
with 2.8% average within the county.6 

 
 Employment Levels 

 
2.7 There is high employment in Breckland with a greater proportion of 

employees in full time employment in the district at 86.5% than any 
other district in Norfolk but with lower mean average wages at £29K 
than the rest of the UK at £38.1K. (Gross average salary for full time 
employees with the employee in the same job for 12 months)5  
 

 Disruption to growth 
 

2.8 As yet the full impact of COVID 19, the Ukraine Invasion and increasing 
energy costs are yet to be fully understood across the district. 
However, according to the World Bank, global growth is expected to 
decelerate markedly from 5.7% to 4.1%.8 This reflects the continued 
disruption of the pandemic and supply chain bottlenecks. Furthermore, 

                                                           
5 Norfolk Live July 2022 
6 (Ipswich Average salary, unemployment rates in graphs and numbers report comparison with neighbouring authorities (plumplot.co.uk) 

7 Invest Breckland  2022) 
8 Global Economic Prospects (The World Bank) June 2022 

31

https://www.plumplot.co.uk/Ipswich-salary-and-unemployment.html#:~:text=An%20average%20salary%20is%20ranging%20between%2026.3k%20in,months.%20The%20data%20collected%20is%20Tax%20Year%20Ending.


  

11 
 

these coupled with the increase in food and energy prices has pushed 
up headline inflation in many countries. (World Economic Forum 2022) 
ONS forecasts for the UK Economy for 2023 sees GDP growth 
contracting to between -1.9 and -2.1 and inflation is currently running at 
10.6% (July 2022)9. This is against a backdrop of changing trade 
relationships with Europe and the rest of the world following the UK’s 
departure from the EU. 
 

3 VISION AND OBJECTIVES 
 

 The Strategic Vision: The Issues 
 

3.1 All Local Plans begin with a strategic vision for their planned area and 
in the current Local Plan Breckland’s Strategic Vision states: 
 

“By 2036 Breckland’s settlements and its wider rural area will 
have developed in a sustainable manner appropriate for the 
rural nature of the District; building on its achievements and 
strengths to deliver an improved quality of life for its next 
generation of residents, an improved experience for its visitors, 
and will be better placed to attract investment and jobs into the 
District. Breckland’s communities will be more sustainable, 
prosperous, safe, healthy and vibrant. The economy will be 
diversified and well connected, with a growing number of skilled 
workforce and population. New growth will be balanced, 
ensuring that the District adapts to, and mitigates against the 
impacts of climate change. 
 
New development will be directed to locations that are co-
ordinated with transport provision, have good access to support 
existing services, community facilities and open space. Outside 
the strategic growth locations of Attleborough and Thetford, a 
more balanced approach to housing development between rural 
and urban areas will have taken place allowing for improved 
housing land supply from rural areas to help in facilitating 
planned growth and this infrastructure required to support 
development so that communities can grow in a sustainable and 
cohesive matter. 
 
New employment will not only be located to take advantage of 
the improved transport links offered by the A11 and A47 
corridors and partnership work with adjacent local authorities but 
be directed to the most sustainable locations where they assist 
in providing the right balance between the local rural economy 
and that of the wider District and that of Greater Norwich. Local 
distinctiveness will be reflected through positive approaches 
towards the rural economy where appropriate development will 

                                                           
9 Forecasts for the UK Economy: A Comparison of Independent Forecasts HM Treasury (July 2022) 

32



  

12 
 

be helping to sustain local services and identities allowing them 
to grow and assist in helping communities adapt and thrive. 
 
Services and facilities will be supported and prized in rural 
villages. A sense of local community and belonging will be 
maintained and reinforced with decision made at community 
level reflected in development proposals through the 
consideration of Neighbourhood planning 
 
Breckland will continue to cherish the natural, built and historic 
environment which make the District unique, and will protect 
them not only for their own sake but also as a means of 
attracting investment and visitor s to the area. Breckland’s towns 
and villages will have retained the characteristic that provide 
their character.” 
 
Through working with stakeholders and partners, strong working 
relationship s will be delivering improved health care and 
wellbeing to meet the needs of communities”10 

 
 Strategic Vision: The Options 

 
Question 1: Breckland has a vision that seeks for our residents and business 
to thrive. Do you think this is still the right Strategic Vison for Breckland? Y/N 
 
Please suggest any changes that you think should be made to the Vision for 
the Local Plan Update 

 Strategic Objectives: The Issues 
 

3.2 In addition to the vision, the Local Plan Update must also include a 
clear set of strategic objectives. Objectives are a way of translating 
ideas and aspirations into reality. The objectives will help narrow the 
focus onto the most practical methods of achieving the vision. There 
are 19 objectives in the current Local Plan and we would welcome 
comments on whether these remain valid or where changes should be 
made.  
 

3.3 The 19 strategic objectives in the current Plan are: 
 
Development in the Right Place 
 
1. Contribute to sustainable development through the reflection of the 

vision and aspirations of the local communities for Breckland; 
 
2. Assist in the creation and maintenance of inclusive, environmentally 

sustainable communities making the best and most efficient use of 
already developed land, buildings and natural resources; 

                                                           
10 Breckland Local Plan 2011 to 2036 adopted November 2019 

33



  

13 
 

 
3. Make sure the majority of development is focused into areas where 

services 
are available, and where facilities can be supported; 

 
4. To adapt and mitigate against the impacts of climate change. 
 
Meeting the Housing Need 
 
5. Deliver housing that meets the needs of the community and local 

economy 
through the concentration of development in the Strategic Urban 
Extensions of Attleborough and Thetford and where services and 
facilities can be supported within or adjacent to the market towns of 
Dereham, Swaffham and Watton and the local service centres, 
whilst giving recognition to the need for small scale and appropriate 
development in rural areas to support rural communities and 
services; 

 
6. Support the development and maintenance of a balanced housing 

market and a variety of decent, affordable housing which meets the 
needs of all local people and supports economic and community 
development; 

 
7. To encourage high quality, sustainable and safe design for places 

and 
spaces, in both the private and public realm, and which respects the 
character and local distinctiveness of Breckland’s communities; 

 
A Strong Economy 
 
8. Promote and support economic growth in sustainable and accessible 

locations in a flexible manner, diversifying the urban and rural 
economic base of the District to enable a prosperous mix where 
investment is encouraged, skills are developed and retained and 
new and existing businesses are supported; 

 
9. Enable the full potential of the A11 gateway and A47 corridor to 

contribute to 
economic growth of the District through investment, partnership 
work with 
neighbouring authorities and inward investment; 

 
10. Develop the local economy and meet local employment needs by 

providing a sufficient number and variety of employment locations 
and opportunities, at the same time ensuring the specific qualities of 
the local environment are not damaged; 

 

34



  

14 
 

11. Promote the vitality and viability of town centres, including the night 
time economy and support the retention of existing rural 
services; 

 
12. Provide for improved broadband connections, especially in rural 

areas; 
 
A Rich Environment 
 
13. Contribute to the positive management of change in the historic 

environment, protecting, enhancing and maintaining the unique 
qualities and character of Breckland, the wider landscape and 
setting, and its designated and non-designated heritage assets for 
the future; 

 
14. Promote a safe and healthy environment, and high quality design 

minimising the impacts of development and ensuring quality of life 
and sense of place; 

 
15. Protect, conserve and enhance the natural environment, valuing 

green 
infrastructure for the many functions it performs; 

 
16. Ensure the ongoing protection of key habitats for protected species; 
 
Thriving Communities 
 
17. To improve the health and well-being of our communities by 

reducing health inequalities, promoting healthy living and 
supporting locally accessible, high quality health care; 

 
18. To protect and enhance community facilities and services and 

maximise 
accessibility to them; and 

 
19. To encourage and facilitate a sense of community and belonging, 

and make sure decisions are made at community level as far as 
possible (through implementation of this plan and through 
Neighbourhood Planning).  
 

 
Question 2: These objectives are based on the existing adopted Local Plan.   
Do you think these objectives are still relevant? If not, please explain why and 
how you think they could be improved. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

35



  

15 
 

4 HOUSING: THE ISSUES 
 

 Amount and Location 
 

4.1 In this section, we will look at the amount of housing and where it 
should be located in the district and what methodology should be used 
to consider the amount and location of housing development. The 
Local Plan Update will need to identify locations for housing and other 
development to meet identified needs up to 2046. The required level of 
new housing, employment and other development has not yet been 
determined, but will be identified through the background evidence that 
the Council is currently collecting. In particular, the Council has 
commissioned a Housing and Economic Development Needs 
Assessment (HEDNA), which will quantify future housing and 
employment requirements and provide more information on the range 
of needs that should be planned for. The Council’s ‘call for sites’ during 
Summer/Winter 2022 will also provide potential sites for further 
development. 
 

 Housing Numbers 
 

4.2 The government’s ‘standard method’ (the 2014 based minimum 
housing requirement) indicates a starting point for annual housing need 
of 67211 dwellings per annum (d.p.a.) for the updated Plan compared to 
the 612 d.p.a. set out in the current Plan. It is important to note that this 
housing figure is subject to change and remains variable until the point 
the Local Plan is submitted for examination in 2024. Affordable housing 
is often provided as a percentage of the total number of dwellings of a 
development, consequently, the greater the housing growth the more 
affordable housing can be delivered. Equally, economic growth is 
supported by greater housing growth.   
 

4.3 The Government’s expectation is that Local Planning Authorities 
(LPAs) would use the standard method to establish the local housing 
need figure for their area. Guidance also reiterates that the use of the 
standard method is not mandatory and that an alternative approach 
could be applied but only in exceptional circumstances. Nevertheless, it 
is noted that LPAs can expect the application of an alternative 
approach to be scrutinised more closely at examination.  
 

4.4 The government guidance stresses that these figures provide a 
minimum starting point in determining the number of homes needed in 
an area, and that it might be appropriate to plan for a higher housing 
need figure in certain circumstances. This could include where there 
are funded growth strategies, planned strategic infrastructure 
improvements or where agreements are in place to take on unmet 
need from neighbouring authorities. Guidance also references the need 
to consider whether assessment of previous levels of housing delivery 

                                                           
11 March 2022: Figure. Revised figures are published annually when new affordability ratios are published.  

36



  

16 
 

in an area or needs assessment indicate a higher level of local housing 
need is required than the standard method. Whilst we do not consider 
these circumstances currently exist, there is a significant affordable 
housing need across Breckland and we will need to consider the 
consequences of these minimum housing need figures on affordable 
housing delivery. We will examine this as the Local Plan progresses. 
The Council has commissioned a Housing and Economic Development 
Needs Assessment to consider different growth scenarios and the 
implications for future housing need.  
 

4.5  Turning back to the use of an alternative model for assessing local 
housing need, guidance sets out instances whereby this might be 
considered acceptable. This includes in the preparation of joint-plans 
and where Local Authorities have re-organised. In each of these 
circumstances however, it is clear that the expectation is that the 
standard method will feature in those calculations. The only deviation 
from the standard method that Guidance is clear on, is where strategic 
policy-making authority boundaries do not align with local authority 
boundaries or where data is not available. Examples of where this 
might be applicable are given as National Parks and the Broads 
Authority. The use of an alternative model is therefore not considered 
appropriate for Breckland. 
 

4.6 The plan period will be 2021 – 2046, therefore, any sites with planning 
permission and remaining allocations in the adopted local and 
neighbourhood plans at the beginning of the plan period (2021) date 
will contribute to the overall delivery of housing across Breckland. 
Table 1 in Appendix 1 sets out this position by parish. 
 

4.7 The urban extensions at Attleborough and Thetford are actively 
progressing, and benefit from planning permission, but are still in their 
early stages. At Attleborough, construction is yet to start and Thetford 
is still in its infancy. The relatively long lead time for delivery for these 
sites is primarily due to their size and complex infrastructure needs. 
However, there have been significant completions within the market 
towns of Dereham, Swaffham and Watton and at Local Service 
Centres. Based on the Table in Appendix 1, if the Local Plan Update 
set a local housing requirement figure of at least 672 dwellings per 
annum. then this would require 16,800 dwellings to be provided 
between 2021 and 2046. On the assumption that 9,734 are on existing 
sites with permission or allocations then this would mean that sites for 
an additional 7,066 dwellings would be needed (or c8,126 dwellings 
with a 5 - 15% buffer- a buffer is usually required in order to provide 
flexibility in the event that some sites do not come forward as 
expected). 
 

In a rural district, such as Breckland, some development will come 
forward on ‘windfall sites’. These are sites which are not formally 
included or allocated in a local plan but which subsequently are granted 

37



  

17 
 

permission for development. These are usually small sites. Windfall 
sites can be considered as a source of future housing supply but must 
be supported by firm evidence in order to demonstrate that they are a 
reliable source of supply in the future. At the moment the Council 
considers that 100 dwellings per annum are on windfall sites and this 
will need to be included in the calculation for new sites as part of the 
Full Update of the Plan.   

 
 HOUSING AMOUNT: THE OPTIONS 

 
Question 3:  As a minimum do you think the Local Plan Update should plan for 
Breckland’s full objectively assessed housing needs based upon the most up 
to date Standard Methodology published by MHCLG (672 per annum) or do you 
think there are any issues affecting housing growth in Breckland that may 
justify a higher figure for example, to support any identified strategic 
infrastructure, greater levels of affordable housing or an opportunity to 
maximise economic growth? 
 
Please give your reasons 
 
 Housing Location 

 
 The Settlement Hierarchy 

 
4.8 The settlement hierarchy with Policy GEN 03 in the current Local Plan 

is as follows: 
 

 Key Settlements: Attleborough and Thetford 

 Market Towns: Dereham, Swaffham and Watton 

 Local Services Centres: Ashall, Banham, Bawdeswell, 
Garboldisham, Great Ellingham, Harling, Hockering, 
Kenninghall, Litcham, Mattishall, Narborough, Necton, North 
Elmham, Old Buckingham, Shipdham, Sporle, Swanton 
Morley, Weeting 

 Villages with Boundaries: Beeston, Beetley, Carbrooke, 
Caston, Gressenhall, Griston, Hockham, Lyng, Mundford, 
North Lopham, Rocklands, Saham Toney, Thompson, 
Weasenham, Shropham, Eccles Road (Quidenham), Clint 
Green and Yaxham. 

 All other villages are categorised as Villages without 
boundaries 

 
4.9 The Local service centres were identified within the current local plan 

where they satisfied all of the following 5 qualifying criteria: 
 

 Access to public transport with a frequency of service to a 
higher settlement and during normal hours 

 Provision of a community facility e.g., village hall, pub, café 

 Provision of some employment in the village 

38



  

18 
 

 Provision of a Shop/Post Office 

 Provision of a School 
 

4.10 The level of development for Local Services Centres was set at 10% of 
the estimated number of households from 2011 base data.  
 

4.11 Villages with boundaries have some of the services identified above 
and were deemed capable of some development equivalent to 7% of 
their estimated number of households with limited development for all 
other villages and hamlets mainly centred around infilling and rounding 
off and conversions. 
 

 SETTLEMENT CRITERIA: (THE OPTIONS) 
 

Question 4: Do you think the settlement categories as defined in the hierarchy 
above should be carried forward into the Local Plan Update? Y/N  
 
Please provide further comments. 
 
Question 5: Are there any settlements that you think should be added, 
removed, or moved into a different category?  
 
Please indicate which settlements and give reasons. 
 
Question 6: Do you agree with the methodology for classifying Local Service 
Centres? Y/N  
 
Please explain your answer. 
 
Question 7: Would you add, add to or remove any of the five qualifying criteria: 
Access to public transport, provision of community facility, employment, shop 
and school? Y/N  
 
Please explain your answer. 
 
Question 8: Do you think that all 5 criteria need to be met to be classified as a 
Local Service Centre? Y/N  
 
Please explain your answer. 
 
Question 9: Do you think that some villages could be considered together 
around key services they share? Y/N 
 
If so, which ones? 
 
 THE LOCATION OF NEW HOUSING (DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY): 

(THE ISSUES) 
 

4.12 In the current local plan, housing aims “to meet the needs of the 
community and local economy through the concentration of 

39



  

19 
 

development in the Strategic Urban Extensions of Attleborough and 
Thetford and where services and facilities can be supported within or 
adjacent to the market towns of Dereham, Swaffham and Watton and 
the local service centres, whilst giving recognition to the need for small 
scale and appropriate development in rural areas to support rural 
communities and services”.  
 

4.13 The current development strategy was based on a settlement hierarchy 
which was used to help identify sustainable locations which have 
existing infrastructure, services, and resources for the purposes of 
locating new development. The greatest amount of development is 
proposed higher up the settlement hierarchy. 
 

4.14 The effects of the pandemic have been far reaching on people’s habits 
and in some ways escalated changes which were already beginning to 
take place pre-202012.  There has been an increase in people moving 
away from their main urban location to neighbouring towns and villages 
with London seeing the largest proportion of movers leave their region, 
with 12% leaving for locations in the south-east and 8% heading further 
afield into the East region.13 This migration to more rural areas is partly 
due to high house prices within some city locations particularly London, 
the desire for more green space but also due to the opportunities to 
work from home. The ONS figures from February 2022 show that 
around a 1/3 of working adults do their job from home, and many 
employers are planning to continue with a hybrid model of working from 
home and office going forward.14 This has led to an increase in a 
working population living and working in our villages and rural outskirts 
of market towns 
 

4.15 Overall rural areas had a higher rate of home working (25 per cent) 
compared with urban areas (16 per cent)15. In turn this had led to an 
increase in alternative meeting/working spaces provided by cafes and 
meeting hubs in market towns. 
 

4.16 Shopping habits have also changed with a quarter of retail sales being 
purchased online including food, and this rose to 36% during the final 
lockdowns of 2021 and the convenience of online shopping offers 
many advantages to rural residents16. However, its climate change 
benefits are hotly debated due to the fleet vans required and the 
logistics of delivering across the country17.   
 

4.17 The village shop is still a valued asset to communities in providing 
additional provisions, social interaction and community services, and 
this became more apparent during the pandemic as they often took on 

                                                           
12 Coronavirus and the Social Impacts on Great Britain ONS April 2022 
13 The green green grass of homeworking families swap the city for country living Experian April 2022 
14 Is Hybrid working here to stay? ONS May 2022 
15 Rural Working From Home Statistics DEFRA 2022 
16 How our spending has changed since the end of coronavirus (COVID19) restrictions ONS July 2022 
17 Is online or in-store food shopping better for the planet? The Grocer 21st June 2021 

40



  

20 
 

the role of bringing communities together. New businesses have grown 
in rural areas including static and travelling farm shops as more people 
become interested in locally produced food, some 64% of farm shops 
expect sales to increase further in 2022 and a third of all farm shops 
have opened in the last 10 years.18 
 

4.18 Village pubs have been declining over a number of years, however, 
some have survived by diversifying their activities to include the village 
shop, post office or host community events with the government’s 
funding under “the pub is the hub” initiative.19 They have also been 
shown to increase house prices within a village20.  
 

4.19 It is well documented that rural bus services have been in decline 
resulting in greater car dependency in rural areas and this trend has 
been further exacerbated by working from home, increase in online 
shopping so less trips to urban centres and the pressures on Local 
Government Finances. Between 2012 and 2017 patronage on 
supported rural bus services fell in the UK by 40%21. However, for 
many rural residents particularly the elderly they are the lifeline to 
accessing the services they need. There are a number of initiatives 
being considered through the Norfolk Bus Forum including Flexibus 
schemes. These various trends and changes to habits may impact the 
methodology upon which we base decisions on settlement growth. 
 
 

4.20 A key part of this Issues and Options stage of the Plan making process 
is how the Plan should approach planning for an appropriate level of 
small and medium-scale growth in rural villages and settlements. This 
work will help us focus on maximising the benefits of development, and 
enhancing the sustainability of our rural communities. As part of this, 
we want to understand, protect and enhance the natural and heritage 
assets that make such a valuable contribution to the unique character 
of our villages and settlements. 
 

4.21 Through the existing Plan, the majority of the planned growth of homes, 
jobs and infrastructure has been focused on the communities of the 5 
market towns and in particular Attleborough and Thetford. Beyond 
these areas, a comparatively small amount of development has come 
forward in our rural villages and settlements through the planning 
application process, and it has been mostly limited to infill within 
existing settlement boundaries with allocations limited to larger villages. 
A disadvantage of this approach is that the historic pattern of 
incremental investment in the sustainability of our rural communities 
that comes from growth, has been disrupted. Because of this, 
progressively, the benefits of well-planned growth haven’t been felt in 
our rural villages and settlements. Planned development can provide 

                                                           
18 First of its kind survey shows impact of UK Farm Shops Farming UK 2nd March 2022 
19 More Funding to Boost Services in village pubs and bring communities together MHCLG September 2018 
20 Public Houses and House Prices in Great Britain: a panel analysis European Planning Studies 2021 
21 The Future of Rural Bus Services in the UK. Bettertransport.org 2018 

41



  

21 
 

local market and Affordable Housing, new employment opportunities, 
improved infrastructure, including walking, cycling and public transport 
upgrades and it can also support local services and facilities. 
 

4.22 In more recent years some of our rural villages and settlements have 
also been the focus of ‘speculative’ development proposals, which are 
usually promoted through planning applications. This growth and 
change has not been arrived at through a plan-led strategy, and often, 
without a comprehensive understanding of the needs of, or support 
from, the communities in which they are proposed. 
 

4.23 Our rural areas include many natural assets, like sites designated for 
their ecological value, area with distinctive landscape character and a 
range of nature conservation designations as well as green 
infrastructure – which is important to create a sense of place that 
connects communities to the countryside and provides space for 
wildlife to thrive in. Our rural areas are also home to a wide range of 
heritage assets, including conservation areas, listed buildings and sites 
of archaeological value. There are also landscape features, all of which 
help to create valuable, historic landscapes and distinctive places. As 
we consider our approach to planning for our rural areas, and the 
villages and settlements in them, we need to balance all of these 
issues and considerations, and make choices about where new homes, 
jobs and facilities should go, so that our rural communities can thrive. 
 

4.24 The COVID-19 outbreak immediately caused the closure of schools 
and offices, emptied out public transport and in some cases, restricted 
residents to a tight perimeter around their homes. These restrictions 
have resurrected discussions around 15-minute neighbourhoods that 
involve a menu of policy actions that provide residents access to most, 
if not all, of their needs within a short walk or bike ride from their home. 
15-minute policies transform urban spaces into connected and self-
sufficient (or ‘complete’) neighbourhoods. Reducing car use and 
encouraging active travel are central to delivering the 15-minute vision. 
The 15-minute neighbourhood serves as an organising principle for 
urban development and urban life that makes life more liveable for 
residents, by improving air quality and making neighbourhoods safer, 
quieter, more diverse, inclusive and economically vibrant. In the UK, 
there are relatively few examples of planning policies and interventions 
that nurture 15-minute neighbourhoods, but the low traffic 
neighbourhoods being pioneered in Waltham Forest and Sheffield – 
and those planned for Bristol, Bath, Manchester and other cities – are 
tentative first steps. The Plan could consider applying this approach if 
larger strategic developments are to be developed.  

 
4.25 The Council has undertaken a call for sites consultation. The 'Call for 

Sites' is an early opportunity for individuals, landowners and 
developers to suggest sites within the District for development over the 
next 25 years. The site suggestions received by us will be used to 

42



  

22 
 

inform the preparation of the updated Local Plan. Approximately 400 
sites have been suggested for development and a further 80 for 
protection as local green space. These can be viewed at the 
Commonplace platform 

 https://brecklandlocalplan.commonplace.is/ 

 
 DEVELOPMENT PRINCIPLES: OPTIONS 

 
Question 10: Which of the spatial principles listed below do you consider are 
most important in developing a strategy for development in the Local Plan? 
Please rank (1) for most important and (12) for least important 
 

1. Maximise re-use of previously developed (brownfield) land 
2. Focus development in locations where there is greatest accessibility 

to employment, local services and facilities 
3. Respect the character of the existing settlement pattern including 

maintaining gaps between settlements 
4. Focus development in locations where there is greatest potential to 

maximise sustainable travel (public transport, walking and cycling) 
5. Locate development to minimise its impact on protected or locally 

important landscapes, heritage and biodiversity  
6. Focus on locations and development that will deliver or contribute 

most to infrastructure and local facilities 
7. Focus on sites that can be delivered quickly to ensure a flexible 

development supply 
8. Provide new housing and facilities to help sustain rural settlements  
9. Locate development to maximise use of existing available 

infrastructure capacity (e.g., transport, wastewater treatment) 
10. Focus on sites that can be delivered quickly to ensure a flexible 

development supply 
11. Focus on locations and development that will deliver or contribute 

most to infrastructure and local facilities  
12. Seek to increase development densities in locations close to local 

facilities or with good public transport links 
 
Please provide your ranking and comments below 
 
 DEVELOPMENT LOCATIONS: OPTIONS 

 
Question 11: Do you think development should be concentrated within the 
market towns? Y/N  
 
If so which ones and why?  
 
Question 12: Do you think more housing should be dispersed within rural 
areas/villages? Y/N  
 
Please explain 

43

https://brecklandlocalplan/


  

23 
 

 
Question 13: Should there be a new settlement Garden Town/Village developed 
within Breckland? Y/N 
 
If so should the 15 minute neighbourhood concept be introduced? 
 
Where should this be? 
 
Question 14: Should development be concentrated on the main transport 
routes (A47, A11 or others)? Y/N  
 
Please explain 
 
Other options? – Please explain 
 
 Settlement Boundaries the issues 

 
4.26 Breckland Council has relied on the planning policy tool of drawing up 

settlement boundaries to limit development beyond the settlements into 
the 7A policy with settlement boundaries: 
 

 provides clearer rigid policy framework for elected members 
and Planning Committee; 

 provides certainty for parish councils, local people and 
landowners; 

 will be likely to result in fewer appeals; 

 allows for a clearer policy stance for exception affordable 
housing schemes; 

 makes it easier for the Council and other organisations to plan 
future infrastructure and service delivery; 

 prevents intrusion into the countryside through incremental 
growth; 

 ensures that new development is sympathetic in scale and 
location to the form and character of settlements; 

 prevents the coalescence of neighbouring settlements. 
 

4.27 But: 

 could result in village cramming and intensification of land use 
within confines (back garden development); 

 could result in pressure on undeveloped land, or changes of 
use of land within boundaries that may be locally important; 

 as development within boundaries, the amount of land with 
development potential reduces; 

 limits the scope for new employment/retail/community 
development because land with development potential is more 
valuable for residential; 

 is prescriptive, as it does not allow for the consideration of 
changes in circumstances in settlements, for example the 

44



  

24 
 

closing of a local shop or the provision of more public transport 
or local housing needs; 

 could result in artificially high land values for land within 
boundaries and higher house prices. 

 
4.28 A criteria-based policy could provide an alternative approach to the 

definition of settlement boundaries. All applications would be 
considered on their merits, and criteria would cover key issues such as 
sustainability, layout, design, form, etc. Such a policy would provide a 
mechanism by which proposals may be assessed against their impact 
on identified features and characteristics of the settlement, but which 
also provides flexibility to allow for changes in the surroundings to be 
taken into account. It would support new development where it 
enhances the sustainability of settlements and where it would not harm 
the open character of the countryside, provided that development 
meets a number of criteria. These criteria could require new 
development to: 
 

 be adjacent to the existing footprint of the settlement; maintain 
the compact nature of the settlement; 

 respect the historic core; 

 respect the settlement character and form; provide access to 
services and facilities; 

 respect natural boundaries such as trees, hedges, rivers and 
streams; 

 not result in the loss of important open spaces within the 
settlement; 

 not result in the coalescence of settlements; 

 and prevent the sprawl of new development into open 
countryside. 

 
 SETTLEMENT BOUNDARIES: THE OPTIONS 

 
Question 15: Do you think that the Local Plan should continue to define 
settlement boundaries or rely on a criteria-based policy / Y/N.  
 
What are your reasons for your answer? 
 
Question 16: If settlement boundaries are to be retained should they still be 
applied to the villages set out in paragraph 4,9 of this Report or should some 
be removed or added? 
 
If so which settlements should be changed? 
 
 PROVIDING THE RIGHT TYPES OF HOMES: THE ISSUES 

 
4.29 It is important that we not only have development in the right place but 

that it is also the right type and tenure of houses which meets our 
District’s needs. The Council will commission a Housing and Economic 
Development Needs Assessment that will help inform the Local Plan 

45



  

25 
 

on this. The NPPF requires policies to plan for different groups in the 
community (including, but not limited to, those who require affordable 
housing, families with children, older people, students, people with 
disabilities, service families, travellers, people who rent their homes 
and people wishing to commission or build their own homes) In the 
current local plan, policies were included for affordable housing, 
specialist housing for an elderly population, conversion of buildings in 
the countryside, gypsy & traveller pitches. 
 

 Affordable Housing 
 

4.30 Affordable homes are homes that are for sale or rent which are 
provided for eligible households who cannot afford to buy or rent in the 
area. There are several different types of affordable housing such as 
shared ownership and social rent. The government has also introduced 
a new affordable housing product called First Homes 
 

4.31 There is a significant need for affordable homes across Breckland and 
the Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market Assessment 201722 
identified that 220 affordable dwellings per annum were required in 
Breckland. From the table below, it can be seen that delivery has fallen 
short by 42% over the last 6 years, where 1,320 affordable houses 
should have been delivered but only 778 have. For every 100 
affordable houses which are not built within the District there is a cost 
to the Council in the region of £1 million in temporary accommodation. 
  

 Breckland Affordable Housing Delivery (Target 220 dwellings per 
annum) 
 

 Year No. of affordable dwellings 
 2016/2017 143 
 2017/2018 86 
 2018/2019 168 
 2019/2020 172 
 2020/2021 57 
 2021/2022 152 
 2016/2017 143 
  
4.32 The Current Local Plan states that all qualifying developments 

delivering 10 or more units for a site of 0.5ha or more are required to 
provide 25% affordable homes. The government has set out that 25% 
of affordable homes provided should be First Homes, which are offered 
at a discounted sales price. We will use our evidence on affordable 
housing need to work out what type of affordable housing should be 
provided alongside First Homes. Alternatively, affordable housing can 
be delivered via rural exception sites which are small patches of land 
outside a village boundary that would not otherwise get planning 
permission for housing, but the landowner provides the land at below 

                                                           
22 Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2017 

46



  

26 
 

market value on the basis that the land is used to build affordable 
homes for local people. 
 

4.33 The Council’s Housing and Economic Development Needs 
Assessment will examine the amount and the different sizes and types 
of affordable homes needed, and this will inform future policy 
development that will be subject to future consultation.  
 

 Providing homes for older people and those with disabilities 
 

4.34 Norfolk, in common with the rest of the UK faces an ageing population. 
The number of older person households (65+ years) in Breckland will 
have increased by 55%, this will equate to an increase from 22,137 to 
37,358 people by 204623 and this will result in an increase in demand 
for specialist retirement housing of an additional 3,933 dwellings by 
2046.  
 
“Across the whole of Breckland in 2020, there is an unmet need for 504 
units of extra care housing (comprising 60 units for rent and 444 units 
for sale or shared ownership) and 1,300 units of sheltered housing 
(comprising -28 units (an oversupply) for rent and 1,328 units for sale 
or shared ownership)” 25 
 

 Custom and Self Build 
 

4.35 Self-build and custom housebuilding cover a wide spectrum; from 
projects where individuals are involved in building or managing the 
construction of their home from beginning to end, to projects where 
individuals commission their home, making key design and layout 
decisions, but the home is built ready for occupation (‘turnkey’). 
 

4.36 There are currently 505 individuals but no groups on the custom/self-
build register for the District with 80% of these claiming to have a 
connection to the District i.e. live, work or have family in Breckland. 
 

 PROVIDING THE RIGHT TYPES OF HOMES: THE OPTIONS 
 

Question 17: Do you have any views on the particular types of homes which 
are required in your locality? Please explain here. 
 
Question 18: Would you support the allocation of site or policies that would 
allow for the development of the following types of housing where a local need 
or connection could be identified? Y/N  

Please state which and why 

 Housing solely for Build to Rent 

                                                           
23study of demand for specialist retirement housing and accessible housing for older people in  Norfolk March 2022 

47



  

27 
 

 that provides specialist accommodation for a group of people with 
specific needs (such as purpose-built accommodation for service 
families, the elderly or students); 

 to be developed by people who wish to build or commission their own 
homes; or 

 is exclusively for affordable housing, an entry-level exception site or a 
rural exception site 

 PROVISION OF PITCHES FOR GYPSIES, TRAVELLERS, AND 
TRAVELLING SHOW PEOPLE: THE ISSUES 
 

4.37 It is a Government requirement for Councils to make provision for all 
people requiring housing. This includes meeting the needs of Gypsies 
and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople. Government advice says 
that councils have to ensure that through their plan making process, 
sites are identified for Gypsies and Travellers to meet any 
requirements, which have been identified in an accommodation needs 
assessment. The Council will commission a study on the additional 
pitches needed for Breckland. If there is an identified need for 
permanent residential and/or transit pitches for gypsies, travellers and 
travelling show people, then we would need to consider how this is 
met. 
 

4.38 Government policy does not advise on the most appropriate design 
solution that would be considered conducive in providing an 
appropriate living environment for the Gypsy or Traveller community. 
The DCLG Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites: Good Practice Guides 
(2008), which has been withdrawn, does not provide specific guidance 
on minimum site size thresholds. The guidance does contain 
information relating to site design requirements and indicates that 0.2 
hectares can be used as a minimum size threshold which would 
accommodate approximately 4 pitches. These thresholds include 
capacity for the delivery of private pitches and the associated shared 
facilities.  
 

4.39 Selecting the right location for a site is a key element in supporting 
good community relations and maximising its success. As with any 
other form of housing, poorly located sites, with no easy access to 
major roads or public transport services, will have a detrimental effect 
on the ability of residents to 

 • Seek or retain employment  

• Attend school, further education or training  

• Obtain access to health services and shopping facilities. 

 

48



  

28 
 

4.40 In determining site sizes, consideration needs to be given to the need 
to: 

 Provide sufficient sites to allow those who wish to live together in 
groups and those who wish to live separately from other groups. 

 Ensure site size will take into account the specific site 
circumstances, including the surrounding population and 
density. 

 Consider the effect of family make up and potential family 
growth on site size options to prevent overcrowding and 
potential displacement. 

 PROVISION OF PITCHES FOR GYPSIES, TRAVELLERS, AND 
TRAVELLING SHOW PEOPLE: THE OPTIONS 
 

Question 19: What parts of the District should be considered for this type of 
development? 
 
Should sites be included as part of any future allocations for housing? 
 
Are you aware of any suitable sites in Breckland?  
 
What size sites do you consider to be the most appropriate? 
 
Please provide information? 
 
 INTERNAL AND EXTERMAL SPACE STANDARDS: THE ISSUES 

 
4.41 The NPPF requires that new development contributes to ‘sustainable 

development’. It defines sustainable development in terms of 
economic, social and environmental dimensions. It supports ‘strong, 
vibrant and healthy communities’ (para 8), and in paragraph 119 states 
that planning policies and decisions should promote an effective use of 
land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding 
and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living 
conditions24. The Council considers that access to adequate private 
outdoor space can play an important role in the physical and mental 
health and wellbeing of people. Access to daylight, fresh air, space to 
dry washing, to socialise, to play in, to enjoy wildlife and a place to 
grow plants/vegetables etc can add significantly to the quality of life of 
residents of all ages. The Council is therefore keen to ensure, that in a 
place like Breckland, which is characterised predominantly by its 
suburban and rural areas, that all new residents are provided with such 
opportunities to support healthy communities. The new plan could 
consider including a policy that proposes minimum external space 
standards. 
 

                                                           
24 NPPF 

49



  

29 
 

4.42 The NPPF states that planning policies for housing should make use of 
the Government’s optional nationally described space standard and 
technical standards for accessible and adaptable housing, where this 
would address an identified need for such properties. The current 
nationally described space standard was set by the government in 
2015. It is important to note that the nationally described space 
standard is for local authorities to decide whether or not to adopt. This 
decision is based on a number of considerations. Planning Policy 
Guidance recommends that local councils take the following factors 
into account when determining whether or not to adopt the space 
standard:  

 Need: assessing the size and type of what is currently being 
built in the area, to ensure that the impacts of adopting the 
standard are properly understood; 

 Viability: looking at the potential impact of adoption on housing 
supply and affordability; and 

 Timing: investigating whether or not there should be a transition 
period following policy adoption, so that the impacts can be 
factored into future land acquisitions. 

4.43 Following Government consultation in 2020, it is intended that all new 
dwellings in future should meet the accessibility standards as outlined 
in Building regulations M4(2) as a minimum mandatory requirement. 
Based on current evidence, the need for M4(3) dwellings in Breckland 
as a proportion of the annual housing target would be 8%. 
 

 M4 (2) housing is accessible and adaptable housing which allows 
reasonable access for disabled and older people and for 
adaptations to be made as needs change over time. 

 

 M4 (3) is housing for wheelchair use which includes that easy 
access to the building and surrounding curtilage for a wheelchair 
user, key parts of the accommodation are wheelchair adaptable 
e.g., kitchens lowered, wide doors, access to WC and bathrooms 
and low wall mounted plugs and sockets 25  

 
 INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL SPACE STANDARDS: THE OPTIONS 

 
Question 20: Which criteria do you think is the most important when 
considering development? Please rank (1) for most important and (5) for least 
important 

1. The provision of sufficient affordable housing to meet Breckland’s 
housing needs 

                                                           
25 Part M4 Building Regs 2015 with 2016 amendments   

 

50



  

30 
 

2. The provision of sufficient retirement housing to meet Breckland’s 
housing needs 

3. Raising standards of design in the District  
4. Meeting the challenges of climate change 
5. Protecting and Enhancing the Environment including green space, 

biodiversity, river and air quality 

Please explain your answer 
 
Question 21: Do you think the Plan should include locally evidenced based 
accessibility standards that require higher standards than those required by 
Part M4 of the Building Regulations? 
 
Do you think the Plan should set minimum standards for outdoor amenity 
space for new housing? Y/N 
 
If so what should these be? 
 
5 THE ECONOMY: THE ISSUES 

 
5.1  Breckland’s size and dispersed nature presents a significant challenge 

in delivering balanced economic growth. There are less prosperous 
pockets in parts of the District that require better investment and 
improved accessibility to opportunities in the towns. Breckland is 
strategically well placed for economic growth due to its location on the 
Cambridge – Norwich Tech corridor with train links to Ely, Cambridge 
and the Midlands and the key road links of the A11 and A47. 
 

5.2 The A11 Tech Corridor is important for the region as it is predicted to 
grow employment by 40% particularly in the advanced manufacturing 
and engineering sector but also in energy, ICT, life sciences and 
logistics. Attleborough, Snetterton and Thetford are perfectly situated 
along the A11 Corridor and are able to offer significantly lower property 
values to businesses than the overheated commercial property market 
of Cambridge. They also provide easy access to Europe through 
Felixstowe, Stansted, and Norwich airports as well as the research and 
development opportunities at Hethel, Norwich Research Park and links 
to Cambridge University and the University of East Anglia.26  
 

5.3 The A47 links the increasingly important port of Great Yarmouth to the 
Midlands and beyond and the scheduled road improvements of the 
dualling of the A47 and Norwich Western Link road (NWL) will boost 
the economies of Dereham and Swaffham. 
 

5.4 The Council is currently commissioning a Housing and Economic 
Development Assessment which will further inform the Economic 
Policies for the District. In March 2021 a major new initiative to support 

                                                           
26 A11 Growth Corridor Feasibility Study. Delivering the Economic Growth Potential of the A11 corridor Bruton 

Knowles 

51



  

31 
 

the long-term success of Breckland began. ‘Future Breckland: Thriving 
People & Places’ provides a robust evidence base through extensive 
research and engagement and presents a compelling shared vision for 
the future of the district. Focusing on the five market towns, 
Attleborough, Dereham, Swaffham, Thetford and Watton, the project 
has identified significant, deliverable, and transformational projects that 
will benefit the whole district. This shared vision and future proofing will 
allow Breckland Council and its partners to leverage new external 
funding and direct our shared resources in a more effective way.  

 
 Employment Statistics for Breckland 

 
5.5 In Breckland there is very low unemployment at only 3.2%, which is 

lower than the average for the rest of Britain. Wages are still lower than 
the rest of Britain by 15% and education qualifications are lower than 
the average elsewhere in the country with only 28.5% being qualified to 
NVQ4+ level compared to the average of 43.5% for the rest of the 
country and 39.6% in the East of England. The proportion of people 
engaged in higher quality occupations is on par with the rest of the 
country with 48.5% of working people in managerial, professional, and 
associate professional roles and with more skilled trades at 12.7% 
compared to 8.8% across the rest of the country, however, many 
commute out of the district for this higher quality and/or income 
employment. Unskilled work is proportionally higher at 8.8% compared 
to 5.5%.27 The feedback from residents in the Future Breckland Project 
was that opportunities were being held back by low wages, low quality 
jobs and low skilled labour force.28 

 
 Key Employment Sectors 

 
5.6 The top employment sectors in the district are manufacturing, retail, 

health, business administration and education. Breckland has the 
highest proportion of people employed in manufacturing of the county's 
districts, at 16.1 per cent. This compares with the county rate of 10.7 
per cent. 

 Agriculture, forestry and fishing is a more dominant employee 
sector in Breckland than it is in Norfolk overall, employing 4.6 
per cent across the district compared with the 2.8 per 
cent average within the county.18Both wholesale and transport 
and storage are more dominant employment sectors in 
Breckland than they are in any of the other Norfolk districts, or 
regionally and nationally. The combined sectors employ 11 per 
cent of people in the district, a third higher than their combined 
proportions at county level, a tenth higher than at regional level 
and 16 per cent more than the national proportions18. 

                                                           
27 NOMIS Official Census and Labour Market Statistics  
28 Future Breckland 

52



  

32 
 

 The most dominant sector in terms of local units is construction, 
with 15 per cent of local units in the district. Other dominant 
sectors include retail (10.8 per cent) and professional, scientific, 
and technical (10.6 per cent).31  

 The proportion of businesses in Breckland employing 10 or 
fewer people is 86.4 per cent. The proportion of businesses in 
Breckland employing less than 50 people is currently 97.4 per 
cent. 2.6 per cent of businesses in the district employ 50 or more 
people. This proportion is higher than Broadland, North Norfolk 
and South Norfolk.29 

 Breckland district's economic activity rate is 82.3 per 
cent compared to 80.2 per cent regionally and 77.7 per cent in 
England as a whole.30 

 
 Economic Growth Strategy 

 
5.7 Economic development is Closely linked to housing growth, it is widely 

recognised that the local economy has the potential to provide 
sufficient jobs to support the level of required housing growth. On the 
other hand jobs growth will also depend on housing growth. Jobs and 
employment potential should be the key priorities when considering 
any form of development, especially rural development. A fine balance 
will need to be achieved between job growth and housing growth. If 
housing growth cannot match the level of job growth, the job market 
will be constrained or it will lead to higher in-commuting from beyond 
the district thus being unsustainable. Vice versa, if there are not 
enough jobs for local workforce, then the area may suffer from a higher 
unemployment rate or unsustainable commuting beyond the district. 
Through the development of its evidence base the Council will be 
exploring different growth scenarios including different levels of both 
housing and economic growth. For example, this will examine the 
economic growth needed to sustain an increase in housing need 
based on the current minimum 672 dwellings per annum requirement 
as well as higher growth scenarios.   
   

5.8 The current local plan seeks to deliver 64 Hectares of employment land 
over the plan period. This is concentrated on sites in Dereham, 
Swaffham, Attleborough, Snetteron and Thetford. This increase in 
employment provides a balanced approach across the District over the 
plan period.  
 

5.9 According to ONS research published in June 2022, the proportion of 
adults working from home has increased to 37% with work-life balance 
being cited as a main benefit. However, of those currently 
homeworking 85% stated that they wanted to use a “hybrid” approach 
of both home and office working. Research also showed that 24% of 

                                                           
29 Invest Breckland  
30 Norfolk Insight  

53



  

33 
 

businesses intend to increase homeworking going forward. 31 Due to 
homeworking trend, there has been an increase in areas such as 
coffee shops becoming unofficial offices “the coffice” with free wifi, 
warmth, company and caffeine on tap, this has led to café-style 
businesses including community centres adapting to benefit from this 
trend.32 
 
 

 THE ECONOMY: THE OPTIONS  
 

Question 22: Should the Council plan for the minimum economic growth needs 
required to meet the minimum increase in housing need or seek to increase or 
maximise inward investment and local employment opportunities by planning 
for across the plan period? 
 
Question 23: Do you agree with the current approach of concentrating 
industrial space in the market towns and Snetterton? Y/N Please explain your 
response 
 
Question 24: Are there any other locations which should be considered for 
industrial space? Please state which ones and why? 
 
Question 25: Considering the trends in working and the rural nature of the 
district, do you think our policies on types of office space and location should 
be different Y/N.  

 
Question 26: Do you have any suggestions on the location and types of office 
space which should be provided in the district? 
 
 How to attract businesses to Breckland? 

 
5.10 In the A11 Growth Feasibility study33 it states the following criteria are 

used by businesses when considering relocation. In the recent Future 
Breckland report34 many of the same criteria were identified as lacking 
in our market towns. The Plan could seek to align these criteria and 
aspirations with the spatial strategy.  
 

Question 27: From the criteria below please rank which ones you think are the 
most important in attracting high quality employment to the area (1) being 
most important and (10) least important. 

1. Improve digital connectivity across the district. Breckland has some of 
the lowest average download speeds 0 to 26mbps compared to Norwich 
which has 44 to 55+mbps 

2. Improve road and rail connectivity across the district  

                                                           
31 Home working in the UK- Regional Patterns 2019 to 2021 
32 BBC Worklife Report  
33 A11 Growth Corridor Feasibility Study - https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/13748/A11-Growth-Corridor-

Feasibility-Study/pdf/A11_Growth_Corridor___Feasibility_Study.pdf?m=637520996326530000 
 
34 Future Breckland Future Breckland - Breckland Council 

54

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/13748/A11-Growth-Corridor-Feasibility-Study/pdf/A11_Growth_Corridor___Feasibility_Study.pdf?m=637520996326530000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/13748/A11-Growth-Corridor-Feasibility-Study/pdf/A11_Growth_Corridor___Feasibility_Study.pdf?m=637520996326530000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Future-Breckland


  

34 
 

3. Improve public transport connectivity of rural areas to market towns and 
between market towns 

4. Improve active travel connectivity around market towns (cycle/walkways) 
5. More flexible office space and industrial space in our market towns  
6. Better access to higher education and vocational training in Breckland to 

increase skills levels 
7. More facilities for meeting and socialising in town centres 
8. Proximity of employment to housing 
9. More leisure facilities within town centres 
10. Other please specify 

 
Please provide any additional comments 
 
Question 28: Do you have any other comments with regards your answers or 
further suggestions on how Breckland can attract more businesses to the 
area? 
 
 The Rural Economy: Agricultural Development and 

Diversification: The Issues 
 

5.11 The Breckland landscape is largely shaped by farming and land 
management  practices and these make a significant contribution to 
the district's economy.  It encompasses a range of businesses 
particularly in industrial, agricultural, tourism and service sectors.  
 

5.12 Agriculture is a significant part of Breckland’s economy and is important 
in protecting UK food production. Local agricultural production, 
processing and sale helps to reduce food miles and maintains the 
working character of the countryside. Well-managed, active farming is 
also a cost-effective means of achieving environmental and landscape 
management objectives.  
 

5.13 It is recognised that Breckland has large areas of the best and most 
versatile agricultural land which is of high value for food production and 
in most cases agricultural activity should be retained on those higher 
quality soils. Therefore, when considering the sustainability of a 
development proposal, the value of the land for agriculture will be 
considered and areas of high grade agricultural land should preferably 
be avoided. The importance of wildlife habitats will also be considered 
and increased recreational use should only be facilitated where no 
significant environmental damage will result. 
 

5.14 Agricultural production has intensified over many years as the world 
population has grown and continues to grow, requiring more food, 
changes to consumption habits requiring better quality, higher protein 
diets in developing countries and more diverse and any time vegetable 
produce. The Russian Invasion has brought food production into focus 
with an increasing desire to be more self-sufficient and less reliant on 
grain from Russia and the Ukraine. However, further intensification 
impacts on the environment by increased waste in supply chains 

55



  

35 
 

affecting wildlife habitats, water and air quality, furthermore it puts 
pressure on rural roads with large agricultural machinery. 
 

5.15 Some farmers may need to diversify their activities to ensure the 
continued economic viability of their farm enterprise. Farm 
diversification schemes should bring long-term benefits, including 
employment, to individual farm operations and the wider rural 
economy. Farm diversification schemes may consist of non-agricultural 
commercial activity, schemes relating to new forms of agriculture or 
food processing of crops produced on the farm enterprise, however, 
agricultural operations should remain the dominant land use. Well-
conceived farm diversification projects will be of an appropriate scale 
for the location and fit into the landscape. A proposal for a farm shop 
will be assessed to ensure that it is intended to be a genuine retail 
outlet for goods produced on the holding or a group of local holdings; 
conditions will be applied to limit the type of goods sold and the 
proportion of externally sourced goods.  
 

5.16 Diversification will, in most cases, involve changing the use of land and/ 
or re-using (or redeveloping) existing buildings. All opportunities to 
reuse existing buildings should be explored before redevelopment or 
new build may be justified particularly where redevelopment of a 
building of historic or architectural value is proposed. Development on 
new sites will be discouraged unless it enables the clearance and 
replacement of a badly-sited or inappropriate structure or is small in 
scale and carried out in an exceptionally environmentally sensitive 
manner.  
 

5.17 Agricultural buildings generally do not require planning permission and 
therefore the policy is not directed at them. The Council is supportive of 
farm diversification schemes that are being promoted on a 
comprehensive basis to retain a viable agricultural unit by seeking 
additional incomes from other sources which still relate to the 
countryside.  
 

5.18 Most agricultural operations are either not classed as development or 
are permitted without the need for formal planning permission. 
However, above certain thresholds, some farm buildings and structures 
do require consent because of their size and potential environmental 
impact. The role for planning policy is to help farmers and land 
managers find the best locations, designs, materials and solutions to 
meet their operational requirements but with the least harmful impact 
on the special qualities of the area. This is usually successful, and 
most farm businesses are able to develop a range of buildings and 
structures to undertake their modern operational requirements.  
 

5.19 Across the District there will be a continued demand for land for 
development as a result of population and societal changes. This will 
place pressures on non-protected and agricultural land resulting in soil 
loss and damage. Nevertheless, there is a need to consider the 

56



  

36 
 

biodiversity values of brownfield sites as some have higher biodiversity 
levels than some agricultural land. It is likely that there will be an 
increased loss of open spaces within the built environment resulting 
from development pressures including requirements for high density 
housing. At the same time, it is likely that there will be an increased 
demand for allotments and community growing areas as a means for 
ensuring communities become more self-sufficient in food production.  
 

5.20 The need to ensure food security and supply will increase the demand 
for land for food production. This will result in soil becoming a more 
important issue as land is used for other purposes. It is likely that 
agricultural intensification will occur not only as demand for 
development land continues, but as a result of land being taken out of 
food production to enable biofuels to be grown. This will lead to an 
increased risk of erosion and pollution. 
 

5.21 There are a number of ways the Local Plan could help to promote 
Breckland’s rural economy. The current local plan has policies for farm 
diversification EC06, which in summary allows for appropriate 
diversification. The Plan will need to consider whether a greater 
relaxation of controls of business in rural areas is appropriate or not 
and to balance the potential economic benefit versus any potential 
environmental / sustainability cost. 

The Council could investigate some or all the following options:  
 

o Option A: Continued support for the reuse of rural buildings to 
encourage new places for work including those unconnected to 
the farm holdings business 

 
o Option B: Extend the policies around farm diversification to 

include all types of rural businesses regardless of their 
connection to the original business e.g., farm shops, glamping, 
employment connected to ecoservice provision e.g., ecologists, 
small artisan businesses 

 
o Option C: Promoting improvements to communications 

infrastructure, such as better broadband and better public 
transport connectivity between rural areas and market towns 

 
o Option D: Including planning policies for the support and 

development of key sectors such as tourism 
 
o Option E: Support more work/ home space- shared office 

space. 
 

 
5.22 The NPPF states that policies should enable: 

 

57



  

37 
 

a. the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in 
rural areas, both through conversion of existing buildings and 
well-designed new buildings; 

b. the development and diversification of agricultural and other 
land-based rural businesses; 

c. sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments which 
respect the character of the countryside; and 

d. the retention and development of accessible local services and 
community facilities, such as local shops, meeting places, sports 
venues, open space, cultural buildings, public houses and 
places of worship. 

 
It also considers that appropriate and sensitively planned sites to meet 
local business and community needs in rural areas may have to be 
found adjacent to or beyond existing settlements, and in locations that 
are not well served by public transport.  
 

Question 29: Which, if any, of the above options do you think the Plan should 
seek to include?   
 
Question 30: Should the Council adopt a more flexible approach towards 
allowing appropriate economic development in the rural areas by allocating 
sites or through positive enabling policies? 
 
Question 31: Are there any alternative options you think should be considered?  
 
 RETAIL- ADAPTING OUR HIGH STREETS AND RETAIL AREAS: 

THE ISSUES 
 

5.23 Town centres are the heart of the community and provide for a range of 
community, shopping, employment, and leisure uses. They are also 
popular places to live as well as key transport and service hubs for 
their rural hinterlands. The council also recognises the importance of 
retail development in contribution to sustainable development, 
consumer choice, helping to retain expenditure in local communities 
and reducing the need to travel.  
 

 The Retail Hierarchy 
 

5.24 National policy requires that development plans establish a hierarchy of 
centres in the District, and that new development is proportionate with 
the position of the centre in the retail hierarchy. The retail hierarchy in 
the current local plan is as follows and reflects the amount of 
convenience, comparison retail and food and beverage space required 
in each town with Thetford expecting the most high-street growth and 
Swaffham & Watton the least followed by the service centre villages 
 

 Thetford Key centre for development and change with significant 
growth. 

58



  

38 
 

 Dereham Main Centre and Administrative Centre serving mid-
Norfolk 

 Attleborough Medium Town Centre for substantial growth, 
serving a wide rural catchment 

 Swaffham and Watton Medium Town Centre providing a range 
of services for local residents and their rural catchments 

 Service Centre Villages -provide for basic or everyday local 
needs for their immediate rural catchment 

 
 

5.25 The Local Plan seeks to maintain and enhance the vitality and viability 
of the five main town centres in Breckland and maintain the local 
shopping facilities within smaller villages. The strategy is to focus retail 
and leisure development within town centres in the primary shopping 
areas and restrict retail and leisure development outside these defined 
centres where it fails the sequential and /or impact tests, except where 
it serves a local need in a smaller village. The current boundaries are in 
the Local Plan (https://www.breckland.gov.uk/local-plan/adoption )  
 

Question 32: Do you think that the retail hierarchy and defined town centre 
boundaries reflect the proposed role and function of each of the towns in 
Breckland? Y/N.  
 
Do you have any suggestions for changes to the hierarchy or boundaries? 
 
 Future Challenges for Town Centres 

 
5.26 Our market towns face considerable future challenges including the 

growth of online shopping, changing social habits, shift in consumer 
expectations, collapse in multiples, rise of out-of-town shopping and 
rising business units, coupled with the impact of COVID and more 
recently the increase in energy costs leading to inflation and the cost-
of-living crisis. 
 

5.27 The following findings came out of the Future Breckland35 work: 
 

 The positive benefits of a weekly market as seen in 
Dereham, Swaffham and Watton 

 The increase in town centre vacancy rates across the District 
but particularly in Swaffham and Watton and most strongly in 
comparison retail stores (Norfolk Market Town Centre Report 
2021)36 

 There is a requirement for a broader demographic of quality 
places for people to meet to relax, unwind, and socialise so 
people spend longer time in the market towns. There is 
particularly a lack of evening venues e.g., restaurants, bars 
etc  

                                                           
35 Future Breckland 
36 Norfolk Market Town Centre Report 2021  

59

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/local-plan/adoption


  

39 
 

 There is an increase in charity shops in many of Breckland’s 
market towns which can provide a variety of goods and 
sustainable consumerism benefits, but too many charity 
shops can detract from the attractiveness of the town centre 
and reduce the opportunities in premises for cafes, 
restaurants, and other retail/leisure provisions.  

 There are a large number of low-quality retail chain stores 
“rather than facilities, services, activities and experiences 
that the modern consumers demand.”24 

 Many of our market towns provide for wider rural hinterlands 
for example 200,000 people live within 20km of Thetford and 
nearby visitor attraction of Thetford Forest.  

 Lack of attractive green space in market town centres 

 Too much traffic and untidy car parking provision in market 
town centres 

 Not enough cycling and walking routes within our market 
town centres  

 Lack of residential dwellings within town centres 
 

Question 33: Which of the following approaches do you believe would most 
enhance market town centres? Please rank in importance (1) being most 
important to (11) least important 

1. Increase in after 6pm venues in our market towns  
2. Increase in restaurants, cafes and meeting spaces for businesses and 

visitors in market towns 
3. Less traffic within market towns 
4. More quality green space in our market towns 
5. More cycling and walking routes within our market towns 
6. More convenience shops in our market towns 
7. More comparison retail shops in our market towns (comparison 

goods are products which are usually higher value and purchased 
infrequently, such as vehicles, household goods or clothing)  

8. Better transport links to the market towns from the rural hinterlands 
9. A weekly market 
10. Restrictions on conversions of retail units into residential dwellings 
11. More residential dwellings mixed with commercial premises within 

our town centres 
 

Please provide your ranking and comments below 
 
6 ASSETS OF COMMUNITY VALUE: THE ISSUES  

 
6.1 The Assets of Community Value Regulations 201237 enables 

communities to nominate buildings and other assets within their locality 
for the purpose of furthering the social wellbeing or social interests of 
the community. This allows communities to put in a bid to purchase the 
asset if sold, although it does not give them first refusal. With regards 
to protecting valued facilities such as rural public houses, services and 

                                                           
37 Assets of Community Value Regulations 2021 Legislation.gov 

60



  

40 
 

local shops, the Council could develop policies to assist along the lines 
of a sustained period of marketing, no longer any demonstrable need 
for the use and viability reasons. Any policies would have to retain an 
element of flexibility to be in accord with the NPPF as a whole, and any 
policies would have to ensure that redevelopment or change of use 
remained possible subject to a set of criteria being met. 
 

 ASSETS OF COMMUNITY VALUE: THE OPTIONS  
 

Question 34: Do you think the Council should develop policies towards 
providing greater protection for the rural community facilities such as public 
houses and local shops and valued facilities?  
 
7 THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT: THE ISSUES 

 
7.1 Breckland’s built environment has been influenced by several different 

but inter-related social, economic, and environmental factors. These 
include the character of the landscape, availability of materials, the 
original function of the settlement, the economy and national trends or 
fashions in style, materials and construction methods of the time. “Up 
until the 19th century locally available materials influenced methods of 
construction, however during the 19th century improvements in 
industrial processes and transport weakened these local inter-
relationships and by the mid-20th century local vernacular traditions 
had been completely overtaken by national trends and fashions.” 38 

 
7.2  Today, Breckland district still displays many of the characteristics of the 

local vernacular in terms of materials, building forms and methods of 
construction. In some settlements, however, this character has been 
diluted by the scale, form, and characteristics of 20th century 
development. The resulting rural and urban vernacular architectural 
character is varied but is also more subtle and fragile than other places 
across the country where the character is highly distinctive and 
consistent.36 

 
7.3 Breckland District Council has commissioned consultants who will 

develop a Breckland District Design Guide based on the work from 
Breckland District Landscape and Settlement Character Study36, 
Future Breckland work39 and the Norfolk Strategic Planning 
Framework (NSPF) Climate Change Topic Paper40. Public consultation 
will be an essential part of this work and will allow residents to provide 
input on how they would like future development to be designed in their 
localities. The Design Guide will also inform the local plan on its design 
policies. 
 

                                                           
38 Breckland Landscape and Settlement Character Assessment April 2022 
39 Future Breckland 
40 NSPF Climate Change Topic Paper 

61



  

41 
 

7.4 National planning policy recognises that achieving high quality places 
and buildings through good design is an integral part of good planning 
and the design policies in National Planning Policy Framework were 
strengthened to further these aims with Chapter 12 emphasising the 
need to create beautiful places which reflect local aspirations and are 
grounded in an understanding and evaluation of each area’s defining 
characteristics, with a mandatory requirement for local authorities to 
prepare design guides for their areas. To support the commitment to 
good design, the government has also adopted the National Design 
Guide and its ten principles for good design and the National Model 
Design Code, which describes the process of developing design guides 
and codes. 
 

 Health and Wellbeing: The Issues 
 

7.5 There are many influences upon people’s health and wellbeing. Some, 
such as old age cannot be changed, but there are other features, 
including the design of our neighbourhoods, homes, places of work, 
streets and open space that can all help to support good mental and 
physical health. National planning policy is clear that the planning 
system should promote healthy communities and this theme runs 
throughout this document. 
 

7.6 Well-designed neighbourhoods reduce social isolation by greater 
social interaction, encourages physical exercise with good walking and 
cycling routes, improves mental health with access to good quality 
green space and prevents crime with neighbourhood surveillance.   
 

7.7 The quality of our homes in the provision of good amount of space, 
daylight, privacy and comfort can be achieved by considering the 
layout, orientation and room sizes, which also provide health and well-
being benefits.  
 

7.8 The most recent principles of best practice in planning for health and 
wellbeing are contained in the NHS sponsored ‘Building for a Healthy 
Life41 and the 12 principles are summarised below. Within this 
guidance is a traffic light scoring system used for evaluating a 
development against these 12 principles.  
 

1. Natural Connections - well integrated places into their wider 
natural and built surroundings.  

2. Walking Cycling and Public Transport- Integrate into design 
the ability to make short trips (up to 3 miles) by bicycle or on 
foot. 

3. Facilities and Services- Provision of social and recreational 
opportunities in walking and cycling distance from homes. 

4. Homes for everyone- Provision of a range of homes, mixture of 
tenures and types which meet the needs of the community 

                                                           
41 Building for a Healthy Life 

62

https://gov.uk/government/publications/%20national-design-guide
https://gov.uk/government/publications/%20national-design-guide


  

42 
 

5. Making the Most of What’s There: Understand a site and 
Identify opportunities. 

6. A Memorable Character- Create a locally inspired place with 
distinctive character  

7. Well defined streets and spaces- Create a network of streets 
which are enclosed by buildings or structural landscaping and 
ensure front doors face streets and public spaces 

8. Easy to Find your Way Around- Legible features in streets for 
orientation 

9. Healthy Streets- Movement of vehicles are balanced with the 
movement of people 

10. Cycle and Car Parking- Attractive streets which encourage 
walking. Integrated car parking 

11. Green and Blue Infrastructure- Create green and blue spaces 
which residents can interact with 

12. Back of Pavement, Front of Home- Clear demarcation 
between public and private spaces. Encourage personalisation 
of private space 

 
7.9 Some Local authorities have incorporated these principles into their 

Local Plans as a means of evaluating the success of their 
development. 
 

 Health and Wellbeing: The Options 
 

Question 35: Do you think the Building for a Healthy Life approach to design 
should be incorporated into the Design Guide and the Local Plan’s design 
policies as a means of evaluating the success of development? 
 
Question 36: Can you suggest any other ways to evaluate the success of new 
development? 
 
Question 37: Besides local preferences, the local character, climate change 
and health and wellbeing, is there anything else that should be considered in 
Breckland’s Design Policies?  
 
7.10 There will be further opportunities to express your views on design 

during the development of the Breckland Design Guide. 
 

 Preserving and Enhancing our Heritage Assets: The Issues  
 

7.11 Our built heritage is part of the character of Breckland and preserving 
our heritage is an important part of planning that has many benefits for 
culture, wellbeing, the economy and in creating a more unique sense 
of place. 
 

7.12 The NPPF states that plans should set out a positive strategy for the 
conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment, including 
heritage assets most at risk through neglect, decay or other threats. 
This strategy should take into account:  

63



  

43 
 

a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of 
heritage assets, and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation;  
b) the wider social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits that 
conservation of the historic environment can bring;  
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to 
local character and distinctiveness; and  
d) opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic 
environment to the character of a place. 
 

7.13 There are many pressures on heritage assets to modernise or 
demolish historic buildings, change their uses, develop within heritage 
conservation areas, and remove landscaping. Given the irreplaceable 
contribution heritage assets make the government makes it clear that it 
is important that heritage assets and their settings are preserved or 
enhanced as a reminder of the history and evolution of the area. 
 

7.14 The Council realises the importance of Breckland’s heritage and in 
March 2021 worked with Historic England on developing a Heritage 
Action Zone (HSHAZ) programme for Swaffham aiming to revitalise 
Swaffham’s high street and maximize the potential of local character 
and natural assets. The project includes a town centre improvement 
masterplan, reappraisal of the town centre’s conservation area and a 
building improvement scheme.42 
 

7.15 Development that takes place outside settlements or in the wider 
landscape can introduce urban elements into a predominantly rural 
landscape, risking the loss of local landscape features such as trees, 
field ponds and hedgerow patterns. Additionally, development can 
threaten the function of the landscape, undiscovered or un-designated 
heritage assets and can be a threat to biodiversity. Overall, such 
development is likely to change the character of the landscape. 
 

 Preserving and Enhancing our Heritage Assets: The Options  
 

Question 38: Do you think there are non-designated sites in your locality which 
require protection through local policy? Please state which. 
 
Question 39 Do you think the council should introduce special controls that 
prevent the demolition of non-designated, locally important heritage assets? 
Y/N 
 
Question 40: Do you think the Plan should refresh and update local policy 
further in line with the NPPF including a strategic policy for the conservation 
and enhancement of the built and historic environment including resourcing 
and updating the historic environment evidence base including conservation 
area management plans and appraisals and identified assets of local historic 
importance? 

                                                           
42 Swaffham HAZ project  

64



  

44 
 

 
8 THE NATURAL ENVIRONMENT 

 
 Protection of Habitats and Species: The Issues 

 
8.1 Breckland is a diverse district for biodiversity, geodiversity, and 

landscape qualities. The District is characterised by mixed landscape 
characters of settled and plateau farmland to the north. The landscape 
changes to the west and south of the district, where the Brecks 
contains extensive areas of heathland within a forest and arable 
context. A significant proportion of the Brecks is designated a protected 
site, forming the largest terrestrial protected area in Norfolk. The region 
is a biodiversity hotspot, supporting an extraordinary assemblage of 
rare and threatened species, some of which are found nowhere else on 
Earth. The heathland serves as an important habitat for internationally 
important bird species, particularly Stone Curlew, Woodlark and 
Nightjar as well as over 100 species of rare plants e.g., the prostrate 
perennial knawel which exists only in The Brecks along with other 
unique animals such as the Wormwood Moonshiner beetle and 
Oxyptila Scabricular spider.43  
 

8.2 Breckland contains a wealth of other protected areas such as 
Redgrave and South Lopham Fen which is one of only four sites within 
Norfolk designated under the Ramsar Convention of Wetlands of 
International Importance. Breckland is also home to four sites of 
international importance for biodiversity known as Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) which are the most important wildlife sites in the 
country. These are the Norfolk Valley Fens, River Wensum and 
Waveney and Little Ouse Valley Fens. Within Breckland, there are 
three Local Nature Reserves (LNR), at Litcham Common (area of 
varied heathland), Great Eastern Pingo trail situated between Stow 
Bedon and Hockham (a mix of wetlands, woodlands, and grasslands) 
and grass heathland at Barnham Cross Common in Thetford. The latter 
is also designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), SAC 
and located within the Breckland Special Protection Area (SPA). 
 

8.3 Parts of the district are characterised by river valleys including the 
Wensum, Norfolk Valley Fens, Waveney and the Little Ouse Valley 
Fens which have extensive areas of wetland habitats, comprised 
mainly of grazing marsh with areas of fenland reedbed. Many of these 
rivers are chalk streams   and protected habitat sites and identified as a 
SAC. Furthermore, the district contains arable landscape features 
comprising of distinctive Scots Pine Shelterbelts, hedgerows, copses 
and field margins. These features are key components of the ecological 
network at a local scale, and collectively they amount to a significant 
biodiversity resource. 
 

                                                           
43 Shifting Sands- Back from  the Brink Natural England  

65



  

45 
 

8.4 The environment has taken on a greater importance in national policy 
with the passing of the Environment Bill in November 202144, which 
introduced legally binding targets for air quality, waste and resource 
efficiency, water and nature, the creation of local recovery strategies, a 
mandatory 10% Biodiversity Net Gain and the new Office of 
Environmental Protection. 
 

8.5 There are substantial pressures on Breckland’s protected sites and 
these include: climate change, water and air pollution, impact of 
development itself including an increase in visitor pressures and the 
scarcity of resources such as water and soil nutrients. Currently, there 
are policies to help alleviate these pressures e.g., policy ENV03 in the 
Local Plan which identifies 1500m development buffer zone around the 
Brecks SPA to support Stone Curlew populations and 400m buffer 
zone for Woodlark and Nightjar populations with a requirement for a 
Habitat Regulation Assessment to be conducted on any development 
in proximity of these buffer zones. This was based on research 
conducted in 2011-2015.  The Norfolk Green Infrastructure and 
Recreational Impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy45 also provides 
mitigation against the impact of visitor pressures on the Brecks with 
suggested alternative green infrastructure and a tariff to support onsite 
mitigation schemes. There are also a number of local initiatives such 
as Natural England’s Shifting Sands Back from the Brink Project which 
restores habitat for those species most at risk of extinction and the 
RSPB and EU-Life Project which monitors Stone Curlew Populations. 
 

8.6 The Council will need to ensure the development strategy in the Local 
Plan avoids harm to the protected habitat sites in Breckland and any 
policies will be informed and supported by an up-to-date Habitats 
Regulation Assessment which will review existing policies. 
 

 Protection of Habitats and Species: The Options 
 

Question 41: Considering the sensitivities of The Brecks and particularly the 
smaller other protected sites in Breckland, do you think policies should go 
further to support these protected sites?  
 
Question 42: Do you have any suggestions in how the Council can protect 
these areas even further?  
 
 Biodiversity: The Issues 
8.7 Biodiversity and well-functioning ecosystems are vital to human 

existence, economic prosperity and quality of life. The decline in global 
biodiversity and environmental degradation poses a threat to food 
security, increases the risk of transmission of zoonotic diseases and 
makes areas more vulnerable to flooding. In the Government’s report 

                                                           
44 The Environment Act 2021  
45 The Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational Impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy 

66



  

46 
 

Biodiversity UK Bloom or Bust Report 2020-202146 it states that the 
global picture of devastating decline of Biodiversity is reflected in the 
trends observed in the UK, which is one of the most nature depleted 
countries in the world. Since the 1970s 41% of all UK species 
surveyed have declined, while 15% of species within the UK are said 
to be threatened with extinction. The abundance of the species of 
greatest conservation concern; the UKs priority species have declined 
by 61%. 
 

8.8 The Environment Act47 introduced a mandatory requirement from 
November 2023 that all development must demonstrate a net increase 
in Biodiversity of at least 10% after following the mitigation hierarchy: 
first avoid harm to any habitats on a site, then mitigate for any harm 
caused and finally compensate for any harm caused. An increase in 
biodiversity should be initially sought on site and failing this by the 
purchase of biodiversity net gain credits from a supplier within the 
area. Breckland District Council is currently working with several Eco-
service providers to supply enough credits for development.  There is 
the option for Councils to set Biodiversity provision at a higher 
percentage than 10% 
 

 Biodiversity: The Options 
 

Question 43: Do you consider that a higher biodiversity percentage than the 
statutory minimum of 10% should be delivered by new development in the 
district? 
 
If so what % and give reasons for your answer 
 
 Green Infrastructure: The Issues 

 
8.9 The Council will commission a Habitat Regulation Assessment as part 

of the evidence base for the Local Plan to inform any policies around 
Green Infrastructure. The Norfolk Green Infrastructure and 
Recreational Impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy indicated that 
there were deficiencies in green infrastructure to the Mid and 
Northwest of the District and particularly at Dereham based on the 
ANGSt data (Accessible Natural Greenspace Standard) and the 
Norfolk Green Infrastructure Map. The report put forward opportunities 
for improving green infrastructure at Thetford Loops, River Nar Project 
at Swaffham, additional Forestry England Site at Thetford Forest and 
the Wendling Beck outside Dereham. Additional work is currently being 
carried out by Norfolk County Council  on Local Network Recovery 
Networks which will provide further information about opportunities to 
improve on green infrastructure which will help benefit the recovery 
and enhancement of nature networks across the district. 
 

                                                           
46 Biodiversity UK Bloom or Bust First Report of Session 2020-2021  
47 The Environment Bill 2021  

67



  

47 
 

 Green Infrastructure: The Options 
 

Question 44: Should the Local Plan designate any green infrastructure 
proposals within your local area? If so please indicate where they should be? 
 
 Water Quality: The Issues 

 
8.10 On March 16th Natural England advised Breckland District Council that 

the River Wensum and the Broads SAC were in an “unfavourable 
condition” due to nutrient (nitrogen and phosphorus) pollution. 
Increased nutrients cause eutrophication and the loss of oxygen in the 
water therefore killing native water plants and animals and affecting the 
water quality for people as well.  Nutrient pollution is caused by human 
waste from development, in-efficient wastewater treatment works and 
modern agricultural practices. The poor state of the rivers has led to a 
moratorium on some planning applications within Breckland until 
mitigation measures are in place to curb any further nitrogen and 
phosphorus from development entering the water ways.  
 
 

8.11 A ministerial statement in July this year has proposed via the future 
Levelling Up Bill that a statutory duty is placed on Water Companies to 
ensure that  relevant Wastewater Treatment works are upgraded to 
filter out all nutrient pollutants from development to the highest 
technical achievement, which should alleviate some of the nutrient 
pressures on these protected water ways. Furthermore, Water 
Resources East’s research48 shows that the Eastern region faces a 
gap between supply and demand of water of 750 mega litres of water a 
day, which is further hindered by the reduction in extraction licences. 
This severe water shortage needs to be met by not only increasing 
supply with a new reservoir and desalination plants proposed in the 
region but also for a decrease in water demand from new development. 
Local Plans can introduce policies which can help water quality and 
usage, and Breckland already has policies on a requirement for water 
usage on new development to be 110l per person per dwelling. . Water 
usage and quality policies can be extended further including improved 
use of SUDS on development sites, greater restrictions on water 
consumption in development and restrictions on commercial and 
agricultural development involving livestock. 
 

 Water Quality: The Options 
 

Question 45: Do you think that the Local Plan should introduce specific 
policies including ones around agricultural development to help address 
issues over water quality of our rivers? Y/N. Please explain what these should 
be. 
 

                                                           
48 Water Resources East  

68



  

48 
 

Question 46: Do you think the Local Plan should introduce further policies 
around water usage? Y/N. Please explain what these should be. 
 
 Flooding: The Issues 

 
8.12 Government guidance sets out how the planning system should help 

minimise vulnerability and provide resilience to the impacts of climate 
change. Predicted future rises in sea levels because of climate 
change, combined with the predicted increases in frequency of severe 
rainfall events, make more areas vulnerable to the risk of flooding. Our 
evidence shows that the main types of flooding in the Breckland area 
occur from rivers (fluvial), surface water (pluvial) and groundwater 
flooding. 

8.13 The government sets strict tests to protect people and property from 
flooding with a general approach of directing development into the 
areas at lowest risk from flooding. However, exemptions can exist and 
strategic policies in Local Plans are expected to be informed by 
strategic flood risk assessment, considering the cumulative impacts in 
local areas susceptible to flooding.  We will be producing a new 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment for the area  
 

8.14 The impacts of flooding are likely to be increased by climate change. 
The Local Plan can provide an opportunity to reduce surface water 
flooding through reduction in impermeable surfaces and ensuring the 
use of sustainable drainage systems in new development. 
 

8.15 In line with government guidance, we propose to direct the majority of 
development to areas of lowest flood risk. If any development has to 
take place in an area at risk of flooding because there is no alternative 
location, we will ensure that appropriate flood risk alleviation measures 
are provided. We also propose to require the provision of sustainable 
drainage systems in new developments.  
 

 Flooding: The Options 
 

Question 47: Do you agree with the proposed approach set out in paragraph 
8.15 above. Y/N 
 
If not please explain what your preferred approach would be? 
 
9 Tackling Climate Change: The Issues 

 
9.1 Rising levels of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases, such as 

methane, in the atmosphere create a ‘greenhouse effect’, trapping the 
Sun’s energy and causing the Earth, and in particular the oceans, to 
warm. Carbon dioxide levels have increased by about 45% since 
before the industrial revolution.49  The increase is mainly caused by: 

 burning of fossil fuels for energy 

                                                           
49 Climate Change Explained Gov UK  

69



  

49 
 

 agriculture and deforestation 

 the manufacture of cement, chemicals and metals 
 

9.2 About 43% of the carbon dioxide produced goes into the atmosphere, 
and the rest is absorbed by plants and the oceans. Deforestation 
reduces the number of trees absorbing carbon dioxide and releases the 
carbon contained in those trees back into the atmosphere. 
 

9.3 Measurements show that the average temperature at the Earth’s 
surface has risen by about 1°C since the pre-industrial period. 17 of the 
18 warmest years on record have occurred in the 21st century and 
each of the last 3 decades have been hotter than the previous 
one. The UK is already affected by rising temperatures, with the most 
recent decade (2008-2017) being on average 0.8 °C warmer than the 
1961-1990 average54 

 
9.4 Breckland is one of the lowest CO2 emitters in Norfolk with 0.6kt of 

CO2 per sq km in 2019 with a reduction of 27% since 200550. The main 
CO2 emitters in Breckland are vehicular transport, domestic energy 
use followed by industry with emissions being worse in the more rural 
parts of the district where there is a high dependency on car use.51  
However, the ONS is yet to publish its latest figures which might reflect 
changes to CO2 emissions as a result of COVID and the reduction in 
car usage. 
 

9.5 A range of legislation exists which requires us to contribute to 
mitigating and adapting to climate change and move towards a low 
carbon, green economy. Mitigation is the action we need to take to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions and adaptation increases the ability 
of the environment to be resilient to climate change. Government 
planning policy encourages local authorities to adopt a proactive 
strategy to deal with climate change impacts including flood risk 
 

9.6 Breckland District Council declared a climate emergency on 19 
September 2019. Since then, the council has committed to be net zero 
as an organisation by 2035 and to reducing the level of greenhouse 
gases emissions overall within the District. The Council has 
also developed a sustainability strategy focusing on three main themes: 

 Reducing its own impact as an organisation on the environment. 

 Using its regulatory powers to influence behavioural change 
(including planning, waste and recycling, environmental 
protection). 

 Enabling communities to take action for themselves on climate 
change.52 

 

                                                           
50 UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions National statistics 2005 to 2019 Gov UK 
51 Place-based carbon calculator  
52 Breckland 2035  

70



  

50 
 

9.7 Breckland can take an active approach to reducing carbon emissions 
from transport as part of its Transport Strategy, which is discussed in 
the next chapter and by ensuring that new buildings are built to reduce 
their energy use and minimise carbon emissions through our design 
policies and design guidance. 
 

9.8 The government hosted a public consultation in October 2019 to 
February 2020 on proposed changes to the Building Regulations and 
in response to this consultation the Future Homes Standard will come 
into effect from 2025 to ensure new homes produce 75%-80% fewer 
carbon emissions than they do today.53 

 
9.9 To help lay the groundwork for the Standard's introduction, the 

government introduced major Building Regulations changes in June 
2022 )Part L (Conservation  of fuel and power)54, with new homes in 
England now needing to produce around 30% less carbon emissions 
compared to the old regulations. 
 

9.10 In the Norfolk Strategic Planning Policy55 Framework all Local 
Authorities committed to Agreement 19 – “Norfolk Planning Authorities 
agree that climate change is an urgent, strategic cross boundary issue 
which will be addressed at the heart of Local Plans. To do this, the 
Authorities agree to consider to the approaches contained in the NSPF 
Climate Change research paper56 when the relevant policies are next 
being reviewed and updated as part of the Local Plan process and 
their appropriateness considered against local factors including viability 
of developments”. 

9.11 Some proposed policies contained within the Climate Change 
Research Paper are as follows: 

 Construction Standards: Provision of energy statements 
with development proposals to explain and justify approach 
to energy use within a development using an energy 
hierarchy. Developments should reduce energy need in the 
first place (design and orientation of development), energy 
efficiency and conservation, and then maximise use of 
sustainable energy (for example non fossil fuel-based 
alternatives and local energy networks).  
 

 BREEAM: British Research Establishment 
Environmental Assessment Method:57 To use BREEAM 
assessments in planning policies for non-residential 
development. BREEAM is a sustainability assessment 
method of master planning projects, infrastructure and 
buildings which provides a rating of pass, good, very good, 

                                                           
53 Future Homes Standard  
54 Building Regulations: Approved Documents L,F and Overheating Gov UK  
55 Norfolk Strategic Planning Policy Framework 
56 NSPF Climate Change Topic Paper 
57 BREEAM 

71

https://www.homebuilding.co.uk/advice/building-regulations-for-extensions


  

51 
 

excellent and outstanding on new development based on its 
entire lifecycle from construction to finished product  

 
 

 Live Work Units and working from home: Provide policies 
which encourage Live/Work dwellings and working from 
home 

 
 

 Electric Vehicles: Provision of electric charging points on all 
new development 

 
 

 Promote Cycling and Walking on new developments to 
reduce car use 

 
 

 Energy improvements on extensions: All extensions 
required to provide a 10% improvement to the energy use of 
the existing building 

 
 

 Embodied energy in buildings-restrictions on demolitions 
to encourage reuse of old buildings 

 
 

 Light Pollution-Protection of dark skies. Badly designed or 
too much lighting is a waste of energy resources as well as 
impacting wildlife 

 
 

 Modern Methods of Construction- Offsite manufacture of 
buildings characterised by modular and pre-fabricated 
construction reduces energy required during construction 

 
 

 District Heat and Power – Heat networks could be an 
important contribution to making net zero a reality in the UK. 
In high density urban areas, they are often the lowest cost, 
low carbon heating option. Schemes can reduce carbon 
emissions, be very cost effective and could help alleviate fuel 
poverty. The main initial ‘disadvantages’ of a combined heat 
and power system is that it is capital intensive and requires 
space for the central hub. It is usually only a feasible option 
for larger developments. 

 
 

 Greywater: Water used in homes has long been thought of in 
terms of clean drinking water (known as potable water) 
coming into the house from the mains and sewage going out. 

72



  

52 
 

However, the wastewater from baths, showers, washing 
machines, dishwashers and sinks fits somewhere in-between 
and this is referred to as greywater, which typically makes up 
between 50-80% of a household’s waste water. If recycled 
properly, greywater can save approximately 70 litres of 
potable water per person per day in domestic households, 
therefore greywater recycling is one of a number of water 
solutions that could be considered in the design of new 
homes.  

 
 

9.12 The Plan could explore whether we should allocate land for other land 
uses such as large-scale renewable energy generation sites, such as 
solar and wind, and areas specifically for new tree and/or woodland 
planting. 
 

9.13 The Plan could require new trees to be planted for every new home 
and ensure that new streets are tree lined. This will assist in meeting 
the requirements of paragraph 131 of the NPPF, which recognises the 
importance of incorporating trees in developments to assist in 
mitigating and adapting to climate change and enhancing the character 
and quality of urban environments. It would also assist in combating 
the climate emergency  
 

9.14 The Government is committed to bring all greenhouse gas emissions to 
net zero by 2050. In June 2022, changes to the Part L Building 
Regulations (“Part L”) were introduced as a step towards achieving net 
zero carbon homes. Part L deals with the conservation of fuel and 
power for all new dwellings and will have an impact on the construction 
of new homes to ensure they are built to a minimum standard of 
energy performance. This applies on a plot-by-plot basis, as opposed 
to the whole of a development. From 15 June 2022, changes to 
building regulations mean that new-build homes will need to produce at 
least 31 per cent less carbon emissions. The installation of electric 
heating systems combined with renewable energy sources such as 
solar are both seen as enablers for doing so. In addition, new non-
domestic builds will need to produce at least 27 per cent less carbon 
emissions with similar low energy measures to the previous in place. 
The Plan could seek a more ambitious target and require 
developments to be compliant with our target of net zero by 2035.   
 

 Tackling Climate Change: The Options 
 

Question 48: Would you be supportive of any of the above proposals within 
Breckland’s development and design policies? Y/N.  
 
Please state which ones and reasons why. 
 
Question 49: Are there any other climate change policy proposals we should 
consider?  

73



  

53 
 

 
Please state which ones and reasons why. 
 
10 A Safe and Convenient Transport Network: The Issues 

 
10.1 Achieving the full economic potential of the area is dependent on 

improved connectivity, including the implementation of key transport 
priorities whilst maintaining and enhancing the environment and quality 
of life in the area. 
 

10.2 The concept of sustainable development remains at the heart of the 
planning system. Transport policies also have an important role to play 
in facilitating sustainable development and can contribute to wide 
sustainability and health objectives 
 

10.3 The Transport East Strategy58 which includes the areas of Norfolk, 
Suffolk, Essex, Southend on Sea and Thurrock has identified four key 
strategic four objectives: 
 

 Greener Transport cleaner, greener and healthier 
transport options aimed at reducing emissions to net zero 
to reduce climate change and poor air quality. 

o To support development in locations which reduce the 
need for travel,  

o Reduce the need for carbon intensive trips through 
local living and access to local employment and 
improved digital connectivity 

o Switching modes of transport from private car to active 
and passenger transport 

o Switching from fossil fuels to alternatives e.g., electric 
and hydrogen 
 

 Connecting growing businesses providing enhanced links 
between our fast-growing places and businesses clusters 
enabling the area to function as a coherent economy. 

o Improved access and connections within our urban 
centres through better walking and cycling routes 

o Faster and reliable links between growth areas and 
rest of UK 

o Fully integrated transport networks 
 

 Better connections to global gateways – better connected 
ports and airports to help to boost the nation’s economy 
through greater access to international markets and foreign 
direct investment. 

o Provision of sustainable travel options for freight, 
employees, and passengers 
 

                                                           
58 Transport Strategy- Transport East  

74



  

54 
 

 Energised coastal and rural areas- supporting and 
connecting our rural and coastal communities. 

 
 The Norfolk Local Transport Plan 4 Strategy 2021-203659  

 
10.4 This plan highlights the key transport infrastructure priorities for the 

area as being:  A47 improvements including dualling schemes at 
Blofield to Burlingham and Easton to Tuddenham, as well as major 
junction upgrades in Norwich and Gt Yarmouth, the Norwich Western 
Link which joins the Norwich Distributor Road to the A47 which is 
scheduled to start construction in 2023 and the Great Yarmouth Third 
River Crossing which is currently being built.  
 

10.5 Included in the Norfolk Local Transport Plans are improvements to the 
major rail links to London, Cambridge and Peterborough at Ely junction 
and Trowse bridge along with increased frequency of trains, further 
electrification of the network and improved rolling stock and stations. It 
also proposes more active and passenger transport links to the 
stations creating transport hubs at key locations. 

 
10.6 The Strategy also refers to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic which 

has resulted in many changes to people’s everyday life i.e., increased 
working from home with increased flexibility around working hours and 
practices and more online shopping. 
 

10.7 The NPPF60 sets the principle of sustainable transport and promotes   
it in a number of ways including identifying and protecting sites and 
routes which could be critical in developing infrastructure to widen 
transport choices. Reflecting on the guidance and local circumstances, 
the key consideration of delivering sustainable transport is to reduce 
the reliance on the private car and reduce the number of journeys 
made and promote active transport and passenger travel. However, it 
is recognised that for some more rural communities public transport, 
walking and cycling are not realistic options.  
 

10.8 The dispersed settlement pattern of Breckland and the high 
dependency on commuting to employment means that ensuring 
sustainable access to services is amongst the most challenging spatial 
issues that the Council and other service providers must address. The 
settlement pattern has resulted in a high dependency on travel by car, 
exacerbated in part by difficulties of providing effective public transport 
services in rural catchment areas.61 
 

10.9 There are a number of possible options that the Council could consider 
to support a sustainable transport strategy. 
 

                                                           
59 Norfolk Local Transport Plan 4 Strategy 2021-2036  
60 NPPF Chapter 9 Promoting Sustainable Transport  
61 Breckland Local Plan  2019 

75



  

55 
 

 A Safe and Convenient Transport Network: The Options 
 

Question 50: Which of the following options do you consider to be the most 
important for a sustainable transport strategy? Please rank 1 for most 
important and 8 for least important. 
 

1. Development should seek to minimise the need to travel i.e., be 
located to facilities and services 

2. More electric charging points including all new development to 
provide facilities for electric vehicle charging 

3. Promotion of shared community ‘pool’ vehicle schemes on some 
developments 

4. Improved digital connectivity 
5. Improved, realistic and safe cycle and walking routes within market 

towns and from rural villages to market towns within a reasonable 
distance 

6. Promote “uber-style” bus services for rural areas similar to those 
seen in Warwickshire1 and Wales BwCaBus1 

7. Enhance the role of market towns, increasing their retail/service 
function to support the rural hinterland. 

8. Other options 
 
Please provide your ranking and comments below 
 
Question 51: Do you have any other suggestions to provide more sustainable 
transport options in Breckland? 
 
 Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans: The Issues 

 
10.10 A local cycling and walking infrastructure plan (LCWIP) identifies and 

prioritises improvements which can be made to the cycling and walking 
network. These improvements encourage people to choose active 
travel as they make cycling and walking more attractive, safe and 
convenient. 
 

10.11 LCWIPs are strongly encouraged by the Department for Transport and 
meet the ambitions of the Government’s Gear Change Vision62. Norfolk 
County Council has recently been awarded funding to develop cycling 
and walking plans across the county. Plans have already been created 
for Greater Norwich, Kings Lynn and Great Yarmouth. The Council is 
working with Norfolk County Council to develop a Local Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure Plan for Breckland. 
 

 Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans: The Issues 
 

Question 52: Do you have any options for walking and cycling routes in your 
locality? 
 

                                                           
62Gear Change A bold vision for cycling and walking Department of Transport 2020 

76



  

56 
 

11 
 

Providing infrastructure which supports development, local 
communities, and businesses 

11.1 We want to ensure that there is sufficient and appropriate infrastructure 
in place to support the planned growth of housing and employment 
development. Infrastructure covers a wide variety of services and 
facilities provided by public and private organisations that are needed 
to support daily activities for residents and the general economy. Some 
of these have already been discussed in previous chapters but include: 
 

 transport infrastructure: rail, transport interchanges, bus 
facilities, cycle routes, footpaths/pedestrian links, roads, 
electric vehicle charging points. 

 flood risk measures: strategic flood defences, flood 
management schemes, Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(SUDS). 

 telecommunications infrastructure, including broadband and 
5G.  

 utilities: energy supplies including renewable energy, water 
supply and treatment, and waste disposal. 

 habitats regulations mitigation: interventions necessary to 
mitigate the effects of development on nature conservation 
sites such as Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace 
(SANGs) and Heathland Infrastructure Projects. 

 green infrastructure: open spaces, recreation areas, green 
networks/corridors, allotments, tributaries, rivers and 
coastlines.   

 community facilities and services: education, health, sports 
and leisure facilities, emergency services, libraries, cultural 
facilities, cemeteries. 

 town and local centre improvements: enhancements and 
new public facilities. 

 
11.2 The Norfolk Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan 202063  (NSIDP) pulls 

together information on the key infrastructure needed to deliver 
economic growth in Norfolk. The NSIDP sets out the Norfolk wide high-
level strategic infrastructure priorities for the next 10 years including 
those priorities for Breckland e.g., road improvements such as dualling 
of the A47, the Attleborough Link Road,  improved power infrastructure 
at Thetford, Snetterton energy supply, Attleborough town centre 
improvements, improved rural digital connectivity schemes (Rural 
Gigabit Connectivity programme), Better mobile signals via Shared 
Rural Network and new schools for Attleborough and Thetford to 
support the development at the urban extensions. 
 

11.3 The government requires us to include strategic policies which make 
sufficient provision for infrastructure and to engage with infrastructure 
providers to determine where additional infrastructure is necessary. 
We are advised to identify what infrastructure is required, how it can be 

                                                           
63 Norfolk Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2020  

77



  

57 
 

funded and delivered, and how future ongoing maintenance 
requirements will be managed. 
 

11.4 Breckland are in the process of preparing an Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan (IDP), setting out the key infrastructure required at a local level 
over and above that already provided in the Norfolk Strategic 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan and Norfolk Transport Plan 4, also 
additional evidence will be gathered on water, energy, 
telecommunications, education, community facilities, health, 
community safety and green infrastructure to support the level of 
planned growth across the area.  Views will also be sought from 
statutory consultees including Norfolk County Council in respect of 
highways and education and the Norfolk and Waveney Integrated Care 
System Estates Group, which are the new NHS body for interfacing 
with local authorities on planning policy and proposals64  This will be 
published alongside the Local Plan at the next stage of consultation. It 
will identify details of the infrastructure needed to support the Local 
Plan.  
 

11.5 A combination of funding mechanisms are used to deliver new and 
improved infrastructure in Breckland; the primary source of funding 
coming from developers and landowners through legal agreements 
accompanying the grant of planning permissions. Other sources of 
funding include the New Anglia Local Economic Partnership, public 
funding, and private investment. Major developments are phased to 
ensure that essential infrastructure is delivered, or funding provided 
prior to completion 
 

 Power: The Issues 
 

11.6 According to the UK Energy Brief 202265, primary oil (crude and 
Natural Gas Liquids) accounted for 42% of total energy production, 
natural gas 29%, primary electricity (consisting of nuclear, wind, solar 
and hydro) 16%, bioenergy and waste 12% while coal accounted for 
the remaining 1%.  Since 2000, oil and gas production levels have 
fallen by 68% and 71% respectively but energy consumption rose in 
2021 by 5.9% post the pandemic.  
 

11.7 Our energy requirements are still very dependent on oil and gas and 
the Russian invasion of the Ukraine has added to the shortages of 
these fuels, at the same time for us to meet our carbon reduction 
targets, we need to wean ourselves off oil and gas. 
 

11.8 The NPPF supports the transition to a low carbon future and supports 
the development of renewable energy sources as it is central to the 
economic, social, and environmental dimensions of sustainable 
development. The current local plan currently has policies in place for 

                                                           
64 Norfolk Planning and Health Protocol 
65 UK Energy Brief Department of Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy 2022 

78



  

58 
 

the development of solar energy and wind energy and anaerobic 
digestion with requirement that there is no impact (including 
cumulatively) on local landscape or townscape, residential amenities, 
loss of agricultural land or designated wildlife sites. 
 

 Power: The Options 
 

Question 53: Do you think the current policies are working to encourage more 
renewable energy development in Breckland? Y/N  
 
If no, what other options should the Plan consider?   
 
Please explain your answer. 
 
Question 54 Are you aware of any suitable sites for the development of  
renewable energy, including solar and wind farms, within Breckland? 

 
12 Open Space, Sport and Recreation: The Issues 

 
12.1 Open space is defined in the Town and Country Planning Act 

199066 as ‘land laid out as a public garden, or used for the purposes 
of public recreation, or land which is a disused burial ground’, it also 
includes allotments. Open space should be taken to mean all open 
space of public value, not just land but areas of water e.g., rivers, 
lakes, reservoirs, and canals which offer opportunities for sport and 
recreation and visual amenity value. Policy ENV04 in the current 
local plan restricts the loss of designated open space, it being only 
permitted if it can demonstrate that there is an excess of open 
space, or if recreational facilities can be improved by the proposed 
development or alternative better open space is being provided. All 
new residential development of 11 or more dwellings is expected to 
contribute towards outdoor playing space equivalent to 2.56 
hectares per 1000 population67. 

 
 Open Space, Sport and Recreation: The Options 

 
Question 55: What are your views on the current provision and future need of 
open space within the parish you live?  

 
Question 56: Please provide details including any proposed sites within your 
parish? 

 

                                                           
66 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Legislation.gov 
67 Breckland Local Plan 2019 

79



  

59 
 

Question 57: Do you think the current policies for open space provision are 
working? Y/N if not please explain your answer.  

 
Question 58: With reference to the key infrastructure areas below, do you have 
any further views on the infrastructure needs for your locality? Please explain 
what and why?  

 Health and medical facilities 

 Education 

 Community Facilities 

 Town and Local Centre improvements 

 Green space including Open space 

 Power 

 Water 

 Digital connectivity 
 
 
Question 59: Do you have any views or suggestions for how the planning, 
phasing and delivery of infrastructure can be improved? 

 
13 Any other issues or Options? 

 
Question 60: Do you have any additional views or suggestions with regards the 
Local Plan and the issues it should address? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

80



  

60 
 

 
About you 
 

1. Are you 
A: a resident- Please state town or village 
B: a councillor-Please state town/parish/ward 
C: employer- Please state which sector 
D: Other- Please state which 
 

2. Are you 
A: Female 
C: Male 
D: Rather not say 
E: N/A 
 

3. What age range are you? 
A: Up to 18 
B: 19 to 25 
C: 26 to 40 
D: 41 to 64 
E: 65 upwards 
 

4. Please state what your main interest is in Breckland’s Local Plan? 
 
 
Thank you for completing this questionnaire, your views are important to 
shaping the future development of Breckland. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

81



  

61 
 

 
 
References 

1. Study of demand for specialist retirement housing and accessible housing for 
older people in Norfolk March 2022.) 
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/20179/Norfolk-Study-Older-Person-
Housing/pdf/Norfolk_Study_Older_Person_Housing.pdf?m=63796850803120
0000 

2. Breckland Housing and Homeless Strategy 2017-2021 
Breckland Housing and Homelessness strategy 2017-21 

3. Norfolk Insight JSNA Briefing Paper on Deprivation 2019 
JSNA document (norfolkinsight.org.uk) 

4. Breckland Monitoring report 2020 
5. Norfolk Live Where average house prices rose and fell across Norfolk last year 

- Norfolk Live 
6. Ipswich Average salary, unemployment rates in graphs and numbers report 

comparison with neighbouring authorities (plumplot.co.uk) Ipswich Average 
salary and unemployment rates in graphs and numbers. (plumplot.co.uk) 

7. Invest Breckland  2022 Invest - Breckland Council. 
8. Global Economic Prospects (The World Bank) June 2022 Global Economic 

Prospects -- June 2022 (worldbank.org) 
9. Forecasts for the UK Economy: A Comparison of Independent Forecasts HM 

Treasury (July 2022) Forecasts for the UK economy - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
10. Breckland Local Plan 2011 to 2036 adopted November 2019 Adoption - 

Breckland Council 
11. Explanatory Note: March 2022: Figure. Revised figures are published annually 

when new affordability ratios are published.  
12. Coronavirus and the Social Impacts on Great Britain ONS April 2022 

Coronavirus and the social impacts on Great Britain - Office for National 
Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 

13. The green green grass of homeworking families swap the city for country living 
Experian April 2022 Experian plc - The green, green grass of home: Working 
families swap the city for country living 

14. Is Hybrid working here to stay? ONS May 2022  
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employme
ntandemployeetypes/articles/ishybridworkingheretostay/2022-05-23 

15. Rural Home working Statistics DEFRA Jan 2022  
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/rural-home-working/rural-home-

working-

statistics#:~:text=Overall%20rural%20areas%20had%20a,areas%20(16%20p

er%20cent). 

16. How are spending has changed since the end of coronavirus (COVID19) 

restrictions ONS July 2022 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/retailindustry/articles/ho
wourspendinghaschangedsincetheendofcoronaviruscovid19restrictions/2022-
07- 

17. Is online or in-store food shopping better for the planet? The Grocer 21st June 
2021 

82

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/20179/Norfolk-Study-Older-Person-
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/20179/Norfolk-Study-Older-Person-
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/14869/Housing-Strategy-2017/pdf/housing_and_homelessness_strategy_version_2.pdf?m=637293679948600000
https://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/Briefing_paper_Deprivation_IMD_December_2019_Accessible.pdf-correctedByPAVE.pdf
https://www.norfolklive.co.uk/news/norfolk-news/average-house-prices-norfolk-rise-7288346
https://www.norfolklive.co.uk/news/norfolk-news/average-house-prices-norfolk-rise-7288346
https://www.plumplot.co.uk/Ipswich-salary-and-unemployment.html#:~:text=An%20average%20salary%20is%20ranging%20between%2026.3k%20in,months.%20The%20data%20collected%20is%20Tax%20Year%20Ending.
https://www.plumplot.co.uk/Ipswich-salary-and-unemployment.html#:~:text=An%20average%20salary%20is%20ranging%20between%2026.3k%20in,months.%20The%20data%20collected%20is%20Tax%20Year%20Ending.
https://www.plumplot.co.uk/Ipswich-salary-and-unemployment.html
https://www.plumplot.co.uk/Ipswich-salary-and-unemployment.html
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/business-support/invest
https://thedocs.worldbank.org/en/doc/18ad707266f7740bced755498ae0307a-0350012022/related/Global-Economic-Prospects-June-2022-Executive-Summary.pdf
https://thedocs.worldbank.org/en/doc/18ad707266f7740bced755498ae0307a-0350012022/related/Global-Economic-Prospects-June-2022-Executive-Summary.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/data-forecasts
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/local-plan/adoption
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/local-plan/adoption
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandwellbeing/bulletins/coronavirusandthesocialimpactsongreatbritain/3december2021
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandwellbeing/bulletins/coronavirusandthesocialimpactsongreatbritain/3december2021
https://www.experianplc.com/media/latest-news/2022/the-green-green-grass-of-home-working-families-swap-the-city-for-country-living/
https://www.experianplc.com/media/latest-news/2022/the-green-green-grass-of-home-working-families-swap-the-city-for-country-living/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/ishybridworkingheretostay/2022-05-23
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/ishybridworkingheretostay/2022-05-23
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/rural-home-working/rural-home-working-statistics#:~:text=Overall%20rural%20areas%20had%20a,areas%20(16%20per%20cent)
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/rural-home-working/rural-home-working-statistics#:~:text=Overall%20rural%20areas%20had%20a,areas%20(16%20per%20cent)
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/rural-home-working/rural-home-working-statistics#:~:text=Overall%20rural%20areas%20had%20a,areas%20(16%20per%20cent)
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/rural-home-working/rural-home-working-statistics#:~:text=Overall%20rural%20areas%20had%20a,areas%20(16%20per%20cent)
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/retailindustry/articles/howourspendinghaschangedsincetheendofcoronaviruscovid19restrictions/2022-07-
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/retailindustry/articles/howourspendinghaschangedsincetheendofcoronaviruscovid19restrictions/2022-07-
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/retailindustry/articles/howourspendinghaschangedsincetheendofcoronaviruscovid19restrictions/2022-07-


  

62 
 

https://www.thegrocer.co.uk/sustainability-and-environment/is-online-or-in-
store-food-shopping-better-for-the-
planet/656712.article#:~:text=The%20huge%20fleets%20of%20delivery,fashi
on%2C%20books%20and%20consumer%20electronics 

18. First of its kind survey shows impact of UK Farm Shops Farming UK 2nd March 
2022 
https://www.farminguk.com/news/first-of-its-kind-survey-shows-impact-of-uk-
farm-shops_59951.html 

19. More Funding to Boost Services in village pubs and bring communities together 
MHCLG September 2018 
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/more-funding-to-boost-services-in-
village-pubs-and-bring-communities-together 

20. Public Houses and House Prices in Great Britain: a panel analysis European 
Planning Studies 2021 
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09654313.2020.1726294 

21. The Future of Rural Bus Services Better Transport.org 
  The-Future-of-Rural-Bus-Services.pdf (bettertransport.org.uk) 

22. Explanatory Note: Estimated at 100 completions per year from 2024\25 
23. Explanatory Note: Estimated at 100 completions per year from 2022\23 
24. Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2017 

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/7331/Central-Norfolk-Strategic-Housing-
Market-
Assessment/pdf/LP_H_1_Central_Norfolk_Strategic_Housing_Market_Asses
sment.pdf?m=637727537325200000 

 
25. 1study of demand for specialist retirement housing and accessible housing for 

older people in  Norfolk March 2022 
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/20179/Norfolk-Study-Older-Person-
Housing/pdf/Norfolk_Study_Older_Person_Housing.pdf?m=63796850803120
0000 

 
26. Part M4 Building Regs 2015 with 2016 amendments   

Access to and use of buildings: Approved Document M - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk) 

27. NPPF 
 National Planning Policy Framework - Guidance - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

28. A11 Growth Corridor Feasibility Study. Delivering the Economic Growth 
Potential of the A11 corridor Bruton Knowles 
 Contents (breckland.gov.uk) 

29. NOMIS Official Census and Labour Market Statistics 
Nomis - Official Census and Labour Market Statistics (nomisweb.co.uk) 

30. Future Breckland  
Future Breckland - Breckland Council 

31. Invest Breckland 
 Invest - Breckland Council 

32. Norfolk Insight  
33. Economy - LTLA | Breckland | InstantAtlas Reports (norfolkinsight.org.uk) 
34. Home working in the UK- Regional Patterns 2019 to 2021 

Homeworking in the UK – regional patterns - Office for National Statistics 
(ons.gov.uk) 

83

https://www.thegrocer.co.uk/sustainability-and-environment/is-online-or-in-store-food-shopping-better-for-the-planet/656712.article#:~:text=The%20huge%20fleets%20of%20delivery,fashion%2C%20books%20and%20consumer%20electronics
https://www.thegrocer.co.uk/sustainability-and-environment/is-online-or-in-store-food-shopping-better-for-the-planet/656712.article#:~:text=The%20huge%20fleets%20of%20delivery,fashion%2C%20books%20and%20consumer%20electronics
https://www.thegrocer.co.uk/sustainability-and-environment/is-online-or-in-store-food-shopping-better-for-the-planet/656712.article#:~:text=The%20huge%20fleets%20of%20delivery,fashion%2C%20books%20and%20consumer%20electronics
https://www.thegrocer.co.uk/sustainability-and-environment/is-online-or-in-store-food-shopping-better-for-the-planet/656712.article#:~:text=The%20huge%20fleets%20of%20delivery,fashion%2C%20books%20and%20consumer%20electronics
https://www.farminguk.com/news/first-of-its-kind-survey-shows-impact-of-uk-farm-shops_59951.html
https://www.farminguk.com/news/first-of-its-kind-survey-shows-impact-of-uk-farm-shops_59951.html
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/more-funding-to-boost-services-in-village-pubs-and-bring-communities-together
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/more-funding-to-boost-services-in-village-pubs-and-bring-communities-together
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09654313.2020.1726294
https://bettertransport.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/legacy-files/research-files/The-Future-of-Rural-Bus-Services.pdf
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/7331/Central-Norfolk-Strategic-Housing-Market-Assessment/pdf/LP_H_1_Central_Norfolk_Strategic_Housing_Market_Assessment.pdf?m=637727537325200000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/7331/Central-Norfolk-Strategic-Housing-Market-Assessment/pdf/LP_H_1_Central_Norfolk_Strategic_Housing_Market_Assessment.pdf?m=637727537325200000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/7331/Central-Norfolk-Strategic-Housing-Market-Assessment/pdf/LP_H_1_Central_Norfolk_Strategic_Housing_Market_Assessment.pdf?m=637727537325200000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/7331/Central-Norfolk-Strategic-Housing-Market-Assessment/pdf/LP_H_1_Central_Norfolk_Strategic_Housing_Market_Assessment.pdf?m=637727537325200000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/20179/Norfolk-Study-Older-Person-Housing/pdf/Norfolk_Study_Older_Person_Housing.pdf?m=637968508031200000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/20179/Norfolk-Study-Older-Person-Housing/pdf/Norfolk_Study_Older_Person_Housing.pdf?m=637968508031200000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/20179/Norfolk-Study-Older-Person-Housing/pdf/Norfolk_Study_Older_Person_Housing.pdf?m=637968508031200000
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/13748/A11-Growth-Corridor-Feasibility-Study/pdf/A11_Growth_Corridor___Feasibility_Study.pdf?m=637520996326530000
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157232/printable.aspx
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Future-Breckland
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/business-support/invest
https://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/economy-and-employment/reports/#/view-report/215592c79f7843158bc3c89615cf60c4/E07000143/G2
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/homeworkingintheukregionalpatterns/2019to2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/homeworkingintheukregionalpatterns/2019to2022


  

63 
 

35. BBC Worklife Report  
Why you’re more creative in coffee shops - BBC Worklife 

36. A11 Growth Corridor Feasibility Study –  
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/13748/A11-Growth-Corridor-Feasibility-

Study/pdf/A11_Growth_Corridor___Feasibility_Study.pdf?m=6375209963265
30000 

37. The Assets of Community Value Regulations 2012 
The Assets of Community Value (England) Regulations 2012 
(legislation.gov.uk) 

 
38. Future Breckland  

Future Breckland - Breckland Council 
39. Norfolk Market Town Centre Report 2021  

Market Towns Report (5).pdf 
40. Breckland Landscape and Settlement Character Assessment April 2022 

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/20182/Breckland-Landscape-and-
Settlement-Character-
Assessment/pdf/Breckland_Landscape_and_Settlement_Character_Assessment
_-_optimised_o5ntzb0m4rfo.pdf?m=637969321509800000 

 
41. Future Breckland  

Future Breckland - Breckland Council 
42. NSPF Climate Change Topic Paper 

https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/documents/s58647/Climate%20Change%
20and%20the%20Planning%20System.pdf 

43. Building for a Healthy Life 
Building for a Healthy Life | Other Manuals and Briefings | Urban Design Group 

(udg.org.uk) 
44. Swaffham HAZ project  

High Streets Heritage Action Zone in Swaffham - Breckland Council 
45. Shifting Sands Project 

Shifting Sands - Back From The Brink (naturebftb.co.uk) 
46. The Environment Bill 2021  

Environment Act 2021 - Parliamentary Bills - UK Parliament 
47. The Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational Impact Avoidance and 

Mitigation Strategy 
https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/documents/s61923/Norfolk_GI_RAMS_St

rategy_March_2021%20Final.pdf 
 

48. Biodiversity UK Bloom or Bust First Report of Session 2020-2021 
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5802/cmselect/cmenvaud/136/136-
report.html 

 
49. The Environment Bill 2021 

  Environment Act 2021 - Parliamentary Bills - UK Parliament 
50. Accessible Natural Green Space Standards 

Map-15-ANGSt.png (1653×1169) (norfolkbiodiversity.org)  
51. Norfolk Green Infrastructure 

   Norfolk-Green-Infrastructure-Map.jpg (2480×1753) (norfolkbiodiversity.org) 
52. Local Nature Recovery Networks  

84

https://www.bbc.com/worklife/article/20210114-why-youre-more-creative-in-coffee-shops
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/13748/A11-Growth-Corridor-Feasibility-Study/pdf/A11_Growth_Corridor___Feasibility_Study.pdf?m=637520996326530000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/13748/A11-Growth-Corridor-Feasibility-Study/pdf/A11_Growth_Corridor___Feasibility_Study.pdf?m=637520996326530000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/13748/A11-Growth-Corridor-Feasibility-Study/pdf/A11_Growth_Corridor___Feasibility_Study.pdf?m=637520996326530000
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2012/9780111525791/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2012/9780111525791/contents
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Future-Breckland
file:///C:/Users/rgibbs/Downloads/Market%20Towns%20Report%20(5).pdf
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/20182/Breckland-Landscape-and-Settlement-Character-Assessment/pdf/Breckland_Landscape_and_Settlement_Character_Assessment_-_optimised_o5ntzb0m4rfo.pdf?m=637969321509800000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/20182/Breckland-Landscape-and-Settlement-Character-Assessment/pdf/Breckland_Landscape_and_Settlement_Character_Assessment_-_optimised_o5ntzb0m4rfo.pdf?m=637969321509800000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/20182/Breckland-Landscape-and-Settlement-Character-Assessment/pdf/Breckland_Landscape_and_Settlement_Character_Assessment_-_optimised_o5ntzb0m4rfo.pdf?m=637969321509800000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/20182/Breckland-Landscape-and-Settlement-Character-Assessment/pdf/Breckland_Landscape_and_Settlement_Character_Assessment_-_optimised_o5ntzb0m4rfo.pdf?m=637969321509800000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Future-Breckland
https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/documents/s58647/Climate%20Change%20and%20the%20Planning%20System.pdf
https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/documents/s58647/Climate%20Change%20and%20the%20Planning%20System.pdf
https://www.udg.org.uk/publications/othermanuals/building-healthy-life
https://www.udg.org.uk/publications/othermanuals/building-healthy-life
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/heritage-action-zone
https://naturebftb.co.uk/projects/shifting-sands/
https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/2593
https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/documents/s61923/Norfolk_GI_RAMS_Strategy_March_2021%20Final.pdf
https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/documents/s61923/Norfolk_GI_RAMS_Strategy_March_2021%20Final.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5802/cmselect/cmenvaud/136/136-report.html
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5802/cmselect/cmenvaud/136/136-report.html
https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/2593
https://norfolkbiodiversity.org/assets/Uploads/Map-15-ANGSt.png
https://norfolkbiodiversity.org/assets/Uploads/Norfolk-Green-Infrastructure-Map.jpg


  

64 
 

Green Infrastructure (norfolkbiodiversity.org) 
53. Water Resources East  

About us - Water Resources East (wre.org.uk) 
54. Climate Change Explained 

Climate change explained - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
55. UK Local Authority and Regional Carbon Dioxide Emissions 

UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 
2005 to 2019 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

56. Place Based Carbon Calculator 
Place-based carbon calculator 

57. Breckland 2035 
Breckland 2035 - Breckland Council 

58. Future Homes Standard  
The Future Homes Standard: changes to Part L and Part F of the Building 
Regulations for new dwellings - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

59. Building Regulations Approved Documents L,F and overheating 
Building Regulations: Approved Documents L, F and Overheating (consultation 

version) - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
60. Norfolk Strategic Planning Policy Framework  

Norfolk Strategic Planning Framework (breckland.gov.uk) 
61. NSPF Climate Change Topic Paper 

https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/documents/s58647/Climate%20Change%
20and%20the%20Planning%20System.pdf 

62. BREEAM  
BREEAM - BRE Group 

63. Transport Strategy: Transport East 
Transport Strategy - Transport East 

64. Norfolk Local Transport Plan 4 Strategy 2021-2036  
LTP Plan 4 Strategy 2021 2036.pdf 

65. NPPF Chapter 9 Promoting Sustainable Transport  
National Planning Policy Framework - 9. Promoting sustainable transport - 
Guidance - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 
66. Breckland Local Plan  2019 

Adoption - Breckland Council 
 

67. Gear Change A bold vision for cycling and walking Department of Transport 
2020 

Gear change: a bold vision for cycling and walking (publishing.service.gov.uk) 
68. Norfolk Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2020  

Norfolk Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2020 (1).pdf 
 

69. Norfolk Planning and Health Protocol 
Planning in Health Protocol August 2019 (1).pdf 

70. UK Energy Brief Department of Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy 2022 
Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

71. Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (legislation.gov.uk) 

72. Breckland Local Plan Adopted 2019  
73. Adoption - Breckland Council 

85

https://norfolkbiodiversity.org/ecological-networks/
https://wre.org.uk/about-us/#our-strategy
https://www.carbon.place/#11.15/52.668/1.0768
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/corporateplan/breckland-2035
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/corporateplan/breckland-2035
https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/documents/s54349/Norfolk%20Strategic%20Planning%20Framework%20final.pdf
https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/documents/s58647/Climate%20Change%20and%20the%20Planning%20System.pdf
https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/documents/s58647/Climate%20Change%20and%20the%20Planning%20System.pdf
https://bregroup.com/products/breeam/
https://www.transporteast.org.uk/strategy/transport-strategy/
file:///C:/Users/rgibbs/Downloads/LTP%20Plan%204%20Strategy%202021%202036.pdf
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/local-plan/adoption
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf
file:///C:/Users/rgibbs/Downloads/Norfolk%20Strategic%20Infrastructure%20Delivery%20Plan%202020%20(1).pdf
file:///C:/Users/rgibbs/Downloads/Planning%20in%20Health%20Protocol%20August%202019%20(1).pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/336
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/local-plan/adoption


  

65 
 

Appendix 1: Housing Completions and commitments (March 2022) 

Parish 

Completions 
2021/22 Permissions 

April 2022 

Allocations 
(Local and 

Neighbourhood 
Plan) 

Totals 
Completions 

by 2046 

Towns           

Attleborough 67 755 0 822 822 

Attleborough 
SUE 

0 4000 0 4000 220068 

Dereham 58 513 190 761 761 

Swaffham 101 402 126 629 629 

Thetford 12 94 0 106 106 

Thetford SUE 24 4,903 0 4,927 2,40069 

Watton 92 281 160 533 533 

SUB TOTAL 
TOWNS 

354 
10948 476 11778 7451 

HOU 03 parishes  

Ashill 12 5 20 37 37 

Banham 2 49 42 93 93 

Bawdeswell 0 0 0 0 0 

Garboldisham 2 14 28 44 44 

Great 
Ellingham 

83 
307 0 390 390 

Harling 1 103 0 104 104 

Hockering 0 2 13 15 15 

Kenninghall 0 9 15 24 24 

Litcham 0 8 0 8 8 

Mattishall 18 85 0 103 103 

Narborough 1 14 40 55 55 

Necton 3 111 15 129 129 

North 
Elmham 

1 
35 0 36 36 

Old 
Buckenham 

3 
9 0 12 12 

Shipdham 6 156 55 217 217 

Sporle 1 5 35 41 41 

Swanton 
Morley 

42 
57 120 219 219 

Weeting 1 33 0 34 34 

SUB TOTAL 
HOU 03 

PARISHES 

 
176 1002 383 1561 1561 

                                                           
68 Estimated at 100 completions per year from 2024\25 
69 Estimated at 100 completions per year from 2022\23 

86



  

66 
 

Parish 

Completions 
2021/22 Permissions 

April 2022 

Allocations 
(Local and 

Neighbourhood 
Plan) 

Totals 
Completions 

by 2046 

HOU 04 parishes  

Beeston 10 5 0 15 15 

Beetley 4 14 0 18 18 

Carbrooke 3 16 0 19 19 

Caston 4 7 0 11 11 

Gressenhall 3 4 0 7 7 

Griston 10 41 0 51 51 

Hockham 4 20 0 24 24 

Lyng 0 6 0 6 6 

Mundford 2 2 0 4 4 

North 
Lopham 

1 
28 0 29 29 

Quidenham 0 27 0 27 27 

Rocklands 4 13 0 17 17 

Saham 
Toney 

13 
25 66 104 104 

Shropham 10 16 0 26 26 

Thompson 0 9 0 9 9 

Weasenham 7 1 0 8 8 

Yaxham 22 54 0 73 73 

SUB TOTAL 
HOU 04 

PARISHES 

 
97 288 66 448 448 

Other parishes  

Beachamswell 0 3 0 3 3 

Besthorpe 0 14 0 14 14 

Billingford 1 0 0 1 1 

Bintree 4 0 0 4 4 

Blo Norton 0 0 0 0 0 

Bradenham 1 1 0 2 2 

Bridgham 0 4 0 4 4 

Brisley 4 0 0 4 4 

Bylaugh 0 1 0 1 1 

Colkirk 2 26 0 28 28 

Cranworth 1 1 0 2 2 

Croxton 4 1 0 5 5 

East 
Tuddenham 

5 
12 0 17 17 

Foulden 0 1 0 1 1 

Foxley 7 1 0 8 8 

Fransham 6 24 0 30 30 

Garvestone 5 11 0 16 16 

Gateley 0 0 0 0 0 

87



  

67 
 

Parish 

Completions 
2021/22 Permissions 

April 2022 

Allocations 
(Local and 

Neighbourhood 
Plan) 

Totals 
Completions 

by 2046 

Gooderstone 0 1 0 1 1 

Guist 0 7 0 7 7 

Hardingham 0 2 0 2 2 

Hilborough 1 0 0 1 1 

Hoe 0 3 0 3 3 

Holme Hale 1 7 0 8 8 

Horningtoft 1 0 0 1 1 

Ickburgh 1 12 0 13 13 

Lexham 1 1 0 2 2 

Little 
Cressingham 

2 
2 0 4 4 

Little 
Dunham 

2 
0 0 2 2 

Longham 0 1 0 1 1 

Mileham 1 11 0 12 12 

New 
Buckenham 

0 
1 0 1 1 

North 
Pickenham 

1 
12 0 13 13 

Oxborough 0 1 0 1 1 

Riddlesworth 4 4 0 6 6 

Roudham 1 6 0 7 7 

Scarning 2 5 0 7 7 

Scoulton 0 2 0 2 2 

South 
Lopham 

0 
2 0 2 2 

Stow Bedon 1 4 0 5 5 

Twyford 0 1 0 1 1 

Whissonsett 4 10 0 14 14 

Whinburgh 0 8 0 8 8 

Wretham 7 3 0 10 10 

SUB TOTAL 
OTHER 

PARISHES 

 
 

70 206 0 274 274 

TOTALS 697 12444 925 14061 9734 

 

 

88



Breckland Local Plan Full Update: Issues and Options Summary  
 

1 
 

 Breckland Local Plan: Full Update Issues and Options 

 
Summary 
 
Breckland Council is preparing an update to its Local Plan. The Local Plan is a 
set of documents that will set out how Breckland should develop in the future to 
best meet the vision that the local community has for the district. This includes 
setting out how much development there should be and where it should go and 
what infrastructure is needed to support that growth. It will also help to guide 
future decisions on planning applications, including what should be allowed 
where, and what it should look like.  
 
Each local planning authority is required by national government policy to 
prepare a Local Plan, in order to deliver sustainable development that reflects 
the vision and aspirations of local communities.  

 
The key stages for the production of the Full Update of the Local Plan are as 
follows: 

 
Regulation 18 consultations 
 

 Call for Sites and June 2022 – December 2022 

 First Conversation Consultation (Issues and Options) January – April 
2023 

 Preferred Options and draft Plan Consultation October 2023 – January 
2024 

 
Regulation 19 consultation 
 

 Publication Draft Plan consultation July 2024 –September 2024 
 
Submission for examination December 2024 
 
Examination: Q2 2025 – Q3 2026 
Adoption Q4 2026 

 
The Issues and Options Document is the first stage in preparing this new Local 
Plan and is an opportunity for local residents, businesses and other interested 
stakeholders to help shape the vision for the future development of Breckland at 
an early stage.  
 
What is the Issues and Options Document?  
 
The Issues and Options Document sets out a range of key issues that have been 
identified on a number of themes from housing and infrastructure to healthcare 
and community facilities. We have also included a number of options on how 
each of these issues could be addressed in the future. The Issues and Options 
Document includes questions to help us understand your thoughts on how we 
might plan for the future of the district, and in particular whether you think the 

89



Breckland Local Plan Full Update: Issues and Options Summary  
 

2 
 

issues and options we have identified are the correct ones. The document covers 
a range of topics, and asks questions about: We have tried to identify what the 
main issues and challenges are for the district, and what our environmental, 
economic and social ambitions should be for the district. We also need to 
consider our relationship to other areas in Norfolk (for example Norwich) and how 
they function, as well as further afield. What should be our vision? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Delivering Homes and Jobs  
 
We have a responsibility to deliver new homes and jobs in the district to meet the 
needs of current and future residents through planning 25 years ahead. This is 
based on technical modelling work to identify what our need is, and how we can 
meet this need. We have to consider the types of homes that will be needed, how 
people can afford them (particularly for those unable to buy or rent private 
accommodation), where people want to live, and where they want to work. How 
can we do this? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Should there be more housing? 

In the future where will you, your children, or 

grandchildren live? How will you afford to rent or buy a 

home in the district?  

What is the most important infrastructure needed to 

support new housing? 

For housing……. what is most important to you? 
 

Affordability (for sale or rent) 
Location (town or village) 

Proximity to shops and services 
Energy efficiency (eg: Solar panels) 
Durability (construction materials) 

Private off street parking or garden size 

Breckland has a vision that seeks for our residents 

and business to thrive. What would your vision look 

like for our district over the next two decades? 

What should our ambitions be?  

 

90



Breckland Local Plan Full Update: Issues and Options Summary  
 

3 
 

Supporting Commercial Development  
 
We need to consider where people will shop in the future, both for everyday 
goods such as food, and for consumables such as electronic items, cars etc., and 
accessing leisure activities. Although we have small, distinctive towns and 
villages in the district, how do we ensure their growth and survival, and 
encourage people to continue to visit them. How can we best maintain, grow and 
attract the best possible commercial and leisure opportunities to support our 
district’s local economy?  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Delivering Infrastructure 
 
Infrastructure includes a whole range of facilities that we use everyday such as 
roads, footpaths, public transport, utilities, health, education, community centres, 
pubs etc. We need to ensure that these types of infrastructure across the district 
meet the needs of residents, businesses and visitors in the future. We need to 
work with infrastructure providers and neighbouring areas to ensure a joined-up 
planning approach. What types of infrastructure should we be focussing on to 
support our needs now and in the future?  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

How will you get from where you live to where you 

work in the future?  

What prevents you from using public transport? How 

will your children get to school or college? 

Where will you work? What type of work do you 

want? 

What do you expect from your town centres? 

Where do you go to eat out, exercise, do sports 

or other leisure activities? How will you get there? 

91



Breckland Local Plan Full Update: Issues and Options Summary  
 

4 
 

Supporting Health, Community and Culture  
 
Health and well-being is important. These can be improved not just by improving 
access to physical healthcare facilities such as doctors and dentists, but also to 
opportunities for physical activity such as open spaces. Access to education and 
childcare, as well as facilities for the wider community, young people and children 
are also vitally important for our communities. How should we plan to ensure that 
our communities are healthy, active and social in the future?  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Protecting and Enhancing our Environment  
 
The district is characterised by small towns and villages set in a rural 
environment, which is defined by the heritage and culture of the area. There are 
many areas which are protected by environmental designations, including The 
Brecks and there are many valued landscapes. We have Conservation Areas, 
and hundreds of Listed Buildings, highlighting the unique history of the district.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
You can view the full Issues and Options Document at WEBLINK HERE 
 
 
 

Where will your children go to school or college? How 

will you access your local healthcare facilities? Where 

will your local parks and green spaces be? How will 

you access childcare facilities? 

How can we preserve and enhance, wherever 
possible, our historic and natural characteristics 

in the future?  
What will our historic centres look like in the 

future? How will we achieve the right balance 
between protecting our unique environment as 

well as also provide for the needs of existing and 
future generations 

 

92



Breckland Local Plan Full Update: Issues and Options Summary  
 

5 
 

Why do we need to plan?  
 
Our current adopted documents are delivering homes, jobs and infrastructure to 
meet the current needs of the District, but if not reviewed, these documents may 
become out of date. Having an up-to-date plan is a requirement of national 
planning policy, and without one, we would not have a robust, relevant or well-
informed policy framework to assess planning applications against, or meet the 
needs of local residents and businesses.  
 
How can you give us your views?  
 
Involvement of local residents and businesses is fundamental to effective plan-
making to ensure that we not only plan effectively to meet local needs but ensure 
that we plan for the right development in the right places. We want to hear from 
both local residents and businesses to make sure that we are able to represent 
the needs of all in our local community.  
 
It is important to note that the current Local Plan that was adopted in November 
2019 remains up to date and relevant. The Full Update of this Plan does not 
mean that the whole Plan will need to be re-written. There may be parts of the 
Plan that remain up to date and appropriate and these can be carried forward into 
the new Plan. Where appropriate, this Issues and Options Report therefore 
includes options to continue with the current Plan for comment.  
 
There is a lot of information in the Issues and Options Document and you may 
only want to look at one or two sections depending on which issues you are 
interested in. You can respond to as many or as few issues as you like. The 
future of the district is important for everyone who lives, works or visits so now is 
a great opportunity to get involved and have your say.  
 
What happens next?  
 
After this consultation on the Issues and Options Document, we will review and 
respond to the comments that have been received. We will then continue 
developing the evidence base to support our plan-making and, taking the 
comments received into account, will be working towards the preparation of a 
draft new local plan that sets out our preferred options for the future of the district. 
This will be available for further public consultation in the future. 
 
 
 

93



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Councillor Philip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance, Revenues & 

Benefits   
 
To: Cabinet, 9 January 2023 

Overview & Scrutiny, 26 January 2023 
 
Author: Alison Chubbock, Assistant Director Finance 
 
Subject:  Draft budget, medium term financial plan and capital strategy 
 
Purpose: To consider the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, the draft 

medium term financial plan and the draft capital strategy 
 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) That the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, the draft medium term financial plan and 

the draft capital strategy are reviewed, in preparation for the final budget setting in February 
2023. 

 

 
1.0  BACKGROUND 
 
1.1  Local authorities across the UK are seeing significantly high demand for services.  The 

economic shocks as a result of the war in Ukraine, post Covid recovery and labour 
shortages are resulting in high inflationary rises to costs and contracts and utilities costs 
as well as leading to higher demand for our services, particularly in our housing and 
revenues and benefits teams. 
 
Despite these challenging times we have put forward a draft budget, balanced for two 
years, which protects frontline services with core services maintained, continued 
investment in our corporate priorities, future funding for corporate initiatives alongside 
significant investment and reallocation in the current financial year.   
 
The draft budget for 2023-24 and 2024-25 are balanced subject to achieving our 
efficiencies targets however future years are likely to require additional savings, but this is 
dependent on the timing and quantum of future funding changes which is not yet 
confirmed.  There is continued uncertainty in terms of levels of government funding, fees 
and charges income and unknown cost pressures (such as the Environment Bill), but we 
currently believe we can achieve all this without using core reserves if we increase annual 
council tax by £4.95 for a band D property, though most people in the district will see a 
smaller rise as around 75% of houses are bands A-C. 

 
1.2 The appendices to this report outline the draft 2023-24 revenue and capital estimates for 

the General Fund, the proposals for the setting of discretionary fees and charges, the 
outline position through to 2026-27, the draft medium term financial plan and the draft 
capital strategy.  The medium-term financial plan sets out the framework within which the 
budget is to be set to ensure that it enables the Council to achieve its own corporate 
objectives.  The capital strategy sets out the framework for capital budget setting which 
also supports the Council’s corporate objectives. 

 

94

Agenda Item 9



The Autumn Statement on 17 November provided high level indications of funding 
principles with the detail provided in the provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement, announced on 19 December. 

 
1.3 This draft budget is presented to Cabinet and to Overview and Scrutiny for consideration.  

In addition, the budget will be available on the website for customers to view and provide 
feedback through to mid January 2023.  The final budget will be presented to Cabinet and 
Full Council in February 2023, incorporating final information (such as Government 
funding and the latest NNDR forecasts) along with the formal Council Tax setting report. 

 
1.4 Funding 

The provisional Local Government Finance Settlement was announced on 19 December 
and included the following: 

 Revenue Support Grant (RSG) increased by CPI 

 Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG) as last year 

 New Homes Bonus (NHB) confirmed for one more year 

 Lower Tier Services Grant (LTSG) removed in full 

 Services Grant reduced to remove additional funding for NI rise 

 A new 3% funding guarantee grant for one year 
 
 The new 3% funding guarantee grant has given a boost to the funding for 2023-24 to 

reflect the significant inflationary and demand cost risks faced by local authorities 
currently.  In this draft budget, elements of this grant have been allocated to reserve with 
no immediate decisions taken due to the short timeframe between the committee report 
deadline and the 19 December announcement.  Between this report and the final budget 
report we will work up firmer proposals for the use of some of this grant to fund future 
programmes or services, this could be around areas such as PFI benchmarking, leisure 
sustainability spend, bringing the general fund above its minimum balance to protect 
against threats for next year or to prime a projects team (as recommended in the Peer 
review) to ensure projects and our evolve targets can be delivered. 

 
 The provisional Local Government Finance Settlement also gave some clarity on 

expected future funding changes, confirming these will not take place before 2025-26.  
These changes when implemented are expected to redistribute funding under the 
Levelling Up agenda. 

 
 With the future unknown funding changes and complexity this draft budget once again 

includes far higher levels of estimates than usual and therefore the actual budgets will 
likely be different to these estimates.  This draft budget provides a best estimate in the 
absence of further information. 

 
1.5 Retained Business Rates (NNDR) 

We continue to expect that future funding changes will reset NNDR growth in full so that 
authorities will receive a new baseline funding level with growth removed.  NNDR growth 
is worth circa £1.3m per year for Breckland and therefore when the reset occurs the 
impact on our budget will be up to this value, depending on whether growth is fully or 
partially reset. 
 
This draft budget assumes NNDR growth is fully removed from 2025-26 and a new 
funding regime is in place by this date, however this date could be pushed back to 2026-
27.   
 

95



The final NNDR budget will be updated during January 2023 and included in the final 
budget report to committee in February, incorporating the latest information on appeals 
and income at the end of December 2022. 
 
The Norfolk Business Rate Pool (BRP) is continuing into 2023-24 which means that 
income from growth in NNDR across Norfolk is retained in Norfolk to support economic 
regeneration and any income will be distributed on the same basis as the current MoU.  
The draft budget does not include any values from this Pool, any income would be 
received in 2024-25 and contributed to reserve for supporting economic regeneration in 
Breckland. 
 
The Government has confirmed that the Retail Hospitality & Leisure (RHL) NNDR reliefs 
will continue into 2023-24 with the relief increased from the current 50% level to 75% for 
2023-24.  This relief will be fully funded by Government and will be actioned by ARP. 
 
Members should bear in mind the risk of future large Business Rates appeals and the 
impact they may have on the budget and sensitivities shown in Appendix F provide more 
detail on this.  Where large value single properties have been rated during the year, these 
may challenge their rateable value and the income to the council may reduce.  Funds are 
set aside if this is the case until future years when the outcome of any appeal would be 
known.  
 

1.6 Fair Funding Review (FFR)  
 This review has been expected for some time, but with no final details being announced.  

The shape of future funding is now likely to be led by the Government’s Levelling Up 
agenda, which makes future estimates for budgets more difficult with no details.  This 
budget assumes a new funding regime is in place by 2025-26 alongside an NNDR reset 
and we would expect any change in funding to have the financial effects smoothed over 
the earlier years. 

 
1.7 New Homes Bonus (NHB) 
  A further year one year of NHB of £749k with no legacy payments in future years, which is 

contributed into the Inclusive Growth Reserve for investment in corporate priorities. 
 
  Consultation has been undertaken by the Government to fundamentally change the NHB 

scheme, with the outcomes not yet known.  Due to the uncertainty of the future of NHB 
our budgets include contribution of the New Homes Bonus funds into reserve. 

 
1.8  Council Tax 
  The provisional Local Government finance Settlement gave details of the Council Tax 

limits before a referendum is required, for District Councils this is 3% or £5, whichever is 
the higher.  Our Medium Term Financial Plan continues to assume Council Tax rises of 
£4.95 per year on a Band D property in order to help protect services, however any 
change to Council Tax levels are discussed and consulted on each year, with only one 
year being set at a time. 

 
1.9 Revenue and Efficiency 

The budget approved by Full Council in February 2022 provided a balanced budget over 
the medium term, supported by a new efficiency programme alongside pre-existing 
efficiencies already in place and adapted.  This continues and is in progress to deliver a 
balanced budget for 2023-24 and 2024-25 with service levels maintained.   

 
Changes to the way Breckland works and national economic changes have led to a 
revised efficiency requirement to balance the budget in future years.  This value will 
continue to be adapted and updated as projects develop: 

96



 

 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 

Projects in progress £199k £274k £379k £379k 

Evolve programme £150k £1,450k £1,930k £1,930k 

Potential future gap - - £512k £939k 

 
 The Evolve Programme includes: 

 Contracts reviews and back office ways of working 

 Alternative housing model 

 Advance intervention for housing 

 Solar/Renewable energy opportunities 

 Charging and Community Interest Company models 
 

 The draft budget is based on the following principles: 

 Removed reliance on New Homes Bonus (NHB) funding. 

 All service delivery maintained (no cuts). 

 Continued investment in our priorities of Thriving Places, Breckland 2035, Working 
Smarter and Inspiring Communities 

 Financial support in reserves for projects which lead to growth and investment or 
savings. 

 An achievable efficiencies programme to help manage the future funding changes 
and other financial risks. 

 Contribution of £20k to the Council Tax Hardship Fund introduced in 2021-22. 
 
1.10 As with all Local Authorities we are facing significant financial risks in the future, where we 

have some certainty on the value and timing, these are included in the draft budget, 
however there remain areas which cannot yet be fully quantified in terms of timing or 
financial impact.  The main areas not included in the budget are: 

 The Environment Bill – potential impact of between £1,500k to £3,500k per year if 
no funding is provided to offset new costs or lost income 

 Recovery of Housing Benefit as more customers transition to Universal Credit 

 Benchmarking review within our PFI scheme (with effect from April 2024) 

 Any impact of national refugees requiring housing in our area 
 
1.11 A thorough review of fees and charges has been carried out (revised levels can be seen 

at Appendix D) to ensure levels remain up to date and in line with the costs of delivering 
the services.  

 
  Details of the Medium Term Financial Plan are shown in Appendix A, with summary 

finance shown in Appendix B. 
 
1.12 Capital 

The draft capital programme for 2023-24 to 2032-33 is: 
  

 23-24 to 32-33 

Forecast Spend £39,464k 
Forecast Receipts (£24,605k) 
Forecast Funding (£23,488k) 

Net Spend (£8,629k) 

Opening Deficit on Capital April 2023 £6,607k 
Movement in PFI Liability (£4,281k) 

Closing Deficit/(Surplus) on Capital 2033 (£6,303k) 

 

97



1.13 The 10 year budget shows an overall net surplus in funding of £6,303k, which is subject to 
capital receipts being realised as forecast.  If we exclude the capital loans to Breckland 
Bridge (as these are repaid in a short timeframe) then the capital programme has a 
surplus of funds in all years except 2024-25, full details are shown in the capital strategy 
at Appendix G.  Currently the budget makes no allowance for borrowing costs, however 
this will be re-visited regularly and costs included at the relevant time. 

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1  That the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, the draft medium term financial plan 

and the draft capital strategy are reviewed. 
 
2.2 Do nothing. 
 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1  To comply with budgetary and policy framework and allow consultation with Members and 

the public. 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1  To  set an affordable and balanced budget for 2023-24 which delivers on the Council's 

priorities. 
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
 Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
 Management;  Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. 
 Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
 these headings, these are identified below. 
 
5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues  
5.1.1 The budget supports investment in our sustainability programme and supports the priority 

of Breckland 2035. 
 
5.2  Corporate Priorities 
5.2.1 The budget supports the Council’s priorities. 
 
5.5  Financial  
5.5.1 The report is of a financial nature and financial implications are covered within the report. 
 
5.6 Risk Management  
5.4.1 Risk has been considered and is included within the appendices. 
 
5.7 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 
5.5.1 Consultation has been undertaken with the service managers, Assistant Directors and 

Directors for every budget and public consultation results will be included in the final 
budget. 

 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 All. 

98



 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 CPI – Consumer Price Index 
7.2 DLUHC – Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
7.3 DWP – Department for Work and Pensions 
7.4 FFR – Fair Funding Review 
7.5 LTSG – Lower Tier Services Grant 
7.6 MoU – Memorandum of Understanding 
7.7 NHB – New Homes Bonus  
7.8 NI – National Insurance 
7.9 NNDR – National Non-Domestic Rates 
7.10 PFI – Private Finance Initiative 
7.11 RSDG – Rural Services Delivery Grant 
7.12 RSG – Revenue Support Grant 
 

Background papers:-  

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Alison Chubbock, Assistant Director Finance 
Telephone Number: 07967 325037 
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: No 
 
Exempt Decision: No 
 
This report refers to Mandatory and Discretionary Services 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A Budget estimates and medium-term financial plan 
Appendix B General Fund summary 
Appendix C Tax base 
Appendix D & D2 Fees and charges 
Appendix E Reserves 
Appendix F Sensitivities 
Appendix G Capital Strategy 
Appendix H   Capital Programme 
 
 

99



Appendix A 
 

Budget Setting Report and Financial Medium Term Plan 2023-24 
 
This appendix is the combined budget estimates and medium term plan 2023-27.  
The medium term plan is the link between the Corporate Plan, which sets out the 
aims and ambitions agreed with our partners, and the medium term financial plan 
which sets out the cost of what the Council is currently providing.  The plan also 
establishes a set of financial policies and principles which provide a sound basis for 
maintaining the financial integrity of the Council over the medium term. 
 
1. Budget Summary 
The following table shows the headline figures relating to the budget estimates for 
2023-24 compared to the 2022-23 position: 
 

 
Description 

 
2022-23 

 
2023-24 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

Breckland precept requirement £4,668,856 £4,988,887 6.85% 

Council Tax Band D £103.68 £108.63 4.77% 

Retained NNDR (incl S31 grants) £5,780,841 £5,680,098 (1.74%) 

Retained NNDR – Renewable £2,522,211 £2,677,689 6.16% 

Other non-ring fenced grants £1,627,362 £2,132,177 31.02% 

New Homes Bonus (NHB) £1,390,600 £748,910 (46.14%) 

Special expenses account £88,989 £92,877 4.37% 

 
Of all the homes in the Breckland area, 76% are in bands A-C and 53% are in band 
A or B.  Therefore the majority of homes will pay less than £1.86 a week towards the 
District services we provide. 
 
The following chart shows the average Band D Council Tax levels (excluding parish 
precepts) for other Norfolk authorities in 2022-23.  
 

 
 

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180
200
220
240
260
280
300

103.68

129.91 139.37

158.67 165.14
176.48

280.21

100



The following table details the Band D Council Tax levels for all precepting authorities 
over the last five years: 

  
Norfolk 
County 
Council 

£ 

 
Norfolk 
Police 

Authority 
£ 

Breckland 
(Excl 

special 
expenses) 

£ 

 
 

Avge 
Parish 

£ 

 
 
 

Total 
£ 

 
 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

% 

2019-20 1,362.24 253.08 88.83 92.38 1,796.53 4.1 

2020-21 1,416.51 263.07 93.78 96.76 1,870.12 4.1 

2021-22 1,472.94 278.01 98.73 97.19 1,946.87 4.1 

2022-23 1,516.95 288.00 103.68 102.00 2,010.63 3.3 

2023-24 tbc tbc tbc tbc tbc tbc 

 
This budget provides for an annual council tax rise of £4.95 for 2023-24 and for the 
remainder of the medium term. Future levels will be considered each year as the 
Budget and Medium Term Plan are updated.  
 
The council maximises its sources of funding to help keep the council tax at a low 
level.  The chart below details the budgeted income sources for 2023-24.  
 

 
 
 
Other income includes £1.5m relating to ARP Enforcement income share for other 
partners, alongside finance lease interest, efficiencies, NNDR administration income 
and other small value income. 
 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

£
'0
0
0

101



2. 2023-24 Estimates 
The table below shows the budget estimates for 2022-23 and 2023-24 by type of 
expenditure/income split over the standard CIPFA classifications.  Notes explaining 
the major variances between the two years are given below the table.  Full details of 
the overall position are shown at appendix B. 
 

  2022-23 
£ 

2023-24 
£ 

Variance 
£ 

Variance 
% 

1 Staffing Costs  13,133,342 14,109,850 976,508 7.44% 

2 Premises 1,481,215 1,568,440 87,225 5.89% 

 Transport 254,233 230,291 (23,942) (9.42%) 

3 Supplies & Services 16,057,463 18,079,731 2,022,268 12.59% 

 Drainage board levies 79,100 85,000 5,900 7.46% 

4 Transfer Payments 21,568,334 20,091,656 (1,476,678) (6.85%) 

5 Support services 4,543,823 4,214,792 (329,031) (7.24%) 

6 Capital charges 10,876,383 2,909,814 (7,966,569) (73.25%) 

7 Capital financing (10,367,560) (2,251,565) 8,115,995 78.28% 

 Total Expenditure 57,626,333 59,038,009 1,411,676 2.45% 

      

8 Rents/service charges (3,445,278) (3,616,196) (170,918) (4.96%) 

9 Fees and charges (5,210,460) (6,208,515) (998,055) (19.15%) 

10 Grants (23,003,431) (20,982,057) 2,021,374 8.79% 

11 Other (8,070,961) (8,629,001) (558,040) (6.91%) 

 Total Income (39,730,130) (39,435,769) 294,361 0.74% 

      

12 Evolve programme - (150,000) (150,000)  

13 General Fund smoothing 77,407 176,327 98,920  

14 Less trading units (4,449,679) (4,140,652) 309,027  

 Budget Requirement 13,523,931 15,487,915 1,963,984 14.52% 

 
Notes: 
1 – Higher cost of living increase for salaries compared to the budget last year for 
2022-23 and 2023-24 (including ARP staff), partly offset by reduced NI contributions. 
Pension deficit costs and an increase in reserve funded temporary staff.   
2 – Increased utilities costs as a result of inflationary rises throughout 2022. 
3 – The main reason for the variance is significantly higher demand on nightly paid 
temporary accommodation which has increased costs by circa £800k, combined with 
inflationary increases on contracts of circa £625k. There are also elections costs of 
£230k in 2023-24.  In addition there are other costs here which are fully funded by 
grant income or reserves such as local plan costs strategic growth and business 
support. 
4 – Transfer Payment costs are Housing Benefit payments.  These have increased 
as demand for nightly paid temporary accommodation has increased combined with 
a reduction in cases moving across to Universal Credit (UC).  We are unable to 
reclaim the full cost of Benefits from the DWP leading to higher costs to Breckland 
once the costs and income are looked at together.   
5 –Reduced overall costs of the support service areas, which in turn reduces the 
recharge to services.  
6 – This variance relates to a large value change in the capital programme for the 
Thetford power project which was grant funded but is now to be delivered by the 
private sector.  The capital programme changes are fully reversed within the capital 
financing (see note 7).  

102



7 – Capital Financing costs reflect the appropriations to and from reserves and the 
reversal of the capital charges figures and accounting entries (see note 6).  These 
are items such as depreciation which is not a real charge to the Council Tax payer. 
8 – The recovery from Covid has been stronger than predicted when budgets were 
set last year and rent reviews have been carried out to ensure rents reflect current 
market values. 
9 – This mainly relates to the increased costs of nightly paid temporary 
accommodation offset by housing benefit income (see notes 3 and 4), alongside 
increases in charges for services to ensure costs are recovered. 
10 – This mainly relates to the demand changes and reclaim values for Housing 
Benefit (see note 4). 
11 – Other income includes interest received on our investments and this has 
increased significantly following the rise in interest rates during 2022. 
12 – The Evolve programme was introduced in last years budget, it is a range of 
projects which will invest over the next 2 to 3 years in order to generate income or 
savings which will help bridge the budget gap faced by the authority as a result of 
reduced funding and rising costs and demand. 
13 – Additional Government funding has been provided for 2023-24 only in the form 
of a 3% funding guarantee to help support the costs of inflation and demand 
increases.  An element of this funding has been put to the General Fund to increase 
it from its minimum balance of £2.5m. 
14 – Please see note 5. 
 
3. Funding Assumptions 
Once again our budget planning is being undertaken in challenging circumstances 
with significant uncertainty continuing.  Breckland, like the rest of the UK and much of 
the world continues to see substantial pressures on citizens and services due to the 
current cost of living challenges.  Demand for services such as temporary 
accommodation and within the ARP is higher than ever been seen before, alongside 
current inflationary rises and this all results in higher costs and resource pressures. 
 
The provisional Local Government Finance Settlement was announced on 19 
December 2022 and included the following: 

 Revenue Support Grant (RSG) increased by CPI 

 Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG) as last year 

 New Homes Bonus for one more year 

 Lower Tier Services Grant (LTSG) removed in full 

 Services Grant reduced to remove the additional funding for the NI rise 

 A new 3% Funding Guarantee for one year 
 
There has been confirmation that future funding changes and the business rates 
reset will not take place before April 2025.  These changes when implemented are 
expected to redistribute funding under the Levelling Up agenda. 
 
The future unknown funding changes and complexity, results in a budget again with 
far higher levels of estimates than usual and therefore the actual budgets from 2025-
26 onwards will almost certainly be different to these estimates. 
 
The retained business rates estimates are based on forecast amounts collectable as 
of October 2022, which are then adjusted for local knowledge (i.e. appeals, charitable 
relief, etc), uplifted by an inflationary increase to allow for the increase in business 
rates multiplier each year.   The level of appeals for future years has been set based 
on the expected reduction resulting from the new Check-Challenge-Appeal process, 
but this is open to risk of increase/decrease in all years.  Business Rates remains an 

103



extremely volatile income source and even more so since the longer term effects of 
the Covid pandemic on our businesses is not known.  Norfolk are continuing with a 
Business Rates pool in 2023-24 which means income from growth in NNDR is 
retained in Norfolk to support economic regeneration and will be distributed on the 
same basis as the current MoU. 
 
Previously it was anticipated a new 75% retained NNDR scheme would be 
introduced as part of future funding changes, however this is now in doubt based on 
the Government’s Levelling Up agenda.  We do however expect that future funding 
changes will reset NNDR growth so that authorities will receive a new baseline 
funding level with growth removed.  This is a key risk area for Breckland as the value 
is circa £1.3m per year, the draft budget assumes a full reset occurs for 2025-26. 
 
The Fair Funding Review has been expected for some time, but with no final details 
being announced.  The shape of future funding is now likely to be led by the 
Government’s Levelling Up agenda.  This budget assumes a new funding regime is 
in place by 2025-26 alongside an NNDR reset, this is an estimate and any changes 
from a new funding scheme are likely to be smoothed over the initial years. 
 
The new homes bonus (NHB) scheme was altered in previous years, significantly 
reducing the amount of reward funding provided to councils.  The Government 
carried out consultation on the future of this scheme in early 2021, but no changes 
have been announced at the time of this report.  Due to the uncertainty of the future 
of NHB our budgets assume nil is received after 2023-24 and the 2023-24 allocation 
will be contributed into an Inclusive Growth Reserve to fund corporate priorities.   
 
The table below shows the level of budgeted central grants and income. 

 22-23 
£’000 

23-24 
£’000 

24-25 
£’000 

25-26 
£’000 

26-27 
£’000 

Revenue Support Grant (681) (749) (749) - - 

Retained Business Rates NDR (2,064) (3,453) (3,562) (4,501) (4,591) 

Retained NNDR - renewables (2,522) (2,678) (2,734) (2,791) (2,847) 

S31 grants in lieu of NDR (3,717) (2,227) (2,278) - - 

Rural Services Delivery grant (496) (496) (496) - - 

New Homes Bonus (NHB) (1,391) (749) - - - 

Other one off Gov’t grants (450) (887) (324) - - 

Future funding transitions - - - (455) (287) 

Total (11,321) (11,239) (10,144) (7,747) (7,725) 

 
4. Collection Fund 
Each year the Council is required to calculate the balance on its Collection Fund and 
our target is to have a minimal balance.  2021-22 continued with Covid reliefs for 
NNDR and therefore balances were not in line with other years and as a result of this 
Government has allowed for these deficits to be spread across 3 financial years 
(2021-22 to 2023-24) to smooth the impact. 
 
Figures indicate a surplus for Council Tax of £1,339k in total and Breckland’s share 
of this for 2023-24 would be £137k.  
 
For Business Rates there are two elements to the deficit for last year and this year.  
One element relates to lost income resulting from expanded reliefs provided in the 
Covid pandemic and this is funded from Government grants received with minimal 
impact to Breckland. 
 

104



The second element is the true surplus or deficit for the year and is 100% Breckland 
benefit or cost.  The overall deficit is £1,222k and Breckland’s share of this for 2023-
24 would be £221k, which is offset from Government grant funding held in reserves.   
 
5. Tax Base 
The tax base for all parishes is shown at appendix C.  This is based on the actual 
tax base as at October 2022.  In April 2023 there are boundary reviews taking effect 
between Thetford and Croxton and Great Ellingham and Attleborough, these 
parishes have been provided updated tax bases for their areas based on the new 
boundaries. 
 
6. Principles of Budget Preparation 
The following principles have been used in the budget preparation process, in order 
to: 

o Provide a consistent and authorised approach to the preparation of revenue 
and capital estimates. 

o Ensure estimates are prepared in line with available resources. 
o Ensure that estimates are prepared to reflect corporate priorities. 

 
Budget principles: 

o Detailed working sheets are maintained for all budget headings and these are 
prepared by the budget manager, with the exception of central items. 

o Central items are calculated by finance.  The central items include: salaries, 
insurance, car allowances, support service recharges, capital accounting 
entries, interest paid and received, pensions, NI, special expenses, mobile 
phones, overtime, utilities, postages and Members allowances. 

o The full effect of known pay awards is incorporated into the estimates and a 
provision made for future years, based on internally agreed assumptions 
(taking into account any Central Government or local policies). 

o Staffing estimates are prepared on the basis of approved staffing levels as 
provided by Human Resources.  These estimates include an allowance for 
employers NI, superannuation contributions and lump sum amounts. 

o There will be no allowance for inflation, unless contractual or salary related. 
o We seek to mitigate the impact on Council Tax from the consumption of 

capital resources.  In effect all decisions should be made with the knowledge 
of the impact on investment income. 

o We should seek additional scrutiny and challenge for accessing capital 
resources and ensure that the programme only reflects schemes that are 
sufficiently scoped to allow delivery. 

o A review of fees and charges to ensure maximisation of income where 
consistent with policy. 

o An acceptance that a viable budget was already created last year and we 
restate mid-year with ongoing changes forming the basis of future years 
estimates. 

o To set a balanced budget with no long term dependency on general balances. 
o To work towards a zero balance on the collection fund. 
o Only the 2023-24 budget is formally approved, future years are indicative only 

for the purposes of medium term financial projections. 
o That the revenues and benefits reserve is used to smooth the accounting 

impact of levy variances in one financial year offset by the surplus/deficit in 
the following financial year. 

o Grants received for a specific purpose not fully spent by the end of a year will 
be held in reserve for spend in future years 

 
 

105



7. Other Budget Assumptions 
The budget estimates and medium term plan cover the period 2023-24 to 2026-27, 
over this timescale it is important that we make realistic assumptions as to how costs 
rise or fall.  This section details the key assumptions made. 
 
The key assumptions used are: 

o Revenue budgets will be used to deliver services during the year for which 
they are approved. 

o We will allow for unavoidable growth on services (i.e. new statutory 
obligations and contractual inflation) but will not allow any increase for 
general inflation. 

o Estimates are prepared on the understanding that appropriate service 
budgets were produced for the previous year which will then be adjusted to 
reflect the changing circumstances that we are required to prepare for. 

 
The key assumptions made for the setting of these budget estimates, which influence 
the five year financial plan are as follows: 
 

 22-23 23-24 24-25 25-26 26-27 

Cost of living increase 2.00% 3.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 

Staffing salary level 96% 96% 96% 96% 96% 

ARP cost of living increase 2.00% 3.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 

ARP staffing salary level 97.5% 97.5% 97.5% 97.5% 97.5% 

Pension contribution rate 14% 14% 14% 14% 14% 

Pension lump sum cont’n £1,831k £1,851k £1,819k £1,782k £1,782k 

Ret’n on cash investments 0.25% 4.00% 3.00% 2.50% 2.50% 

RPI (HMT forecasts) 3.1% 6.5% 2.4% 3.1% 3.1% 

Tax base 45,031.4 45,925.5 46,530.1 47,142.6 47,763.2 

 
Details on the grant settlement and assumptions made are shown in section 3. 
 
8. Future Developments 
The following are areas which are currently under development or consultation which 
are likely to have an impact on the budget, but there is currently insufficient detail to 
include these in the main budget. 
 
The funding assumptions (section 3) detail the significant future changes arising from 
Business Rates reset/retention, the Fair Funding Review, the Spending Review and 
New Homes Bonus, which are subject to significant uncertainty in terms of value. 
 
The ongoing impact from the economic climate and war in Ukraine on businesses 
and residents cannot be forecast with any certainty.  This budget aims to take a 
balanced approach using mid-range estimates. 
 
The Environment Bill proposes fundamental changes to the way which waste 
services operate and are charged for.  There are likely to be significant financial 
impacts if this Bill comes into force and it is not yet known what new burdens funding 
will be provided to support the required changes.  The proposed budget does not 
include any allowance for these changes as there is insufficient information on timing, 
requirements and funding to make realistic assumptions for budgeting as no further 
information has been provided for over 12 months. 
 
Benchmarking on our PFI leisure scheme could increase costs from 2024-25, a 
working group will be set up in 2023 to support this benchmarking. 

106



9. Strategy, Aspirations and Forward Projections 
The Council’s financial medium term strategy is shown below: 

1) To manage a budget process that will make progress in re-directing and 
focusing the budget on corporate priorities and in doing so, recognise the 
intrinsic link between this strategy and the Capital Strategy and the Treasury 
Management strategy. 

2) Adopt a corporate approach to budget preparation and continue to provide 
strong timely budget control. 

3) Use sound modern financial systems procedures and principles and promote 
digital record keeping and approval processes.  Ensure financial performance 
reporting remains integrated with other corporate performance. 

4) Ensure there is a scrutiny of the financial planning process and a consultation 
process to engage the public and stakeholders. 

5) Maintain balances and reserves that will provide for known risks and liabilities 
and provide capacity for managing peaks in expenditure. 

6) Operate strategies on capital and external funding that supports the Council’s 
corporate objectives and that supports the targets of any partners. 

7) Undertake a risk assessment of material items of income and expenditure 
and set the budget on the best available estimates. 

8) Manage and use our resources to deliver value for money and better 
sustainable outcomes for residents. 

9) Aim for a nil balance on the Collection Fund. 
10) Prepare robust and realistic income and resource requirement plans for the 

next four years. 
11) Promote take up of benefits and reliefs. 
12) Maximise income collection and grant funding. 
13) Recognise our role in the community by providing assistance to individuals, 

groups and businesses where possible. 
 
These strategies will be achieved through the working practices set by the relevant 
departments.  The effectiveness of these strategies and the underlying principles can 
be monitored by key outputs such as: 

o Annual audit letter 
o Governance and Audit Committee reports 
o Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 
o Grants returns submitted to deadlines 
o Governance and performance reports 

 
Section 16 details the planned savings from the evolve programme over the medium 
term in order to balance the budget and support our corporate priorities. 

 
10. 2022-23 Outturn 
An assessment of the 2022-23 out turn will partly inform the reliance we can place on 
the baseline we use for setting the 2023-24 estimates, with some adjustments for 
inflation related costs/income. In preparing the budgets for 2023-24 services have 
reflected known on-going pressures and efficiencies in their new budget estimates. 
 
11. Budget Requirement and Forward Estimates 
Outline estimates through to 2026-27 are shown in appendix B.  In compiling these 
figures we have followed the assumptions shown in sections 3 and 7 of this appendix 
and made specific adjustments to service budgets as and where budget holders have 
advised of a change over the medium term. 
 
Last years budget introduced our Evolve programme to help bridge the budget gap in 
future years.  Progress against these targets are reported regularly through our 

107



quarterly financial performance report to Cabinet. The current levels for efficiencies 
are: 

 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 

Projects in progress £199k £274k £379k £379k 

Evolve programme £150k £1,450k £1,930k £1,930k 

Potential future gap - - £512k £939k 

 
The special expenses charge shown in appendix B is made for the maintenance of 
footway lighting in Dereham, Thetford and Watton.  This is in addition to the precept 
raised by the Council across the district.  Attleborough and Swaffham have elected to 
be recharged directly for their footway lighting costs, so it forms part of their own 
precept.  These expenses are shown in the table below.  Other parish councils 
maintain their own footpath lighting requirements and therefore manage this cost 
through their own precept.  
 

 Dereham Thetford Watton Attlebo-
rough 

Swaff-
ham 

Special Expense £12,666.49 £48,445.72 £22,932.37 - - 

2023-24 tax base 5,842.9 6,504.1 2,883.4 - - 

2023-24 Band D £2.17 £7.45 £7.95 - - 

Direct charge 23-24 - - - £25,682 £21,793 

 
The County Council manage the footway lighting on behalf of Breckland and the 
Towns and Breckland Council have a planned replacement programme.     
 
12. Fees and Charges 
Income from fees and charges is an important source of revenue income for the 
Council.  Charges have a central role to play in service delivery, raising income, 
controlling access, responding to competition, funding investment and affecting 
public behaviour. 
 
As part of our overall income strategy we will seek to: 

o Maximise the return from the Council’s asset holdings. 
o Ensure that the yield from fees and charges matches the increase in base 

budget for services that levy fees and charges, otherwise the shortfall will fall 
upon the Council Tax payer. 

o Annually review fees and charges for discretionary services. 
o Ensure that statutory charges are implemented. 
o Treat windfall income as a corporate resource. 
o Use enforcement remedies effectively. 
o Seek to minimise benefit subsidy losses. 

 
Fees and charges have been reviewed and changes made where necessary to the 
levels levied.  Demand for services has also been reviewed and changes in demand 
have been reflected in the budgeted level of fees and charges income. 
Appendix D and D2 details all the fees and charges and highlights the charges 
which are new or have changed since they were last approved. 
 
In total £6,209k is due from fees and charges in the 2023-24 budget.  The chart 
below shows the main categories of budgeted fee income in 2023-24 and 2022-23 
for comparison.  
 

108



 
 
Other fees and charges includes income such as water sampling, new wheeled bins 
and bulky waste, amongst other smaller areas. 
 
In addition to fees and charges the council has also invested over £45m in 
commercial properties.  It uses the rent from these properties to support the delivery 
of front line services.  Gross income from commercial property rent is estimated at 
£2,926k in 2023-24, excluding service charges, offices rental and finance lease 
adjustments (£2.8m in 2022-23).   
 
13. Reserves and Balances 
The authority carried out a review of its reserves and balances during 2022-23 and 
the finding and recommendations from this are incorporated into this budget.   
 
Appendix E outlines the position statement on reserve balances.  The proposed 
budget does not require any long-term support from reserve balances, however, the 
future of business rates retention and other financial risks has required us to 
undertake a sensitivity analysis should these events require us to draw on balances.   
Whilst these future risks could still be significant, our reserves still have available 
balances should we need to draw on them.  Moving forward the General Fund 
balance is maintained above the minimum balance of £2,500k.   
 
The following table give a summary of the general fund reserve movements: 

 
General Fund 

22-23 
£’000 

23-24 
£’000 

24-25 
£’000 

25-26 
£’000 

26-27 
£’000 

Brought forward (2,849) (2,500) (2,676) (3,464) (2,676) 

In - (176) (788) - - 

Out 349 - - 788 - 

Carried forward (2,500) (2,676) (3,464) (2,676) (2,676) 

 
These are the observations from the review of reserves for this budget: 

o The organisational development reserve contained a low amount of 
unallocated funds to use for invest to save initiatives that will drive revenue 
costs down.  Therefore, any general unallocated amounts and amounts no 
longer required in other reserves have been consolidated in the 
organisational development reserve to increase funds available.  This reserve 
also includes specific contributions into reserve each year which will be used 

0

200,000

400,000

600,000

800,000

1,000,000

1,200,000

1,400,000

1,600,000

2022/23
Estimate

2023/24
Estimate

109



at a later date (i.e. elections) and a new contribution in 23-24 which will top up 
the reserve once received. 

o An available sum of £1,803k is held in a Revenue & Benefits reserve to cover 
the potential pressures and/or timing pressures resulting from Housing 
Benefit or business rates retention volatility.  This reserve is also used to 
smooth the accounting effects of levy payments in one year offset by surplus 
in the future year. 

o The growth and investment fund will be used for projects which generate at 
least a 4% ongoing return, for example through either purchase or build of 
assets, to secure housing or business rates or employment growth generating 
or other revenue saving projects.   

o The inclusive growth reserve holds the new homes bonus funding and the 
balances will be allocated in each financial year for priority projects. 

o Amounts relating to capital replacement/maintenance have been centralised 
into a major capital replacements reserve which contributes a small amount 
each year to the replacement of major items which cannot be capitalised. 

o There are no budgeted plans to top up these reserves in future years, which 
will lead to difficulties in financing future projects unless grant funding is 
achieved.  Each year this will be revisited with the aim to top up reserves for 
priority projects or capital spend where budget allows. 

 
In setting the level of General Balances, consideration has been given to the 
adequacy of financial control, the overall financial position, medium-term financial 
plans and the strategic, operational and financial risks facing the Council.  Following 
this review, it is proposed that the General Fund remains set at a minimum level of 
£2,500k. 
 
14. Risk, Key Issues, Sensitivity and Monitoring 
The Council must set a budget which is a realistic statement of its estimated income 
and expenditure for the coming year, based upon information currently available.  
The Council has a duty to take into account the demand for its services and the effect 
on council tax payers of meeting those demands at varying levels of services.  Given 
the good management practices and sound financial and performance monitoring 
delivered in the past, the Council has the platform and expertise to deliver a balanced 
budget.  For full details on risks, please refer to our risk register and our quarterly 
risks reported to Governance and Audit committee. 
 
The following table details the key budget risks and issues identified and how we 
intend to mitigate them:  
 
Risk 

Likeli-
hood 

 
Impact 

 
Mitigation 

Lack of clarity for funding levels 
from 2025-26 from the Fair 
Funding Review & retained/ 
reset business rates 

High Medium Budget set to provide best 
estimate.  Transitional 
arrangements likely to be 
implemented. 

Proposed Environment Bill 
changes to waste services 
creates significant financial 
pressures (if not funded) 

Medium High Continue lobbying for new 
burdens funding to cover the 
additional costs. 

The current levels of Housing 
Benefit Overpayments debt 
could be at risk following the 
transfer to Universal Credit 

Medium Medium National lobbying is taking 
place on this matter  

110



 
Risk 

Likeli-
hood 

 
Impact 

 
Mitigation 

Inflation rises by more than 
budgeted projections 

Medium Medium Budget assumptions kept up 
to date with most recent 
projections 

Reduced available capital 
funding meaning that borrowing 
will be required for future large 
projects 

Medium Medium Continue to closely monitor 
the Council’s CFR and 
communicate remaining 
balances to Members before 
decisions made. 
Use of revenue funding to 
support capital schemes 
where appropriate. 
Dis-investment in poorer 
performing assets to re-
invest 

Business rates retention 
scheme leaves Council 
exposed to reduced income 
from economic downturn or 
appeals 

Medium Low Monitor throughout year & 
reserve created to help with 
potential initial 
pressures/timing pressures 

Risk that renewable energy 
NNDR income may not remain 
100% retained by Breckland 

Low High Continued monitoring and 
responding to consultations. 

Increased maintenance costs of 
ageing physical assets 

Low Medium Asset management plan.  
Pro-active rather than 
reactive maintenance 
programme. 

Contractors for the Council 
facing financial hardship, going 
into administration or novating 
contracts to other suppliers 

Low Medium Contingency plans in place, 
financial checks for new 
contracts, wording in 
contracts to protect the 
Council from novation to 
alternative suppliers 

Extension of internal drainage 
board (IDB) activities increases 
drainage board levies beyond 
our control 

Low Medium Liaison with IDB. 
Consider methods to 
smooth the effects of future 
costs 

Savings are not delivered to the 
expected time frames or new 
efficiencies are not identified. 

Low Medium Continued monitoring & 
reporting and evolve 
programme in place 

 
In addition to the risks identified above we have calculated a sensitivity analysis of 
our key variables in order to quantify the potential financial impact.  These 
sensitivities are shown in appendix F. 
 
15. Consultation, Timetable and Links to Other Strategies 
The draft budget is put out to consultation to Overview & Scrutiny Commission and 
on the website, inviting commentary from key stakeholders.  Feedback received from 
this consultation will be considered and incorporated into the final budget papers 
where necessary.   
 

111



It is important to have clear and agreed timetables for the budget process so that 
statutory requirements are met.  Each year a timetable is agreed with the corporate 
management team prior to the start of the process (i.e. around July each year). 
 
The Council has adopted a corporate risk management strategy and financial risk 
management is integrated into the Council’s overall management and decision 
making processes.  This ensures a robust and well integrated risk management 
programme, which will help the Council to identify and manage key strategic risks 
facing it, in pursuit of its corporate objectives. 
 
Our Performance Framework has been developed to manage delivery of the new 
priorities described in the councils Corporate Plan.  The annual business planning 
process will run alongside the budget setting process to ensure an integrated 
approach of performance and finance and ensure that resources are made available 
to deliver the revised corporate plan. 
 
16. Value for Money and the Efficiency Requirement 
The significant and ongoing reductions in central funding for local authorities and un-
certainty relating to future years funding has brought the value for money (VFM) 
issue to the forefront for all public services and all authorities are required to 
demonstrate VFM.  VFM is more than simply cuts to services and/or budgets, it 
includes; innovation in service delivery, investment in technology and digitalisation, 
rationalisation of back office functions and organisational development.  It is more 
important than ever that the tax payers in Breckland are receiving VFM and that 
funds are available to provide front-line services to the community while ensuring the 
impact on council tax is contained. 
 
The current budget includes our Evolve programme to continually deliver efficiency 
and innovation throughout the medium term financial plan. 
 
17. Capital Estimates 
The capital programme has been created to meet the priorities of the Council and 
has been adjusted this year to ensure deliverability without the need to borrow and 
within existing staff resources.  The schemes and associated funding are set out in 
appendix H.  Each scheme is supported by a capital bid form, formulated where 
appropriate after the consideration of options.  The cash flow implications of all 
schemes and the impact on revenue have been included within the revenue budgets.  
The joint preparation of both a capital and revenue budget should ensure a 
sustainable position for the Council.  Capital receipts and external funding are 
included where a decision has been made to dis-invest in an asset and where 
external funding is considered more than likely to be received.  Our capital 
programme covers a 10 year period on a rolling basis which conforms with the new 
CIPFA Prudential code for Capital finance published at the end of 2021. 
 
The capital programme contains both annualised projects to be delivered in year and 
larger projects that will span more than one financial year.  If a new project is to be 
included within the capital programme it must be more than an idea.  As a minimum 
criterion, costs, timescales, funding agreements, governance arrangements, risks 
and outcomes will be clearly specified for all named projects.   
 
Capital resources continue to diminish over time, the capital strategy details this 
position fully in section 5.  The forecasts currently show that we have capital reserves 
subject to forecast capital receipts being realised, which covers our 10 year capital 
plans.  Any future large scale investment (such as through the Evolve programme) 
will require either additional capital receipts to be generated, additional grant funding 

112



to be received, or external borrowing.   Prioritisation of capital projects in the future 
will be key to the best use of the Council’s resources.  Any future decision on 
borrowing for capital projects would only be supported if the business case does not 
place additional cost pressure on the tax payer through the council tax charge.  The 
council would not undertake any un-supported borrowing whilst it still has reasonable 
capital receipt resources available. 

113



APPENDIX B

DESCRIPTION 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

ACTUAL ESTIMATE ESTIMATE ESTIMATE ESTIMATE ESTIMATE

£     £ £ £     £ £

COUNCIL

Employee Related Expenses 15,937,150 13,133,342 14,109,850 14,138,135 14,343,749 14,487,186

Premises Related Expenses 1,588,828 1,481,215 1,568,440 1,629,441 1,693,693 1,720,790

Transport Related Expenses 319,801 254,233 230,291 229,023 222,694 222,694

Supplies & Services 35,247,741 16,057,463 18,079,731 17,950,637 17,861,886 17,897,676

Transfer Payments 22,652,459 21,647,434 20,176,656 19,071,807 18,034,071 18,034,071

Support Services 5,970,642 4,543,823 4,214,792 4,343,023 4,460,584 4,460,584

Capital Financing Costs 2,300,176 10,876,383 2,909,814 2,868,554 2,836,234 2,836,234

Other Income (40,385,447) (18,819,434) (20,431,354) (20,345,802) (20,287,939) (20,385,826)

Housing Benefit Income (21,002,627) (20,910,696) (19,004,415) (17,913,064) (16,887,192) (16,887,192)

COUNCIL TOTAL 22,628,723 28,263,763 21,853,805 21,971,754 22,277,780 22,386,217

Appropriations:

Revenue Contributions towards Capital Programme 1,175,447 276,000 795,456 119,156 241,175 90,857

IAS 19 Contra Entry (1,674,000) 0 0 0 0 0

Reffcus Contra Entry (2,423,800) (9,575,863) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644)

Depreciation Contra Entry (1,492,942) (1,300,520) (1,580,170) (1,538,910) (1,506,590) (1,506,590)

MRP 1,176,096 1,308,356 1,320,128 1,342,685 1,366,406 1,391,349

Reversal Of Holiday Pay Accrual 8,174 0 0 0 0 0

Reversal of Impairments/Movements in Value 1,616,566 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Grants & Contributions 2,992,629 0 0 0 0 0

Mitigating Treatment for Finance Leases 113,051 0 0 0 0 0

Contribution To Reserves 6,851,653 1,402,814 606,494 407,374 411,744 0

Contribution From Reserves (14,915,897) (2,478,347) (2,063,829) (529,967) (434,925) (80,000)

COUNCIL SUBTOTAL 16,055,700 17,896,203 19,602,240 20,442,448 21,025,946 20,952,189

Less Trading Units 5,916,531 4,449,679 4,140,652 4,260,013 4,367,623 4,367,623

NET COST OF SERVICES 10,139,169 13,446,524 15,461,588 16,182,435 16,658,323 16,584,566

GENERAL FUND SUMMARY AND PRECEPT REQUIREMENT
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

ACTUAL ESTIMATE ESTIMATE ESTIMATE ESTIMATE ESTIMATE

£     £ £ £     £ £

NET COST OF SERVICES 10,139,169 13,446,524 15,461,588 16,182,435 16,658,323 16,584,566

Evolve programme 0 (150,000) (1,450,000) (1,929,965) (1,929,965)

Contribution (from)/to General Fund (27,773) 77,407 176,327 787,903 (1,300,312) (938,781)

BRECKLAND BUDGET REQUIREMENT 10,111,396 13,523,931 15,487,915 15,520,338 13,428,046 13,715,820

FINANCING

Retained Business Rates (Less tarriff Payable) (3,562,756) (2,979,097) (4,341,498) (4,504,826) (4,501,024) (4,591,044)

Retained Business Rates - Renewable Energy (2,479,941) (2,522,211) (2,677,689) (2,733,920) (2,791,332) (2,847,159)

Collection Fund - NNDR Levy Payment on Growth 1,212,701 914,712 888,279 943,011 0 0

Damping re Fair Funding Review 0 0 0 0 (173,686) 0

Potential additional NNDR income from 75% retention scheme 0 0 0 0 (281,314) (286,940)

Revenue Support Grant (660,427) (681,033) (749,412) (749,412) 0 0

Other Non Specified Grants (5,762,508) (946,329) (1,382,765) (819,573) 0 0

New Homes Bonus (applied in year) (2,041,959) (1,390,600) (748,910) 0 0 0

New Homes Bonus - Excess contributed to Growth & Investment Fund 323,785 0 0 0 0 0

New Homes Bonus - Excess contributed to Inclusive Growth Reserve 1,318,174 1,390,600 748,910 0 0 0

NNDR S31 Grants 0 (3,716,456) (2,226,879) (2,277,855) 0 0

Collection Fund - Council Tax 46,327 (20,009) (136,943) 0 0 0

Collection Fund - NNDR 5,969,120 1,184,337 220,756 0 0 0

Special Expenses raised through Council Tax (76,892) (80,156) (84,044) (84,044) (84,044) (84,044)

Special Expenses funded from LCTS grant (8,833) (8,833) (8,833) (8,833) (8,833) (8,833)

BRECKLAND PRECEPT REQUIREMENT 4,388,187 4,668,856 4,988,887 5,284,886 5,587,813 5,897,800

BRECKLAND BAND D COUNCIL TAX 98.73 103.68 108.63 113.58 118.53 123.48

PERCENTAGE INCREASE 4.77% 4.56% 4.36% 4.18%

Tax Base 44,446.3 45,031.4 45,925.5 46,530.1 47,142.6 47,763.2

SUMMARY BY SUBJECTIVE HEADING

114



APPENDIX C

PARISH WARD/NAME

PROPERTIES TAX 

BASE PARISH WARD/NAME

PROPERTIES TAX 

BASE

ASHILL 513.3 KENNINGHALL 396.8

ATTLEBOROUGH 4,017.9 LEXHAM 49.7

BANHAM 524.4 LITCHAM 215.7

BAWDESWELL 308.1 LONGHAM 86.2

BEACHAMWELL 135.2 LOPHAM NORTH 273.4

BEESTON 218.7 LOPHAM SOUTH 187.0

BEETLEY 534.2 LYNFORD 52.5

BESTHORPE 303.3 LYNG 299.2

BILLINGFORD 92.1 MATTISHALL 919.4

BINTREE 122.3 MERTON 52.0

BLO NORTON 119.8 MILEHAM 247.0

BRADENHAM 255.6 MUNDFORD 513.3

BRETTENHAM & KILVERSTONE 234.6 NARBOROUGH 414.4

BRIDGHAM 127.1 NARFORD 11.3

BRISLEY 129.5 NECTON 742.1

BUCKENHAM NEW 192.8 NEWTON BY CASTLEACRE 16.4

BUCKENHAM OLD 540.1 OVINGTON 97.0

BYLAUGH 36.6 OXBOROUGH 98.9

CARBROOKE 728.4 PICKENHAM NORTH 165.3

CASTON 208.2 PICKENHAM SOUTH 38.1

COCKLEY CLEY 45.7 QUIDENHAM 182.7

COLKIRK 267.6 RIDDLESWORTH & GASTHORPE 52.4

CRANWICH 20.5 ROCKLANDS 289.7

CRANWORTH 184.7 ROUDHAM & LARLING 115.4

CRESSINGHAM GREAT 94.6 ROUGHAM 43.6

CRESSINGHAM LITTLE 73.8 SAHAM TONEY 603.4

CROXTON 166.9 SCARNING 884.2

DEREHAM 5,842.9 SCOULTON 96.3

DIDLINGTON 28.1 SHIPDHAM 772.3

DUNHAM GREAT 130.5 SHROPHAM 170.5

DUNHAM LITTLE 129.3 SNETTERTON 84.8

ELLINGHAM GREAT 562.4 SOUTHACRE 13.1

ELLINGHAM LITTLE 97.3 SPARHAM 114.7

ELMHAM NORTH 502.6 SPORLE WITH PALGRAVE 346.1

ELSING 104.4 STANFIELD 65.6

FOULDEN 157.3 STANFORD 2.3

FOXLEY 134.3 STOW BEDON & BRECKLES 136.1

FRANSHAM 171.7 SWAFFHAM 2,921.0

GARBOLDISHAM 304.2 SWANTON MORLEY 720.1

GARVESTONE 287.9 THETFORD 6,622.6

GATELEY 28.2 THOMPSON 153.0

GOODERSTONE 147.1 TITTLESHALL 139.6

GRESSENHALL 374.9 TUDDENHAM EAST 174.9

GRISTON 280.5 TUDDENHAM NORTH 133.6

GUIST 81.7 TWYFORD 16.8

HARDINGHAM 117.6 WATTON 2,883.4

HARLING 911.4 WEASENHAM ALL SAINTS 75.3

HILBOROUGH 86.3 WEASENHAM ST. PETER 59.2

HOCKERING 277.1 WEETING WITH BROOMHILL 551.8

HOCKHAM 254.2 WELLINGHAM 21.0

HOE & WORTHING 105.2 WENDLING 107.0

HOLME HALE 195.9 WHINBURGH & WESTFIELD 161.0

HORNINGTOFT 63.6 WHISSONSETT 182.7

ICKBURGH 100.7 WRETHAM 162.1

KEMPSTONE 7.7 YAXHAM 310.2

TOTAL TAX BASE 45,925.2

115



Appendix D

Charge Description VAT Rate

Statutory/ 

Discretionary

Current Charge 

2022/23 (excl VAT)

Proposed Charge 

2023/24 (excl 

VAT)

Licensing

Licensing Act 2003 B S Variable Variable

Club registration B S Variable Variable

Personal Licences B S Variable Variable

Temporary Events B S Variable Variable

Misc LA 2003 including Vary DPS B S Variable Variable

Lotteries renewal B s 20.00 20.00

Lotteries grant B S 40.00 40.00

Gambling Act 2005 B S Variable Variable

Zoo Inspections/DWA

Zoo Application- Intention to apply- NEW FEE B D new 135.00

Zoo Application ( New Application) NEW FEE ( + Vets Fee) B D new 510.00

Zoo Inspections - Applications & Renewal B D 178.00 730.00

Zoo Inspections - Inspection B D Variable Variable

Zoo- Special Inspection ( + Vets fee if applicable) B D new 385.00

Dangerous Wild Animals ( + Vets Fees) B D 392.00 420.00

Sex Establishments & Sex Entertainment Venues

Sex establishments & Sex Entertainment Venues - new application B D 1,200.00 1,280.00

Sex establishments & Sex Entertainment Venues - Renewal (no objection) B D 815.00 870.00

Sex establishments & Sex Entertainment Venues - new application (with objection) B D 1,500.00 1,600.00

Sex establishments & Sex Entertainment Venues - renewal (objections) B D 1,315.00 1,400.00

Sex establishments & Sex Entertainment Venues - Transfers & Variations B D 150.00 160.00

Street Traders

Street Traders - New application B D 408.00 435.00

Street Traders - Renewal B D 408.00 435.00

Street Traders - Copy of licence plate B D 30.00 35.00

Street Traders - Change of name (marriage/divorce), Change of address B D 30.00 35.00

Street Traders - Change of name of business B D 35.00 40.00

Street Traders- Community Events in Public Place ( Max 48 hrs) B D 71.00 75.00

Street Traders- Temporary Events ( up to 7 days) B D 115.00 125.00

Tables/Chairs

Section 115 Tables & Chairs B D 355.00 380.00

Tables & Chairs Renewal B D 190.00 205.00

Tables & Chairs copy of licence S D 35.00 40.00

Pavement Licence

Pavement new S D 75.00 80.00

Payment renewal S D 75.00 80.00

Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licences :

HCV New (plus test) B D 235.00 250.00

HCV Renewal (plus test) B D 235.00 230.00

PHV New (plus test) B D 180.00 195.00

PHV Renewal (plus test) B D 165.00 175.00

Driver - Grant (plus CRB) B D 168.00 250.00

Driver - Renewal (plus CRB) B D 168.00 250.00

PHO - Grant B D 415.00 440.00

PHO Renewal B D 415.00 440.00

Replacement Breckland Stags B D 40.00 removed

Replacement Vehicle Plate B D 50.00 55.00

Replacement Drivers Badge B D 50.00 55.00

Replacement Licence B D 40.00 30.00

Replacement Internal Sticker B D 35.00 removed

Transfer permission renewal B D 165.00 175.00

Transfer existing licensed vehicle to new owner B D 50.00 55.00

Replacement Platform B D 40.00 45.00

Replacement Stickers (all types) B D 45.00 50.00

Magnetic Bracket B D 65.00 70.00

Trailer Permission B D 165.00 175.00

Trailer Renewal B D 165.00 175.00

116



Scrap Metal

Scrap Metal - new Site B D 330.00 355.00

Scrap Metal - new Collector B D 330.00 355.00

Scrap Metal - renew Site B D 294.00 315.00

Scrap Metal - renew Collector B D 223.00 240.00

Scrap Metal - change of licence (site) B D 114.00 125.00

Scrap Metal - change of licence (collector) B D 50.00 55.00

Scrap Metal - variation to licenced site B D 259.00 275.00

Scrap Metal - change of site manager B D 35.00 40.00

Scrap Metal - variation change from site to collector B D 202.00 215.00

Scrap Metal - variation from collector to site B D 331.00 355.00

Scrap Metal - copy of licence (site) B D 23.00 25.00

Scrap Metal - copy of licence (collector) B D 50.00 55.00

Animal Welfare

Kennels for dogs Application Fees 265.00 285.00

Kennels for dogs ( Compliance fee- 1 yr licence) 190.00 205.00

Kennels for dogs ( Compliance fee- 2yr licence) 255.00 275.00

Kennels for dogs ( Compliance fee- 3 yr licence) 305.00 325.00

Home Boarding ( Application fee) 245.00 260.00

Home Boarding ( Compliance fee yr 1) 165.00 175.00

Home Boarding ( Compliance fee yr 2) 220.00 235.00

Home Boarding ( Compliance fee yr 3) 280.00 300.00

Day Care for dogs - commercial Application fee 265.00 285.00

Day Care for dogs commercial - Complaince fee yr 1 190.00 205.00

Day Care for dogs - commercial- compliance fee Yr 2 255.00 275.00

Day Care for dogs - commercial- compliance fee Yr 3 305.00 325.00

Boarding Cats- application Fee 265.00 285.00

Boarding Cats Compliance fee- Year 1 190.00 205.00

Boarding Cats Compliance fee- Year 2 255.00 275.00

Boarding Cats Compliance fee- Year 3 305.00 325.00

Breeding Dogs Application fee ( + Vets fees) 290.00 310.00

Breeding of Dogs - Complaince fee yr 1 190.00 205.00

Breeding Dogs - compliance fee yr 2 255.00 275.00

Breeding Dogs - compliance fee yr 3 305.00 325.00

Hiring out Horses Application fee (+ vet fees) 290.00 310.00

Hiring out Horses (+ annual vet fee) Compliance fee yr 1 190.00 205.00

Hiring out Horses (+ annual vet fee) Compliance fee yr 2 280.00 300.00

Hiring out Horses (+ annual vet fee) Compliance fee yr 3 405.00 430.00

Selling Animals as Pets Application fee 265.00 285.00

Selling Animals as Pets Compliance fee yr 1 190.00 205.00

Selling Animals as Pets Compliance fee yr 2 255.00 275.00

Selling Animals as Pets Compliance fee yr 3 305.00 325.00

Animals for exhibition- Application ( 3 yr licence) 275.00 295.00

Riding Establishment variable variable

Re-inspection risk rating 185.00 200.00

Copy of Licence 27.00 30.00

Change of name (marriage/divorce) Change of business name (same owner) 32.00 35.00

Transfer due to death of licence holder (interim period 3 months) 32.00 35.00

Variation where inspection required 185.00 200.00

Adding Horses 30.00 35.00

Pre-Application Advice Visit ( Animal Licensing) 179.00 190.00

Animal Welfare packs S D 26.00 30.00

Tattooing and Piercing 

Tattooing and Piercing regs B D 240.00 244.00

Tattooing and Piercing regs (Admin fee) B D 48.00 55.00

Dog Warden Fees (split of fees below)

Dog Collection Fines (first time) B S 85.00 90.00

Dog Collection Fines (second time) B S 90.00 95.00

Dog Collection Fines (third time) B S 101.00 110.00

117



Sampling Fees (split of fees below)

Sampling plus analysis Domestic S D 154.00 165.00

Sampling plus analysis Domestic per additional sample at same location S D 35.00 40.00

Sampling plus analysis Commercial S D 230.00 245.00

Sampling plus analysis Commercial per additional sample at same location S D 40.00 45.00

Granting an authorisation S D 100.00 110.00

Investigation following sample failure S D 362.00 120.00

Resample charge Reg 10 supplies S D 32.00 35.00

Resample charge Reg 9 supplies S D 40.00 45.00

Sampling plus analysis reg 11 Large domestic / commercial  premises S D 410.00 435.00

Sampling reg 11 additional sample at the same location S D 225.00 240.00

Sampling Radiation where required S D 550.00 585.00

Fee for abortive pre-booked sampling visits (<24 hours notice) Domestic S D 120.00 130.00

Fee for abortive pre-booked sampling visits (<24 hours notice) Commercial S D 199.00 215.00

Water Sampling Analysis Fee (variable recharge of actual laboratory fees). B S Variable variable

EPA Registration Fees B S Variable Variable

Other Environmental:

High Hedges B S 362.00 385.00

Contaminated Land Searches B D 151.00 160.00

Fixed Penalty Notice Income B D Variable Variable

Food Safety:

Export Certificates  - first hour E D 96.00 100.00

Export Certificates  - Hourly charge thereafter E D 69.00 75.00

Food Hygiene Rating Re-Scoring Request Fee B D 196.00 210.00

Weekend issue export health certificate 1st hour E D 145.00 155.00

Weekend issue health certificate hourly rate thereafter E D 104.00 110.00

Pre-inspection audits B D 179.00 190.00

Primary Authority Hourly Charge E D 91.00 95.00

SFBB Packs S D 25.00 25.00

Level 2 Training Courses (Classroom) S D 70.00 75.00

Level 3 Training Courses (Classroom) S D 299.00 320.00

Health & Safety:

 Factual Statement - minimum charge first hour E D 100.00 105.00

 Factual Statement - Hourly Charge E D 67.00 70.00

Primary Authority Hourly Charge E D 91.00 95.00

Additional Income E D variable variable

Car Charging Meters:

Electric Car Charging Meter S D variable 200.00

Anglia Room full day S D 270.00 260.00

Anglia Room half day S D 180.00 180.00

Anglia Room evening S D 190.00 190.00

Norfolk Room full day S D 170.00 170.00

Norfolk Room half day S D 95.00 95.00

Norfolk Room evening S D 110.00 110.00

Dereham Room full day S D 70.00 70.00

Dereham Room half day S D 50.00 50.00

Dereham Room evening S D 60.00 70.00

Environmental Services:

Garden Waste scheme B D 53.00 58.00

Charge for Wheeled bins for new developments S D 62.00 68.00

Charge for Wheeled bins upgrade 240 litre to 360 litre B D 62.00 68.00

Charge for Wheeled bins downgrade B D 62.00 68.00

Bullky Waste up to 3 items B D 35.00 38.00

Bullky Waste - extra £5 per extra item B D 5.00 8.00

Trade Waste Delivery Charges:

Trade Waste  - sacks for residual B D 0.00 0.00

Trade Waste - 240 litre for residual B D 8.80 17.00

Trade Waste - 360 litre for residual B D 8.80 17.00

Trade Waste - 660 litre for residual B D 8.80 17.00

Trade Waste - 1,100 litre for residual B D 8.80 17.00

Trade Waste  - sacks for recycling B D 0.00 17.00

Trade Waste - 240 litre for recycling B D 8.80 17.00

Trade Waste - 360 litre for recycling B D 8.80 17.00

Trade Waste - 660 litre for recycling B D 8.80 17.00

Trade Waste - 1,100 litre for recycling B D 8.80 17.00

118



Trade Waste - includes disposal charges:

Trade Waste  - NEW sacks for residual B D 1.80 2.12

Trade Waste - 240 litre for residual B D 4.65 5.55

Trade Waste - 360 litre for residual B D 5.15 6.32

Trade Waste - 660 litre for residual B D 6.45 8.29

Trade Waste - 1,100 litre for residual B D 8.35 11.17

Trade Waste  - sacks for recycling B D 2.45 2.79

Trade Waste - 240 litre for recycling B D 6.70 7.37

Trade Waste - 360 litre for recycling B D 8.45 9.30

Trade Waste - 660 litre for recycling B D 12.80 14.19

Trade Waste - 1,100 litre for recycling B D 19.45 21.40

Waste Transfer Note B S 30.00 30.00

Electoral Services:

Sale of marked register - data plus £1 per 1,000 entries S S £10 plus £1 per 

1,000

£10 plus £1 per 

1,000

Sale of marked register - paper plus £2 per 1,000 entries S S £2 per 1,000 £2 per 1,000

Sale of edited register - data plus £1.50 per 1,000 entries S S £1.50 per 1,000 £1.50 per 1,000

Sale of edited register - paper plus £5 per 1,000 entries S S £5 per 1,000 £5 per 1,000

Sale of full register - data plus £1.50 per 1,000 entries S S 182.00 183.50

Sale of full register - data plus £1.50 per 1,000 entries (Monthly updates) S S 207.00 230.00

Sale of full register - paper plus £5 per 1,000 entries S S £20 plus £5 per 

1,000

£20 plus £5 per 

1,000

Planning:

Planning Application Fees B S Variable Variable

Pre-application Planning Advice NEW S D Variable Variable

Discharge of planning conditions S D Variable Variable

S106 agrrement Income S D Variable Variable

Charges for Services - general S D Variable Variable

Search Fees :

Standard search fees: Residential B/S D 124.20 124.20

Standard search fees: Commercial B/S D 144.20 144.20

Extra Parcel (including Con 29 & LLC1 parcel fees) Residential & Commercial B D 15.65 15.65

Extra parcel Con 29 Only - Residential & Commercial fee for enquiry number 22 (each) B D 0.00 11.65

Extra Parcel LLC1 only - Residential & Commercial B D 0.00 4.00

Additional Solicitor's own Enquiries B D 12.50 14.00

LLC1 (Official Certificate of Search) B D 26.00 26.00

Con29 Only - Residential B D 98.20 98.20

Con 29 Only - Commercial B D 118.20 118.20

Optional Enquiries (Q4-22) Per Question B D 17.00 17.00

Search Fees :

Con 29O - part 2 enquire 4-21 S D 17.00 0.00

Con 29O - part 2 enquire 22 S S/D 17.00 0.00

Con 29R - part 1 enquiry S D 98.20 0.00

Registration of a charge in Part 11 of the Register (Light Obstruction Notice) B S/D 0.00 0.00

Filing a definitive certificate of the Lands Tribunal under rule 10(3) of the Local Land Charges 

Rules 1977

B

S/D

0.00 0.00

Filing a judgement, order or application for the variation or cancellation of any entry in Part 11 

of the register (Light Obstruction Notice) 

B

S/D

0.00 0.00

Inspection of documents filed under rule 10 in respect of each parcel of land B S/D 0.00 0.00

Office copy of any entry in the register (not including a copy or extract of any plan or document 

filed pursuant to these rules)

B

S/D

0.00 0.00

Personal Search Charges B D 0.00 0.00

Building control:

Building Regs - Plan deposits S S Variable Variable

House Naming & Numbering:

Re-name of House Name S D 79.96 79.96

New Properties up to 10 plots S D 119.94 119.94

New Properties more than 10 plots S D 199.90 199.90

New Street Name Plate S D 159.96 159.96

Holiday Activities:

All Holiday Activities are individually priced E D 3.00 0.00

119



Housing:

HMO Licence Fees B D/S 399.00 399.00

additional income B D/S variable variable

Improvement Notice B D variable variable

Prohibition Order B D variable variable

Emergency remedial action B D variable variable

Emergency prohibition order B D variable variable

Hazard awareness notice B D variable variable

Demolition order B D 400.00 0.00

Immigration certificate B D 140.00 140.00

Civil penalties B D variable variable

Each additional hazard B D variable variable

Caravan Site Inspection Fee B S variable variable

Chasing outstanding rent deposit debtors B D Variable variable

B&B Charges B D Variable 0.00

Rechargeable Works (including welfare burials) - Recovery of costs + 10% estimated S D variable variable

stopping charge Per caravan per night B D 5.00 0.00

stopping charge Per caravan per week B D 35.00 0.00

120



1 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.7 

A Guide to the Fees for Planning Applications in England 
 
These fees apply from 17 January 2018 onwards (unless stated). 
 
This document is based upon ‘The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications, Deemed 
Applications, Requests and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012’ (as amended) 
 
The fee should be paid at the time the application is submitted. 
If you are unsure of the fee applicable, please contact your Local Planning Authority. 
 
Householder Applications 
Alterations/extensions to a single 
dwellinghouse, including works within 
boundary 

Single 
dwellinghouse 

£206 

 
Outline Applications 
Site area Not more than 2.5 

hectares 
£462 for each 0.1 hectare 
(or part thereof) 

More than 2.5 
hectares 

£11,432 + £138 for each 
additional 0.1 hectare (or 
part thereof) in excess of 
2.5 hectares 
Maximum fee of £150,000 

 
Full Applications 
(and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) 
Alterations/extensions to 
dwellinghouses, including works within 
boundaries 

Single 
dwellinghouse (or 
single flat) 

£206 

Two or more 
dwellinghouses (or 
two or more flats) 

£407 

New dwellinghouses Not more than 50 
dwellinghouses 

£462 for each 
dwellinghouse 

More than 50 
dwellinghouses 

£22,859 + £138 for each 
additional dwellinghouse in 
excess of 50 
Maximum fee of £300,000 

Continued on next page…  

121

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2920/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2920/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/changes/affected/uksi/2012/2920
https://1app.planningportal.co.uk/YourLpa/FindYourLpa


2 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.7 

Full Applications 
(and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) 
continued… 
Erection of buildings (not dwellinghouses, agricultural, glasshouses, plant nor machinery) 
Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

No increase in 
gross floor space 
or no more than 
40 sq m 

£234 

More than 40 sq m 
but no more than  
75 sq m 

£462 

More than 75 sq m 
but no more than  
3,750 sq m 

£462 for each 75sq m (or 
part thereof) 

More than 3,750 
sq m 

£22,859 + £138 for each 
additional 75 sq m (or part 
thereof) in excess of 3,750 
sq m 
Maximum fee of £300,000 

The erection of buildings (on land used for agriculture for agricultural purposes) 
Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

Not more than 465 
sq m 

£96 

More than 465 sq 
m but not more 
than 540 sq m 

£462 

More than 540 sq 
m but not more 
than 4,215 sq m 

£462 for first 540 sq m + 
£462 for each additional 75 
sq m (or part thereof) in 
excess of 540 sq m 

More than 4,215 
sq m   

£22,859 + £138 for each 
additional 75 sq m (or part 
thereof) in excess of 4,215 
sq m 
Maximum fee of £300,000 

 
Continued on next page… 
 
  

122



3 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.7 

Full Applications 
(and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) 
continued… 
Erection of glasshouses (on land used for the purposes of agriculture) 
Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

Not more than 465 
sq m 

£96 

More than 465 sq 
m  

£2,580 

Erection/alterations/replacement of plant and machinery 
Site area Not more than 5 

hectares 
£462 for each 0.1 hectare 
(or part thereof) 

More than 5 
hectares 

£22,859 + £138 for each 
additional 0.1 hectare (or 
part thereof) in excess of 5 
hectares 
Maximum fee of £300,000 

Applications other than Building Works 
Car parks, service roads or other 
accesses 

For existing uses £234 

Waste (Use of land for disposal of refuse or waste materials or deposit of material remaining 
after extraction or storage of minerals) 
Site area Not more than 15 

hectares 
£234 for each 0.1 hectare 
(or part thereof) 

More than 15 
hectares 

£34,934 + £138 for each 
additional 0.1 hectare (or 
part thereof) in excess of 15 
hectares 
Maximum fee of £78,000 

Operations connected with exploratory drilling for oil or natural gas 
Site area Not more than 7.5 

hectares 
£508 for each 0.1 hectare 
(or part thereof) 

More than 7.5 
hectares 

£38,070  + £151 for each 
additional 0.1 hectare (or 
part thereof) in excess of 
7.5 hectares. 
Maximum fee of £300,000 

 
Continued on next page… 
  

123



4 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.7 

Full Applications 
(and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) 
continued… 
Applications other than Building Works continued… 
Operations (other than exploratory drilling) for the winning and working of oil or 
natural gas 
Site area Not more than 15 

hectares 
£257 for each 0.1 hectare 
(or part thereof) 

More than 15 
hectares 

£38,520 + additional £151 
for each 0.1 hectare in 
excess of 15 hectares 
Maximum fee of £78,000 

Other operations (winning and working of minerals) excluding oil and natural gas 
Site area Not more than 15 

hectares 
£234 for each 0.1 hectare 
(or part thereof) 

More than 15 
hectares 

£34,934 + additional £138 
for each 0.1 hectare in 
excess of 15 hectares 
Maximum fee of £78,000 

Other operations (not coming within any of the above categories) 
Site area Any site area £234 for each 0.1 hectare 

(or part thereof) 
Maximum fee of £2,028 

Change of Use of a building to use as one or more separate dwellinghouses, or other cases 
Number of dwellinghouses Not more than 50  

dwellinghouses 
£462 for each 
dwellinghouse 

More than 50 
dwellinghouses 

£22,859 + £138 for each 
additional dwellinghouse in 
excess of 50 
Maximum fee of £300,000 

Other Changes of Use of a building or land £462 
 
Lawful Development Certificate  
Existing use or operation Same as Full 
Existing use or operation - lawful not to comply with any 
condition or limitation   

£234   

Proposed use or operation Half the normal planning 
fee. 

 
Continued on next page… 

124



5 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.7 

Prior Approval 
Larger Home Extensions (from 19 August 2019) £96 
Additional storeys on a home No fee currently set 
Agricultural and Forestry buildings & operations £96 
Demolition of buildings £96 
Communications (previously referred to as 
‘Telecommunications Code Systems Operators’) 

£462 

Change of Use from Shops (Class A1), Professional and 
Financial Services (Class A2), Takeaways (Class A5), Betting 
Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops or Launderettes to Offices (Class 
B1a) 

£96 

Change of Use of a building and any land within its curtilage 
from Business (Use Class B1), Hotels (Use Class C1), 
Residential Institutions (Use Class C2), Secure Residential 
Institutions (Use Class C2A) or Assembly and Leisure (Use 
Class D2) to a State Funded School or Registered Nursery 

£96 

Change of Use of a building and any land within its curtilage 
from an Agricultural Building to a State-Funded School or 
Registered Nursery 

£96 

Change of Use of a building and any land within its curtilage 
from an Agricultural Building to a flexible use within Shops 
(Use Class A1), Financial and Professional services (Use Class 
A2), Restaurants and Cafes (Use Class A3), Business (Use Class 
B1), Storage or Distribution (Use Class B8), Hotels (Use Class 
C1), or Assembly or Leisure (Use Class D2) 

£96 

Change of Use of a building and any land within its curtilage 
from Offices (Use Class B1a) Use to Dwellinghouses (Use Class 
C3) 

£96 

Change of Use of a building and any land within its curtilage 
from an Agricultural Building to Dwellinghouses (Use Class C3) 

£96; or 

£206 if it includes building 
operations in connection 
with the change of use 

Change of use of a building from Shops (Use Class A1), 
Financial and Professional Services (Use Class A2), Betting 
Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops, Launderette; or a mixed use 
combining one of these uses and use as a dwellinghouse to 
Dwellinghouses (Use Class C3) 

£96; or 

£206 if it includes building 
operations in connection 
with the change of use 

 
Continued on next page…  

125



6 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.7 

Prior Approval continued… 
Change of use of a building and any land within its curtilage 
from Light Industrial (Use Class B1c) to Dwellinghouses (Use 
Class C3) 

£96 

Change of Use of a building and any land within its curtilage 
from Amusement Arcades/Centres and Casinos (Sui Generis 
Uses) to Dwellinghouses (Use Class C3) 

£96; or 

£206 if it includes building 
operations in connection 
with the change of use 

Change of Use of a building from Shops (Use Class A1), 
Financial and Professional Services (Use Class A2), Betting 
Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops and Casinos (Sui Generis Uses) to 
Restaurants and Cafés (Use Class A3) 

£96; or 

£206 if it includes building 
operations in connection 
with the change of use 

Change of Use of a building from Shops (Use Class A1) and 
Financial and Professional Services (Use Class A2), Betting 
Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops (Sui Generis Uses) to Assembly 
and Leisure Uses (Use Class D2) 

£96 

Change of Use from Shops (Class A1), Professional and 
Financial Services (Class A2), Takeaways (Class A5), Betting 
Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops or Launderettes to Offices (Class 
B1a) 

£96 

Development Consisting of the Erection or Construction of a 
Collection Facility within the Curtilage of a Shop 

£96 

Temporary Use of Buildings or Land for the Purpose of 
Commercial Film-Making and the Associated Temporary 
Structures, Works, Plant or Machinery required in Connection 
with that Use 

£96 

Installation, Alteration or Replacement of other Solar 
Photovoltaics (PV) equipment on the Roofs of Non-domestic 
Buildings, up to a Capacity of 1 Megawatt 

£96 

Construction of new dwellinghouses 
(from 2 September 2020) 

Not more than 50  
dwellinghouses 

£334 for each 
dwellinghouse 

More than 50 
dwellinghouses 

£16,525 + £100 for each 
dwellinghouse in excess of 
50 
Maximum fee of £300,000 

 
Continued on next page… 
  

126



7 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.7 

Reserved Matters 
Approval of reserved matters following outline approval Full fee due or if full fee 

already paid then £462 due 
 
Removal/Variation/Approval/Discharge of condition 
Removal or variation of a condition following grant of 
planning permission 

£234 

Discharge of condition(s) – Approval of 
details and/or confirmation that one or 
more planning conditions have been 
complied with 

Householder 
permissions 

£34 

All other 
permissions 

£116 

 
Advertising  
Relating to the business on the premises £132 
Advance signs which are not situated on or visible from 
the site, directing the public to a business 

£132 

Other advertisements £462 
 
Non-material Amendment Following a Grant of Planning Permission  
Householder developments £34 
Any other development £234 
 
Permission in Principle 
Site area £402 for each 0.1 hectare 

(or part thereof) 
 
Continued on next page… 
  

127



8 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.7 

Concessions 
Please note: Not all concessions are valid for all application types. Upon receipt of your 
application, the local authority will check the fee is correct and if the concession is applicable. 
Exemptions from payment 
An application solely for the alteration or extension of an existing dwellinghouse; or works in 
the curtilage of an existing dwellinghouse (other than the erection of a dwellinghouse) for 
the purpose of providing: 
• Means of access to or within it for a disabled person who is resident in it, or is proposing 

to take up residence in it; or 
• Facilities designed to secure that person's greater safety, health or comfort. 
An application solely for the carrying out of the operations for the purpose of providing a 
means of access for disabled persons to or within a building or premises to which members 
of the public are admitted. 
Listed Building Consent 
Planning permission for relevant demolition in a Conservation Area 
Works to Trees covered by a Tree Preservation Order or in a Conservation Area 
Hedgerow Removal 
If the application is the first revision of an application for development of the same character 
or description on the same site by the same applicant: 
• For a withdrawn application: Within 12 months of the date the application was received 
• For a determined application: Within 12 months of the date the application was granted, 

refused or an appeal dismissed 
• For an application where an appeal was made on the grounds of non-determination: 

Within 12 months of the period when the giving of notice of a decision on the earlier valid 
application expired 

If the application is for a lawful development certificate, for existing use, where an 
application for planning permission for the same development would be exempt from the 
need to pay a planning fee under any other planning fee regulation 
If the application is for consent to display an advertisement following either a withdrawal of 
an earlier application (before notice of decision was issued) or where the application is made 
following refusal of consent for display of an advertisement, and where the application is 
made by or on behalf of the same person 
If the application is for consent to display an advertisement which results from a direction 
under Regulation 7 of the 2007 Regulations, dis-applying deemed consent under Regulation 
6 to the advertisement in question  
 If the application is for alternative proposals for the same site by the same applicant, in 
order to benefit from the permitted development right in Schedule 2 Part 3 Class V of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) 
 
Continued on next page… 

128



9 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.7 

Concessions continued… 
Please note: Not all concessions are valid for all application types. Upon receipt of your 
application, the local authority will check the fee is correct and if the concession is applicable. 
Exemptions from payment continued… 
If the application relates to a condition or conditions on an application for Listed Building 
Consent or planning permission for relevant demolition in a Conservation Area 
If the application is for a Certificate of Lawfulness of Proposed Works to a listed building 
If an application for planning permission (for which a fee is payable) being made by the same 
applicant on the same date for the same site, buildings or land as the prior approval 
application (for larger home extensions or change of uses) 
Reductions to payments 
If the application is being made on behalf of a non-profit making sports club for works for 
playing fields not involving buildings then the fee is £462 
If the application is being made on behalf of a parish or community council then the fee is 
50% 
If the application is an alternative proposal being submitted on the same site by the same 
applicant on the same day, where this application is of lesser cost then the fee is 50% 
In respect of reserved matters you must pay a sum equal to or greater than what would be 
payable at current rates for approval of all the reserved matters.  If this amount has already 
been paid then the fee is £462 
If the application is for a Lawful Development Certificate for a Proposed use or development, 
then the fee is 50% 
If two or more applications are submitted for different proposals on the same day and 
relating to the same site then you must pay the fee for the highest fee plus half sum of the 
others 
 
Fees for cross boundary applications 
Where an application crosses one or more local or district planning authorities, the Planning 
Portal fee calculator will only calculate a cross boundary application fee as 150% of the fee 
that would have been payable if there had only been one application to a single authority 
covering the entire site.  
 
If the fee for this divided site is smaller when the sum of the fees payable for each part of the 
site are calculated separately, you will need to contact the lead local authority to discuss the 
fee for this divided site. 
 
The fee should go to the authority that contains the larger part of the application site. 
 
ENDS 

129



Appendix E

Name of reserve

Balance at 

31.11.21 Unallocated Purpose

Capital Replacement (776,272) 0 Funds for major repairs and replacement of the Councils assets

Community Projects (394,145) (244,145) To provide funds for community projects 

Growth & Investment (2,959,487) (1,979,742) To fund investment to generate an ongoing income or ongoing savings

Insurance (69,845) (99,845) To self insure for items not covered by the Council's insurance

Inclusive Growth (4,457,493) (931,707) To deliver benefits to the communities of Breckland 

Organisational Development (1,932,661) (1,080,593) To provide funding for one off corporate projects or invest to save initiatives

Revenue & Benefits (4,366,328) (1,803,826)

To cover against a breach of housing benefit local authority error threshold.  To smooth the effects of 

NNDR levy payments and surpluses and to protect against large value business rate losses

Revenue Grants (2,282,932) 0 To hold specific grants which cross over more than one financial year

Revenue Match Funding (32,878) 0 To provide funds for community projects 

Waste & Recyling (99,000) 0 To smooth the effects of variations in waste and recycling prices

Earmarked reserves (17,371,040) (6,139,857)

General Fund (2,849,652) (2,500,000)

To offer a prudent level of contingency against unexpected events - minimum balance of £2.5m

Total reserves (20,220,692) (8,639,857)

130



Appendix F 

Sensitivity Analysis 
We have calculated a sensitivity analysis of our key variables in order to quantify the 
potential financial impact on the budget.  These sensitivities are shown below. 
 
Business Rates Retention sensitivity 
This area carries a high level of risk for the Council as the retained business rates scheme is 
based on a cash amount and therefore reduced cash receivable will impact the Council and 
this risk increases with the reset and changes to the retention scheme in future. 
 
A ‘Safety Net’ is in place to protect local authorities from large decreases in Business Rates 
income (i.e. from appeals, businesses moving, etc.), for Breckland the maximum income lost 
for 2023-24 would be around £1,834k (or a 12% reduction in overall business rates).  There 
is currently funding held in the revenues and benefits reserve allocated to protect the Council 
in any one year from a significant loss in business rates income. 
 
The assumed Business Rates collection rate is 99% which has historically been achieved, 
any reduction in collection rate will reduce the income retained by the Council. 
 
Return on cash investments sensitivity 
Another factor outside of the Council’s control is interest rates, investment income will be 
closely monitored and our return on investments will not be at the expense of security and 
liquidity. 
 

Avg rate 
of return Average cash balances 

  13,800,000 18,800,000 23,800,000 28,800,000 33,800,000 

  Annual investment income 

2.00% 276,000 376,000 476,000 576,000 676,000 

3.00% 414,000 564,000 714,000 864,000 1,014,000 

4.00% 552,000 752,000 952,000 1,152,000 1,352,000 

5.00% 690,000 940,000 1,190,000 1,440,000 1,690,000 

6.00% 828,000 1,128,000 1,428,000 1,728,000 2,028,000 

 
Contract Inflation Sensitivity 
Many of the Council’s major contracts are in some way linked to differing inflation rates.  The 
table below shows the financial impact of percentage increases/decreases above the 
inflation rates budgeted for in 2023-24 for the Council’s major value contracts. 
 

  
% inflation increase/decrease compared to budgeted 

figure 

Contract Area +/- 0.5% +/- 1.0% +/- 1.5% +/- 2.0% 

Waste Collection 24,038 48,076 72,114 96,151 

Leisure PFI 12,764 25,528 38,293 51,057 

Planning & Building Control 13,010 26,021 39,031 52,042 

TOTAL 49,813 99,625 149,438 199,250 

 
Any increase would have a compounding financial effect on future years contract costs. 
 
Commercial Property Rental Income Sensitivity 
The budget includes £2,926k of rental income from property.  This area of income is subject 
to change from market conditions and therefore a ‘buffer fund’ has been created which can 
be used to protect the council in the short term in the event of large voids or timing between 
disposal and acquisition of properties. 
 

131



Each 1% change in rental income equates to a £29k change in the overall budget. 
 
Additional Capital Expenditure Sensitivity 
Additional capital expenditure above that budgeted for creates an additional revenue cost as 
a result of lost interest on the funds which would previously have been invested.  The table 
below shows the effect of additional capital spend on the revenue budget. 
 

Capital 
Spend 

Amount 

Additional Cost to Revenue Budget 

2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 

£250,000 £11,125 £7,500 £6,250 

£500,000 £22,250 £15,000 £12,500 

£1,000,000 £44,500 £30,000 £25,000 

 
If borrowing was required to fund a capital programme this would also have an impact on the 
revenue budget.   
Borrowing of £1m over 10 years would have the following revenue cost per year: 
 

  Year 1 
Cumulative 

10 year 

Interest (based on PWLB rate of 4.05%) 40,500 235,980 

Provision for repayment of principal 83,098     1,000,000  

Total Revenue Cost 123,598 1,235,980 

 
 
 

132



 
PART 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
Breckland Council renews its Capital Strategy on an annual basis. This ensures a 
strategy that maintains a strong and current link to our Corporate Plan.  
 
Our Corporate Plan priorities for the future are grouped around four key themes: 

 Working Smarter 

 Inspiring Communities 

 Thriving Places 

 Breckland 2035 

 
This Strategy aims to drive the authority’s capital investment ambition whilst ensuring 
capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management are appropriately 
aligned and managed to support sustainable, long term delivery of services.  
 
To conform with the updated Prudential Code for Capital Finance published by 
CIPFA at the end of 2021, this strategy now covers a ten-year period, on a rolling 
basis. Asset lives and the length of borrowing to fund their creation can be upwards 
of ten years and a longer-term strategy therefore enables a more complete 
assessment of the financial impact of capital decisions. 

 
It includes the Council’s approach to its policies and investment management 
practices for financial and non-financial investments.   
 
The management and monitoring of the Treasury Management Policies and 
Prudential indicators (for financial and non-financial investments) remains the 
responsibility of Full Council (via the Governance and Audit Committee).   
 
 
The Strategy is set out as follows: 
 
1.0 Introduction 
2.0  Core strategy principles 
3.0 Strategic context 
4.0 Non-financial investments 
5.0 Capital resources and financing 
6.0 Framework for management and monitoring 
7.0 Risk and mitigation 

  

Capital Strategy  

2023/24 – 2032/33 

133



 
PART 2 

 
2.0 CORE STRATEGY 

This Core strategy explains how we will manage our capital resources to deliver our 
current and foreseeable capital programme. From 2023/24 to 2032/33 the Council will 
need to invest to advance the priorities stated within its corporate plan and will adopt 
a responsive and flexible approach to how it invests in services.  In order to deliver the 
corporate plan priorities, we need to deliver efficiencies, seek additional funding and 
periodically review both the consumption of our capital resources and our stated 
priorities. We will ensure this happens through these 6 core principles:  
 

Principle 1 – Managing the impact of investment decisions on our revenue budgets 

We will do this by, 

 Ensuring capital investment decisions do not place additional pressure on 
Council Tax or our Medium Term Financial Plan 

 Promoting capital investment which allows either invest to save outcomes 
or generates revenue/capital income to support the objectives of the Council 

 Setting a rolling 10 year capital programme annually and identify future 
risks/unfunded items to support longer term decision making/prioritisation 

Principle 2 - Ensure decisions to invest are transparent and demonstrate the extent 
to which the capital invested is placed at risk including the impact of any potential 
losses on the financial sustainability of the Council is understood 

We will do this by, 

 Maintaining a schedule of financial and non-financial investments  

 Using Performance Indicators to ensure the proportionality of investments 
so that the Council does not undertake a level of investing which exposes 
the authority to an excessive level of risk compared to its financial resources 

 Using Treasury Management Practices (TMP’s) which specifically deal with 
how non treasury investments will be carried out and managed 

 Ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all non-financial 
investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority 

Principle 3 – Optimise the availability of capital funding where that funding supports 
the priorities of Breckland Council 

We will do this by, 

 Disposal of surplus or poor performing assets and reinvesting the proceeds 

 Having effective working relationships with potential funders 

 Listening to and supporting effective partnering arrangements 

 Accessing external funding wherever possible 

Principle 4 – Ensure we have an effective approval process and pre/post project 
appraisal 

We will do this by, 

 Ensuring a system of competition exists for project approval – bid forms 

 Due diligence in project appraisal, fully considering project risk 

 Robust financial evaluation, carefully considering Value For Money (VFM) 
and Efficiency of every project and outcomes 

 Ensuring our capital schemes use appropriate project management tools 
appropriate to the project’s size 

Principle 5 – Ensure that our capital investments are as sustainable as possible  

We will do this by, 

 Assessing the environmental impacts of each capital bid 

 Establish appropriate measures to mitigate environmental impacts 

 Taking expert advice on environmental impacts as appropriate 

Principle 6 – Ensure effective performance reporting and management of capital 
programme 

We will do this by, 

 Reporting on the capital programme via monthly monitoring and quarterly 
Cabinet reporting 

 Ensuring responsibility for the delivery of the capital programme is clearly 
defined and the relevant parties have adequate expertise  134



 
 

 
PART 3 

 

3.0 STRATEGIC CONTEXT 
 
3.1 Aims of the Capital strategy 

 
The aim of this strategy is to ensure delivery of the Corporate Plan Priorities and ensure 
support for the delivery of the Council’s core functions.   
 
Specific aims are to ensure: 

 Physical assets and related resources are efficiently and effectively used to 
support the Breckland Council Corporate Plan.  

 Issues related to property and other assets are fully reflected in the Council’s 
planning, specifically adequate funds for maintenance are available 

 The strategy itself is a useful tool to assist stakeholders’ understanding of the 
Council’s decision-making process and project management of its capital 
investments; 

 Adequate provision is made for delivering corporate priorities and 
demonstrated through effective resource allocation; 

 Invest to save and invest to earn projects and projects which generate an 
ongoing revenue return or economic benefits are encouraged; 

 The Council works within the prudential code framework and demonstrates 
robust and linked capital and treasury management;  

 Review of the asset management plans to identify surplus or poor performing 
assets which can move through a disposal process to generate new capital 
resources; 

 Capital spending plans are affordable and integrated with the Medium-Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP); 

 Inward investment into the district is encouraged and innovative approaches 
to investment such as partnerships with the Private Sector, collaborative 
arrangements with other Local Authorities and creation of new delivery 
vehicles: 

 Resources are managed to meet our short, medium and longer term 
Corporate priorities. 

3.2 Strategic Links 
 
This strategy is a high-level summary of Breckland Council’s approach to capital 
investment. It guides the development of service capital plans and sets out the policies 
and practices that the authority uses to establish monitor and manage the Council’s 
capital programme, in line with the MTFP.  
 
The priorities in the corporate plan provide the backdrop to the MTFP which in turn 
ensures all new resources, be it revenue or capital, are allocated through the principles 
on which it is based. 

 
This strategy is linked to a number of corporate strategies and initiatives, underpinned 
by the Breckland Council Corporate Plan. The key strategies and initiatives impacting 
on capital are:  
 

 Corporate Asset Management Strategy (part 4 of this strategy) 

 Risk Management Policy (part 7 of this strategy) 

 Treasury Management and Investment Strategy 

 Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 

 ICT Strategy 

 Digital Strategy 

 Housing Strategy 
 135



 
 
 
3.3       ICT Strategy 

 
The ICT Strategy is used to manage the assets which are the communications and 
computer systems and infrastructure.  Funding is allocated for this in the capital 
programme and over the longer term the ICT service provides some revenue funding 
(through savings) to cover future capital investment.  ICT is a critical service, able to 
transform the way other services are designed and delivered and plays a fundamental 
role in agile working, improving efficiency and reducing cost across the Council.   

 
3.4       Digital Strategy 

 
The strategy’s vision is to provide high quality, easy-to-use services that are designed 
with customers in mind, delivered efficiently with improved value for money.  
The strategy’s aims are to give staff and elected Members the right digital tools and 
training to work ‘smarter’, minimise internal costs of services and generate revenue 
by making it easier and more convenient to pay online and use digital marketing to 
promote our traded services.  ICT is the foundation for delivery of the digital strategy 
and funding will be allocated in the capital programme as appropriate. 
 

3.5 Housing 
 
This capital strategy can support the housing needs of the Council, stimulating good 
quality new build housing and enabling delivery of affordable housing and temporary 
accommodation.  The Housing Assistance Policy provides access to grants for 
vulnerable residents funded by Disabled Facilities Grants from the Better Care Fund.  
Section 106 affordable Housing Contributions will also be applied to support the 
council’s housing ambitions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

136



 
 
 

PART 4 
 
4.0 NON-FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 
 
4.1 Corporate Asset Management Strategy 
 
4.2 The Corporate Asset Management Strategy is a high-level summary of the Council’s 

overall approach to the strategic management of its land and building assets.  It is 
linked to the vision and priorities of the Council to provide a policy direction for the 
effective and efficient use of the Council’s assets for the benefit of its residents.  
 

4.3 The management of Investment assets and Operational assets (other than Leisure 
and Housing) sit within the Commercialisation portfolio. For the investment asset 
portfolio, an assessment of the level of maintenance required for the properties has 
been made and this assessment will feature in both capital and revenue budgets, as it 
is important that the quality of the stock is maintained in order to sustain performance. 
The income generated by the Commercial Property Account supports other spending 
in the district and helps to keep the council tax low.   
 

4.4 The Authority continually seeks to identify assets that are surplus and to undertake 
disposals accordingly. This not only generates a capital receipt, but also reduces 
maintenance costs and liabilities. As a principle we will review and dispose of 
underutilised or poorly performing assets and ensure that the top performing assets 
are adequately maintained. Assets that fail to meet the required yield will be marketed 
for disposal, so that the capital receipt can be re-invested into other assets that give a 
stronger return and generate more revenue income. 
 

4.5 Breckland Bridge Ltd undertakes development of the Council’s land and property 
assets to improve housing, accelerate regeneration and generate an enhanced return 
on surplus cash.  For each project, subject to agreement, the Council will provide a 
shareholder loan which will earn interest at market rates, supporting the Council’s 
revenue budget.  The Council may also provide a land purchase loan and an additional 
construction loan, subject to agreement.  
 

4.6 The table below provides the gross book values of the Council’s Assets including those 
assets which are held primarily for financial return (non-financial investments). 
 
Table 1 – Breckland Council’s Fixed Assets  

Asset Type Valuation  

 £’000s 
2022 

£’000s 
2021 

Community      243      232 

Heritage       337       310 

Infrastructure    1,377    1,377 

Investment  34,099  31,701 

Intangible 790 790 

Property Plant & Equipment  44,740  39,939 

Assets Held for Sale 18 788 

Finance leases 10,027 10,104 

Total  91,631          85,241         

 
This table sets out the gross value of assets by category as at 31st March for the last 
2 years. The value of the finance leases is the outstanding sum as at 31st March. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

137



 
 
 

4.7 The Council will pay due consideration to the fact that making Commercial Investments 
would mean it could not access borrowing for capital expenditure under the revised 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance. If seeking to make Commercial Investments, the 
Council will ensure the same robust procedures for the consideration of risk and return 
are applied as for Treasury Investments. 

 
4.8 In respect of security of investment, the Council will use its “scoring matrix and 

checklist for investment” as an indicator of whether to pursue a commercial investment 
and then undertake further due diligence if appropriate.  Whilst yield is a determining 
factor, due consideration will be given to the risks relating to: 

1. failure to create income/exposure to market changes 
2. covenant strength/possibility of arrears 
3. ongoing management/maintenance of the asset 
4. lease arrangements  
5. exposure in one sector 
6. exposure to one/few tenants 
7. exposure to one locality 

 
On an ongoing basis, following purchase of an asset, risks will be monitored.  Risks 1-
4 above are operational risks currently reported on through the Council’s performance 
reporting system. (as detailed at 4.11).  Risks 5 -7 are reported on the Council’s 
performance system as operational risks.  If risks are red for two quarters, they will get 
flagged and potentially be raised as strategic risks. 
 
The risks are defined and measured as follows: 
 
Exposure in one sector – market information will be monitored and an assessment 
made as to whether that impacts at a local level.  Information will include local and 
national sector forecasts, investment activity and yields from professional 
journals/agents. 
 
Exposure to one/few tenants – 10% of the Councils rental income equates to 
approximately £300k.  If one tenant equates to 10% or more of the rental income 
stream, then we will review the investment decision and existing tenants will be kept 
under review in respect of this threshold. 
 
Exposure to locality – The Council’s Commercial investment strategy focuses 
investment in the Breckland District but market information will be monitored and an 
assessment made as to whether that impacts at a local level. Information will include 
local and national sector forecasts, investment activity and yields from professional 
journals/agents. 
 
Liquidity of investments is considered at 4.10 below as part of the wider issue of 
proportionality. 
 

The Performance Indicators (PIs) are monitored by the Projects and Performance 
Board. Key Performance Indicators are reported to Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission on a quarterly basis where Members are provided with more context to 
support the improvement of performance.  
 

4.9 All bids for funding including non-financial investments will be appraised in line with 
the project evaluation criteria set out in section 6 and significant projects will adopt the 
Council’s risk management framework and use the risk scoring matrix to assess risk. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

138



 
 
 
4.10 In respect of commercial investments, indicators are included in the Treasury 

Management strategy to monitor the extent to which the Council relies on commercial 
and service investments and income generating activity to achieve a balanced budget 
(proportionality indicator).  Proportionality in this sense describes the size and risk of 
commercial activities with regards to the Council’s operating and reserves activities.  
Should the Council undertake any borrowing, its maximum exposure to borrowing 
costs (i.e. interest costs) will not exceed £500,000 per year for all areas (excluding the 
existing PFI scheme).   

  
4.11 The Council recognises the importance of managing the performance of its assets and 

the Corporate Asset Management Strategy features performance targets which are 
reported on the Council’s performance management system  

 
 

Performance Indicators Description Frequency 

BSCPIND001 Commercial Property Occupancy 98% Monthly 

BSCPIND002 Breckland Business Centre 
(Dereham) Occupancy 94% Monthly  

BSCPIND003 Breckland Business Centre 
(Thetford) Occupancy 84% Monthly  

BSCPIND004 Commercial Property Maintenance 
Backlog Reduce liability Quarterly 

BSCPIND005 Commercial Property Condition 
Surveys 

No condition survey over 5 years 
old Quarterly 

BSCPIND006 Condition of Commercial Property 
Assets 

80% of investment assets at 
grade C or above Quarterly 

BSCPIND007 Commercial Property Rent Arrears less than 3% at 90+ days Monthly 

BSCPIND008 Breckland Business Centre 
(Dereham) Rental Income Gross income Monthly 

BSCPIND009 Breckland Business Centre 
(Thetford) Rental Income Gross income Monthly 

BSCPIND010 Commercial Property Average Yield 
Net yield across the investment 
assets Half yearly 

BSCPIND011 Commercial Property Gross Rental 
Income Gross income Monthly 

BSCPIND013 Property Gross Capital Income 
Gross income from asset 
disposals Yearly 

 
 
  

139



 
 

 
PART 5 

 
 
5.0 CAPITAL RESOURCES AND FINANCING 

 
5.1 Capital Resources  

 
The Local Government Act 2003, which includes the legislation for the capital finance 
system, does not specify what precisely constitutes capital expenditure. Instead it: 

 Refers to “expenditure of the authority which falls to be capitalised in 
accordance with proper practices”. 

 Enables the Secretary of State to prescribe by regulation which local authority 
expenditure shall be treated as capital expenditure and which shall not be 
treated as capital expenditure (SI 3146 as amended). 

 Enables the Secretary of State to prescribe by regulation that the spending of 
a particular local authority shall, or shall not, be treated as capital expenditure. 

 
The Council will set a de-minimis limit of £20,000 for expenditure to be considered for 
capitalisation providing it meets the criteria for capitalisation as per the capital 
regulations (SI 3146) and the CIPFA Accounting Code. 

 
Regulations state that expenditure on repair and maintenance which does not increase 
the life, value or extent of use of an asset is not deemed as capital expenditure.  The 
de-minimis is not applicable to capital grants which may be of any value and are made 
as a contribution to a larger capital scheme.  The Council sometimes receives 
directives that grant contributions are to be applied as Capital expenditure.  Should 
such directives be received, the Council will treat the grant as capital expenditure if the 
spend is deemed to meet grant conditions.  From time to time the Council needs to 
buy vehicles and equipment and a de-minimis of £10,000 is applicable to vehicles and 
equipment. 
 
Appendix, Table 1 sets out the position of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), 
adjusted for expected capital programme spend and forecast sources of funding as at 
December 2022.   
 

There is an underlying need to borrow from 2022 as shown in Appendix A Table 1 and 
internal borrowing will be utilised.  Whilst the CFR is positive in the interim, borrowing 
will be repaid through Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) on waste contract 
expenditure resulting in a forecast negative CFR position around 2027. Further 
borrowing will only take place after full consideration of the need for and the 
implications of such borrowing.  Table 1 represents the Council’s spending ambitions, 
but release of funding is subject to approval of the capital programme.  The scope for 
additional new investment is limited in the short term unless additional capital receipts 
or funding are generated, or external borrowing takes place.   
 
The Council will support the principle of lending on to Breckland Bridge or a separate 
entity which will create a funding need by the Council to ensure funding for projects is 
delivered in the most cost-effective way and will consider any requests on an individual 
basis.  Appendix A Table 1 includes capital loans to Breckland Bridge and repayment 
of those loans within the 10-year capital programme. Appendix A Table 2 shows the 
CFR position excluding these loans and this indicates that the CFR will be negative in 
2023/24 and for all but one year subsequently. As it is fully anticipated that these 
capital loans will be repaid, it is therefore not considered necessary to set aside further 
MRP beyond that already set aside for the waste contract. Should monitoring indicate 
that the loans will not be repaid as expected, then this approach will be reviewed. 
 
The CFR will be monitored closely to ensure future capital expenditure remains 
affordable, prudent and sustainable. The opening and closing balances include 
adjustments for PFI and Finance Leases which effectively reduce the available capital 
resources until such time as principal payments are received.  Any future decision on 140



borrowing for capital projects would only be supported if the business case for the 
projects does not place additional cost pressure on the taxpayer through the council 
tax charge.  The council would not undertake any un-supported borrowing whilst it still 
has reasonable capital receipt resources available.  However, regulations require the 
Council to approve its ‘Prudential Indicators’ at least annually. 
 

5.2 Capital Receipts 
 
The forward availability of capital receipts is an important part in both the timing and 
scope of the capital programme.  The Council is looking to manage its assets in such 
a way as to obtain best value and is looking at innovative ways of creating income 
such as Breckland Bridge Ltd where the Council is working with the private sector to 
manage and deliver increased investment and receipts.  Surplus assets are reviewed 
for potential disposal as part of the Council’s Corporate Asset Management Strategy 
(see section 4) with re-investment in better performing assets. 
   

5.3 Section 106 – Planning obligations  
 
When the Council adopts land for open space or play area the developer pays a 
commuted sum under a ‘section 106 agreement’. This is held on the balance sheet 
and the principle is that the interest earned offsets the future maintenance costs of the 
recreation asset. The Council also seeks to secure the provision of infrastructure and 
facilities to mitigate the effects of development through section 106 agreements. 
 

5.4 External Grants and Contributions  
 
The partnership approach to service delivery is a core belief of the Council. Through 
its services, partnership working, supportive funding and innovation, the Council will 
seek to attract investment into the District. We seek to maximise external funding to 
support our programme. This tends to be for specific purposes.  Working with public 
and private sector partners we are able to make better use of Council money.   Central 
government funding is likely to be constrained as capital for existing and new 
programmes continues to be reduced or other areas are prioritised for “Levelling Up”. 
 

5.5 Revenue contributions 
 
The Council’s budget and MTFP sets out the approach to the allocation of reserve 
balances and this Council’s approach to managing its surplus cash. The budget makes 
provision for annual revenue contributions in support of some capital expenditure.  
Where applicable specific contributions are identified from reserves or revenue 
contributions from specific services (such as ICT).   

  
5.6 Balances and Reserves  

 
Breckland council continues to hold a level of specific reserves. This reflects the robust 
financial management and policy decisions made in recent years and enables internal  
borrowing and cash flow to be managed.  However, reserves are mostly earmarked 
for specific projects, limiting funding for new initiatives.    

141



 
 
 

PART 6 
 

6.0 Framework for managing and monitoring performance 

Following approval of a capital project (as set out in section 2), there are several 
functions associated with the management of the approved Capital Programme:- 

 Allocation of capital funding 

 Monitoring and reporting of delivery of the capital programme 
 
Allocation of Capital Funding involves these functions: 

 The assessment of the available funding resources 

 Assessment of proposed schemes and business cases 

 Prioritisation of schemes 

 Recommendations of approval of schemes within the programme 

 Approval of change control to Capital schemes where this changes funding 
requirements 

 
These functions will be undertaken by the Corporate Management Team, Cabinet 
and Council.  In summary the capital budget is agreed annually along with any 
revenue implications, which are factored into revenue planning. The budget is set in 
accordance with the timetable laid out in the Medium-Term Financial Plan.  The 
programme is approved by Council in February to allow schemes to commence 
during the following year.   A Bidding Form is used for all capital projects to enable 
funding to be allocated to projects.   

 
Release of funding will not require further approval unless the Constitution requires it.  
Project Officers are expected to accurately report progress on their allocated capital 
funding and spend via the monthly Capital Financial Performance Report (FPR) which 
will be reviewed by the relevant governance boards.  The FPR should detail any issues 
arising that may affect delivery of the project as anticipated when funding was 
allocated.  
 
Monitoring and reporting of progress of the delivery of Capital Programme involves 
these tasks: 

 Regular review of project progress and forecasting including achievement 
of key milestones, outputs and outcomes with post project reviews taking 
place depending on the scale of the project.   

 Management of risks and issues 

 Removal of barriers to delivery 

 Approval of any changes to schemes not requiring funding changes 

 Reporting on required funding changes 

 Post implementation review taking account of any corporate learning 
opportunities 

 
These tasks will be monitored and reported monthly in the Capital Financial 
Performance Report. 
 
Budgets for individual schemes are assigned to lead officers who are responsible for 
delivering the project on time and to budget. The lead officers are responsible for 
managing capital projects, including capital bid forms, risk assessment, checking 
parameters, PID’s, procurement, contract management, and post implementation 
reviews.  
 
Progressing schemes in accordance with agreed timescales is an important aspect to 
managing the capital programme.  Costs incurred compared to budget are monitored 
on a monthly basis in line with revenue budgetary control. 
 
 
 

142



 
 
Financial progress against the capital programme is reported to Cabinet on a quarterly 
basis as a minimum and more often as required.  This allows a continuous cycle of 
monitoring and forecasting. The bidding round will be conducted annually so that every 
year the ten-year programme is reviewed and refined and reflects the latest corporate 
priorities.  
 
Project Evaluation 
 
All capital projects need to be appraised according to existing project management 
guidance to inform the decision-making process.  Options appraisals are also required 
to ensure value for money in achieving the project objectives and realising benefits.  
Matters to be considered within the capital bidding process are: 
 

 Council Objective/Priority 

 Whole life cost of the proposal including the revenue effects * 

 Affordability and source of funding 

 Partnership involvement 

 Options appraisal 

 Risks 

 Improvements in service delivery 

 Customer facing outcomes 

 Environmental impacts and mitigations 

 Other benefits and success criteria 

 Efficiencies and ongoing returns/capital receipts 

 In principle support from the Director and Portfolio Holder 

 Exit strategy 

 Timescales 
 

*Whole Life Costing (WLC) is defined in ISO Standard 15686-5. WLC shifts the emphasis of capital appraisal 
from comparing alternative construction/acquisition costs to a Value for Money approach by reviewing 
comparative costs over the life of the scheme. WLC will not always be appropriate for all prescribed aspects of 
the Council’s capital programme. 

 

Project evaluation should include the following activities: 

 Feasibility 

 Appraisal (to include report, financial appraisal, risk appraisal) 

 Budget 

 Monitoring and review 

 Outturn 
 
This will ensure that any capital scheme that feeds into the programme will comply with 
the principles of the Prudential Code: 

 Affordability  

 Sustainability 

 Prudence 
 
The Scoring Matrix and checklist for investment also takes account of CIPFA’s 
Prudential Property Investment Guidance 2019  
 
 

  

143



 
 
 

PART 7 
 
7.0       RISK 
 

The Council is faced with diminishing capital finance and reduced grants which means 
the Council will need to monitor spend against available funds carefully to ensure that 
it does not spend or commit in advance of receiving funding.  The Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) will need to be monitored carefully.  Risk is therefore addressed 
throughout this strategy by setting out clearly how projects will be appraised, approved, 
monitored and reported on.  The strategy is closely aligned to the Medium Term 
Financial Plan and the Treasury Management Strategy which contains key 
performance indicators.  
 
Significant capital projects will be managed through the council’s performance system 
if appropriate.  All risks that may affect a project are considered. These can include 
political, economic, legal, technological, environmental and reputational as well as 
financial.  Large projects will use appropriate project management tools in accordance 
with the size of the project. 
 
Emerging legislation such as the Environment Act 2021, which deals with food waste 
(and other areas of waste services) may add further pressure to available finance and 
this will be reviewed to ensure any further cost pressures are identified   
 
Disinvestment initiatives will be followed through to ensure they perform as expected 
and as the Council diversifies its capital investment into areas such as loans to 
Breckland Bridge Ltd, exposure to non-repayment will be carefully managed through 
the contract management arrangements in place.    
 
A specific risk as a VAT registered body is the recovery of exempt VAT only up to a 
value of 5% of all the VAT it incurs.  This is known as the de-minimis limit.  Monitoring 
and control of exempt input tax is essential for the council as where exempt input tax 
exceeds the 5% limit the whole amount is irrecoverable and will represent an additional 
cost to the council.  Each capital investment will be closely reviewed to assess its VAT 
implications. 
 

7.1      Sustainability 
 
Breckland Council declared a climate emergency in September 2019 and 
subsequently agreed its Breckland 2035 Sustainability Strategy in February 2021. The 
strategy has three key pillars which are: - 
 

 Reducing our own impact as an organisation on the environment;  

 Using our regulatory powers and resources to influence behavioural change 
and drive positive changes around the environment;  

 Enabling our communities to take action for themselves. 
 

The council has declared its commitment to be net zero as an organisation by 2035. 
All capital projects are now required to assess their environmental impacts and to 
identify suitable mitigation measures to address those impacts. 
 
The council wants to be explicit in its intent to affect positive behavioural change and 
lead by example. Therefore, unless there is no other practical option the Council will 
not use carbon offsetting activities to reduce its carbon footprint. On the very limited 
occasion that it does this, it will be a temporary measure to enable the council to 
have time or to secure resources to address the fundamental issues affecting 
emissions. 
 
 
 
 144



7.2 Procurement 
 
The purchase of capital assets should be conducted in accordance with the 
Procurement Strategy, ensuring value for money, legality and sustainability at all times.  
Contract standing orders and rules governing the disposal or write-off of assets are 
contained in the Constitution which is continuously reviewed.  
Where capital spend involves a specific procurement process which differs from the 
standard process, we will adopt the principle that by approving the capital project we 
are also approving the specific procurement process. 
 

7.4 Value for Money 
 
The Council recognises that effective procurement lies at the heart of delivering value 
for money and is essential if the Council is to obtain real improvements to quality and 
service costs.  The Council seeks to achieve value for money by applying rigorous 
procurement standards in the selection of suppliers and contractors, to ensure 
efficiency, economy and effectiveness are received throughout the life of a contract. 
The significant resources applied to capital expenditure require the adopted principles 
of value for money to be at the heart of our capital strategy. Specifically, we look to 
include robust outcome indicators as part of post project reviews.  
 

7.5 Disposals  
 
Any proceeds from the disposal of assets, such as land in excess of £10,000 are 
determined to be a ‘capital receipt’. The policy to sell small pockets of land often brings 
in income of less than £10,000. This income is classed as ‘revenue income’ and is 
posted to the revenue income and expenditure account.   

 
 
 

Author Matthew Fernandez-Graham 

Review Date December 2022 

Next Review October 2023 

Document Version V1 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

145



Appendix A Summary of Estimated Capital Resources*   
 
Table 1 
 

Capital Financing 
requirement 

20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 27/28 28/29 29/30 30/31 31/32 32/33 
 

  £000's £000's 
£000'

s 
£000's £000's 

£000'
s 

£000'
s 

£000's £000's 
£000'

s 
£000's £000's £000's  

                             

Capital resources available 
@ beginning of year 

(2,315) (223) 202 6,607 3,984 965 616 1,048 (4,249) 1,993 2,309 (3,652) (4,971)  

Movement (Spend less 
funding & receipts) 

2,092 425 6,405 (2,623) (3,019) (349) 433 (5,297) 6,242 316 (5,962) (1,319) (1,331)  

                             

CFR (223) 202 6,607 3,984 965 616 1,048 (4,249) 1,993 2,309 (3,652) (4,971) (6,303)  

 
Table 2 
 

Capital Financing requirement 
excluding Capital Loans 

20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 27/28 28/29 29/30 30/31 31/32 32/33 
 

  £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's  

                             

Capital resources available @ 
beginning of year 

(2,315) 25 605 3,398 (209) 493 (2,479) (3,145) (5,100) (764) (1,884) (3,115) (4,434)  

Movement (Spend less funding 
& receipts) Excluding Capital 
Loans 

2,340 580 2,793 (3,607) 702 (2,972) (665) (1,955) 4,336 (1,120) (1,232) (1,319) (1,331)  

                             

CFR excluding Capital Loans 
to Breckland Bridge (Out and 
In) 

25 605 3,398 (209) 493 (2,479) (3,145) (5,100) (764) (1,884) (3,115) (4,434) (5,766)  

 

* based on assumed levels of activity at December 2022.  Positive CFR indicates a borrowing requirement, Negative CFR indicates a “surplus” 

146



PROJECT

2023/24 

BUDGET 

Including Carry 

Forward

2024/25 

BUDGET

2025/26 

BUDGET

2026/27 

BUDGET

2027/28 

BUDGET

2028/29 

BUDGET

2029/30 

BUDGET

2030/31 

BUDGET

2031/32 

BUDGET

2032/33 

BUDGET

TOTAL OVER 

10 YEARS 

23/24 to 32/33

Notes

Economy and Growth
Planning and building control system 35,245 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 35,245 Final staged payments will only be triggered when system goes live on 1.4.23 so need to carry forward

35,245 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 35,245

Property and Infrastructure
Public lighting 89,415 87,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 176,915 Almost 1700 street lamps have been replaced with LED lighting. This funding would enable the remaining 600 to 

be replaced by the end of 2024/25.

Asset purchase - Reinvestment 160,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 160,000 Reinvestment of sale proceeds from commercial property sale

Commercial Property Rolling 

Maintenance - Future Years

0 0 165,175 165,175 165,175 165,175 0 0 0 0 660,700 Condition surveys carried out so far identified £783k in maintenance backlogs, of which £660k can be capitalised. 

Maintenance requirements for 2023/24 and 2024/25 are included in the revenue budget. There are 93 properties 

which require a new condition survey (delayed due to Covid access restrictions) and these will identify further 

works, which have not yet been quantified.

Swaffham New Build 875,785 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 875,785 Construction of new commercial units for economic development. Dependent on asset sale, which is not yet 

certain, so carry forward needed from 22/23.

Officer/Member refresh 75,000 76,500 78,030 119,591 81,182 82,806 84,462 129,351 87,874 89,633 904,429 Covers rolling programme of replacement of IT Equipment for Officers and Members, based on replacement every 

4 years

Core ICT Infrastructure 90,000 170,000 35,000 0 31,200 97,200 176,200 32,448 0 0 632,048 Includes Server Updates, Wifi and Network Infrastructure, UPS Refresh

Upgrade to Finance System 46,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 46,000 The present system, Integra, will no longer be supported from 2024. An upgrade to the supplier's successor 

product, Centros, represents better value for money than procuring an entirely new system.

1,336,200 334,000 278,205 284,766 277,557 345,181 260,662 161,799 87,874 89,633 3,455,877

Contracts and Operations
Waste Vehicles & Equipment 627,965 327,622 0 286,125 0 5,236,342 0 0 0 0 6,478,054 Covers additional garden waste vehicle and cost of buying 2 larger waste vehicles instead of smaller ones. 

Discussions with contractor ongoing. Plus carry forward for 5 vehicles not ordered in 22/23. Total of £5.85m for 

replacement vehicles from 24/25 to 28/29 per contract schedule.

Replacement Wheeled Bins 252,877 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 252,877 Covers the purchase of 9,650 wheeled bins with an estimated life of 10 years (price per bin is £26.20). The 

number of bins actually required is kept under regular review. A revenue budget has been factored into budgets 

for future replacements from 2024/25 onwards.

Leisure Strategy (Attleborough) 1,142,000 1,420,900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,562,900 Revised budget for future years per report to Council 6.10.22

Future Leisure Provision Swaffham 700,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 700,000 Project design dependent on successful bid to Levelling Up Fund.

2,722,842 1,748,522 0 286,125 0 5,236,342 0 0 0 0 9,993,831

Health and Housing
BCF - Mandatory Adaptation 

Assistance (DFG's/Re-Able)

965,448 956,306 946,488 941,985 937,392 932,707 927,928 923,054 918,082 913,011 9,362,401 This budget is set on the basis that £1,329,644 will be received in future years, in line with the amount allocated in 

2022/23. A national review of the funding allocation methodology is presently underway.

BCF - Discretionary Repairs 

Assistance (Safety & Security Grant)

100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 1,000,000 This is a discretionary grant and any funding not spent will be used for the mandatory DFGs. This budget has 

been increased to reflect need.

BCF - Discretionary Adaptation 

Assistance (Relocation/Additional 

Adaptation Assistance)

50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 500,000 This is a discretionary grant and any funding not spent will be used for the mandatory DFGs. This budget has 

been reduced to reflect demand.

BCF  - Staffing to support the schemes 206,196 215,338 225,156 229,659 234,252 238,937 243,716 248,590 253,562 258,633 2,354,039 The amount to be spent on staffing has been increased in line with the increased grant budget.

BCF - Dementia funding 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 80,000 This is a ringfenced grant for dementia adaptations

Air Quality Equipment 0 29,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 29,000 A bid was approved in the 2022/23 programme to replace the air quality monitoring station at East Wretham which 

is over 15 years old. The environmental health team are also investigating replacing the other station at 

Swaffham, which is also nearing the end of its useful life. A formal bid will be submitted as part of next year's 

capital budgeting, but an indicative figure is included based on the East Wretham bid. 

Empty Homes 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 2,500,000 Provision to purchase empty homes (as a last resort) if these cannot be brought back into use.  The houses would 

be resold and generate a capital receipt for further purchases if required, so the impact on the budget is nil overall

1,579,644 1,608,644 1,579,644 1,579,644 1,579,644 1,579,644 1,579,644 1,579,644 1,579,644 1,579,644 15,825,440

Grand Total Capital Programme 5,673,931 3,691,166 1,857,849 2,150,535 1,857,201 7,161,167 1,840,306 1,741,443 1,667,518 1,669,277 29,310,393

Capital Loans
LABV loans 984,002 0 3,341,865 1,098,135 0 3,294,175 1,435,825 0 0 0 10,154,002 Following approval of the Breckland Bridge Business Plan (Council October 2022), further loans are approved in 

principle, subject to projects reaching stage 2 approval. An indicative £5m total rolling loan amount is approved. 

Individual loans will be added to the capital programme upon approval. The forecast for 22/23 assumes that the 

loans for Colkirk Phase 1 are drawn down in Q4. The £290k loan for 2023/24 is for the purchase of land at 

Banham to enable delivery of 45 new homes. Loans of £365k and £329k for Litcham Phase 1 in 23/24. Further 

loans are phased in based on the delivery programme, but keeping total loans within the £5m limit.

Total Capital Loans 984,002 0 3,341,865 1,098,135 0 3,294,175 1,435,825 0 0 0 10,154,002

Grand Total 6,657,933 3,691,166 5,199,714 3,248,670 1,857,201 10,455,342 3,276,131 1,741,443 1,667,518 1,669,277 39,464,395

147



Forecast capital receipts
2023/24 

BUDGET

2024/25 

BUDGET

2025/26 

BUDGET

2026/27 

BUDGET

2027/28 

BUDGET

2028/29 

BUDGET

2029/30 

BUDGET

2030/31 

BUDGET

2031/32 

BUDGET

2032/33 

BUDGET

Total Budget 

2023/24 - 2032/33

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Litcham Land receipt (46,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (46,000) 

Shipdham Land receipt 0 0 (186,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (186,000) 

Breckland Bridge loan repayments 0 (3,720,998) (719,002) 0 (3,341,865) (1,388,135) 0 (4,730,000) 0 0 (13,900,000) 

Finance lease income (92,028) (95,930) (100,015) (104,294) (108,777) (113,473) (118,394) (123,551) (128,957) (134,624) (1,120,043) 

Asset Sale (5,520,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (5,520,000) 

Breckland Bridge Small Sites (166,667) (166,666) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (333,333) 

Empty Homes (250,000) (250,000) (250,000) (250,000) (250,000) (250,000) (250,000) (250,000) (250,000) (250,000) (2,500,000) 

Riversdale, Thetford 0 0 0 0 (1,000,000) 0 0 0 0 0 (1,000,000) 

Total (6,074,695) (4,233,594) (1,255,017) (354,294) (4,700,642) (1,751,608) (368,394) (5,103,551) (378,957) (384,624) (24,605,376) 

Funding
2023/24 

BUDGET

2024/25 

BUDGET

2025/26 

BUDGET

2026/27 

BUDGET

2027/28 

BUDGET

2028/29 

BUDGET

2029/30 

BUDGET

2030/31 

BUDGET

2031/32 

BUDGET

2032/33 

BUDGET

Total Budget 

2023/24 - 2032/33

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Revenue - ICT Strategy (76,000) (76,000) (76,000) (76,000) (76,000) (76,000) (76,000) (76,000) (76,000) (76,000) (760,000) 

Revenue - Public Lighting (38,781) (43,156) (47,531) (14,857) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (144,325) 

Revenue - Leisure Strategy Attleborough (650,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (650,000) 

Revenue - Commercial Property Maintenance 0 0 (165,175) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (165,175) 

Grant - Better Care Fund - DFG (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (13,296,440) 

Grant - Leisure - Attleborough Academy (89,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (89,000) 

S106 - Leisure 0 0 (1,640,680) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,640,680) 

MRP - Repay Waste Vehicles Purchase (625,000) (625,000) (625,000) (625,000) (625,000) (625,000) (748,000) (748,000) (748,000) (748,000) (6,742,000) 

MRP - 202223 Programme 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

External Loans 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total (2,808,425) (2,073,800) (3,884,030) (2,045,501) (2,030,644) (2,030,644) (2,153,644) (2,153,644) (2,153,644) (2,153,644) (23,487,620) 

Summary by Source

Funding
2023/24 

BUDGET

2024/25 

BUDGET

2025/26 

BUDGET

2026/27 

BUDGET

2027/28 

BUDGET

2028/29 

BUDGET

2029/30 

BUDGET

2030/31 

BUDGET

2031/32 

BUDGET

2032/33 

BUDGET

Total Budget 

2023/24 - 2032/33

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Capital Receipts (6,074,695) (4,233,594) (1,255,017) (354,294) (4,700,642) (1,751,608) (368,394) (5,103,551) (378,957) (384,624) (24,605,376) 

Revenue (764,781) (119,156) (288,706) (90,857) (76,000) (76,000) (76,000) (76,000) (76,000) (76,000) (1,719,500) 

MRP (625,000) (625,000) (625,000) (625,000) (625,000) (625,000) (748,000) (748,000) (748,000) (748,000) (6,742,000) 

Grant (1,418,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (1,329,644) (13,385,440) 

S106 0 0 (1,640,680) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,640,680) 

External Loans 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total (8,883,120) (6,307,394) (5,139,047) (2,399,795) (6,731,286) (3,782,252) (2,522,038) (7,257,195) (2,532,601) (2,538,268) (48,092,996) 

148



Document is Restricted

149

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	8 Local Plan: Full Update & Options
	Breckland District Local Plan Issues and Options  2022 Cabinet version final
	Breckland District Local Plan Issues and Options summary cabinet final

	9 Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2023-24
	Appendix 1 for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2023-24
	Appendix 2 for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2023-24
	Appendix 3 for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2023-24
	Appendix 4 for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2023-24
	Appendix 5 for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2023-24
	A Guide to the Fees for Planning Applications in England
	These fees apply from 17 January 2018 onwards (unless stated).
	This document is based upon ‘The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012’ (as amended)
	Continued on next page…
	Continued on next page…
	Continued on next page…
	Continued on next page…
	Continued on next page…
	ENDS

	Appendix 6 for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2023-24
	Appendix 7 for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2023-24
	Appendix 8 for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2023-24
	Appendix 9 for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2023-24

	12 Restricted Minute - 21 November 2022

